

# **Durham E-Theses**

# SEXUAL "SIN" AND THE TRANSFORMATION OF THE SELF

## HAWKIN, AMY

#### How to cite:

HAWKIN, AMY (2023) SEXUAL "SIN" AND THE TRANSFORMATION OF THE SELF, Durham theses, Durham University. Available at Durham E-Theses Online: http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/14960/

#### Use policy

 $The full-text\ may\ be\ used\ and/or\ reproduced,\ and\ given\ to\ third\ parties\ in\ any\ format\ or\ medium,\ without\ prior\ permission\ or\ charge,\ for\ personal\ research\ or\ study,\ educational,\ or\ not-for-profit\ purposes\ provided\ that:$ 

- a full bibliographic reference is made to the original source
- a link is made to the metadata record in Durham E-Theses
- the full-text is not changed in any way

The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders. Please consult the full Durham E-Theses policy for further details.

> Academic Support Office, The Palatine Centre, Durham University, Stockton Road, Durham, DH1 3LE e-mail: e-theses.admin@durham.ac.uk Tel: +44 0191 334 6107 http://etheses.dur.ac.uk

# SEXUAL "SIN" AND THE TRANSFORMATION OF THE SELF

Amy Hawkin

## Abstract

This project explores the experiences of cognitive dissonance caused by the sexual activity of unmarried Christian adults in the UK. It identifies processes of the formation, negotiation, and maintenance of participants' religious identities, and the impacts that sexual activity has on these processes. Using anonymous narratives, autoethnographic material, and semi-structured interviews, it uncovers some of the impacts these experiences had on their religious beliefs and their relationships. In doing so, it highlights potential causal factors for young adults distancing themselves from the Church and limiting its authority over their lifestyle choices. The dissertation argues that unmarried Christians experience their sexual selves through complex and interlinking processes of negotiation between beliefs, actions, and identities. It states that the process of negotiation is often a painful one due to experiences of cognitive dissonance, which usually has vast implications on the believers themselves, their sexual partner/s, and their church communities. It suggests that establishing firm beliefs about sex outside of marriage prior to sexual opportunities is vital in order to avoid this. Finally, it suggests that the Church could potentially enable this by encouraging thorough, open, and honest dialogue about sex and marriage.



MA by Research Department of Theology and Religion September 2022 Word Count: 49,984

# SEXUAL "SIN" AND THE TRANSFORMATION OF THE SELF

Amy Hawkin

Supervised by Sitna Quiroz-Uria and Mathew Guest

# **Contents**

Introduction	6
Contextual background	7
The research	10
Methodological limitations	19
Chapter 1: The relationship between belief, action, and identity	
Silence and stifled discourse leading to alternative discourses	23
Authority figures	
Interruptions from the secular viewpoint	
The relationship between wavering convictions, "sinful" behaviour, and belief systems	43
Chapter 2: Cognitive dissonance and avoidance strategies	47
Tactic 1 – Categorise the self	49
Tactic 2 – Change the self	55
Tactic 3 – Amplify the self	60
Chapter 3: The body and the self: a tumultuous relationship	63
The socially informed body and the production of "not wanting"	64
The body and the self-concept	71
Bodily acts and religious identity	74
Interpreting experience	78
Wanting and not wanting	82
Acts of redemption and moving on from cognitive dissonance	85
Chapter 4: Navigating the space between the virgin and the "sinner"	
The influence of cultural narratives	93
The shifts in gender influences on perceptions of virginity	95
Group 1: Virginity as a bargaining tool - it's not S E X!	98
Group 2: Virginity as a safety blanket – it's not S E X?	101
Group 3: Virginity lost in the heat of the moment – that was S E X	104
Group 4: Virginity as a final act of rebellion	110
Chapter 5: Internalising shame and losing power: the consequences of dissonance-induc	ing sex 115
The sudden realisation	115
Characterological self-blame and the body	118
Guilt and shame	124
The spirals of "sin"	127
Relational turmoil	131
Consensual sex, rape, and the aftermath in Christian circles	133

Conclusion	
Suggestions for future research	149
Bibliography	

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author. No quotation from it should be published without the author's prior written consent and information derived from it should be acknowledged.

# **Introduction**

This project presents some of the experiences of young Christian adults who have grown up as members of conservative evangelical Churches in the UK. It demonstrates the ways in which sexual education and conversations about sex, or lack thereof, have led to confusion and hurt for my participants. The project explores sexual experiences outside of marriage, looking at physical, emotional, and spiritual manifestations of sexual desire, frustration, and satisfaction. It argues that experiences of cognitive dissonance led my participants into identity crises as they wrestled with dualistic interpretations of the physical self and the spiritual self, labelling themselves "sinners" for having and acting on sexual desires outside of marriage. It also highlights the severity of the issue; it gives voice to my participants who tell stories of self-harm, suicidal ideations, and failures to acknowledge sexual assault and rape. In these ways, the project highlights the need for the Church to acknowledge the sex lives of unmarried Christians in the UK and to improve the dialogue for future generations.

Research into what happens when young Christians get involved in sexual acts outside of marriage and its aftermath has been limited, particularly in the UK where sex remains largely a 'taboo' subject in conservative evangelical Churches. The majority of the literature on sex and religion has taken place in the US and with adolescents, rather than young adults, with the focus often being primarily with a view to reduce teen pregnancy and sexually transmitted diseases (Evans et al., 1995). Much sociological research about sex tends to be limited to statistics and therefore rarely offers deep insights into the realities of individuals' sexual experiences and their impacts (Berdychevsky and Carr, 2020). There is limited research into sexual feelings, relationships and experiences occurring after sexual and emotional maturation. Most of the recent discussion about sexuality in Christian circles has focused on homosexuality, gender, and sexual dysfunction, so the theological and sociological exploration of extramarital, heterosexual sex has tended to be neglected (Aune, 2006). Therefore, there is a need to do more research into what I call the 'cognitive dissonance' that young people experience when they engage in practices that contradict their Christian beliefs.

This research gains insight using perspectives offered through the study of lived religion (Ammerman, 2006; McGuire, 2008), using narrative exercises which capture participants' everyday experiences of their religious lives. Studying lived religion allows us to look much further than doctrine and explicitly religious activities, letting us witness the points at which peoples' everyday decisions and actions interact with their spiritual and emotional lives. It acknowledges the fact that religion is embodied; religious practice takes place cognitively through belief, emotionally through encounters with the divine, and physically through the actions taken by believers (Burke, 2016). The project explores the concept of 'embodied practices' and deepens our understanding of the ways in which spiritual belief can be accomplished through the body (McGuire 2016). It looks into the areas of participants' lives that are not explicitly religious, but nonetheless contain elements of religion in the form of the transposable schemas that are carried from their religious arenas (Sewell 1992). Few researchers have combined the study of lived religion with sexual behaviour in the UK, largely due to the fact that sex tends to happen in private and British people do not like talking about it. I hope that this research will offer insight into a very private and often silenced area of Christian life.

### Contextual background

Throughout the project, I will identify some of the ways that cultural constraints have been negotiated alongside religious constraints, the ways these have shifted over time, and their impacts on individual believers and their sense of agency in relation to their sexual behaviour. Scholars have pointed out that 'our entire experience of sexuality can be viewed as a context and culture-specific story that we come to live' (Tolman and Diamond, 2001, p39), and my project emphasises

the relevance of macrolevel contextual constraints, pressures, and opportunities presented to participants in this study. I now provide some of this contextual background to highlight the influence on participants' expectations, desires, and behavioural tendencies.

Over the last century, research has documented dramatic changes in the sexual landscape of the modern world, in ways that have influenced my participants perceptions and expectations of sex. Studies have pointed to many related causal factors, most notably the advent of modern contraception (Guest, Olson and Wolffe, 2012) and increasing gender equality (Thompson, 1990), both of which have allowed men and women to fulfil their sexual desires more freely than ever before. The unhindered pursuit of sexual pleasure has dominated the global media and the pornography industry is thriving (Parker, 2010), creating sexual scripts which encourage casual sex and later or no marital commitment (Braithwaite et al, 2015). Sex is increasingly conceptualised as a leisure activity which must be available to all people to allow fulfilment and satisfaction; sex is even becoming one of the many 'channel[s] for self-care, pleasure, expression, and meaning' (Attwood, 2011, p93), and there are very few circumstances in which sex is deemed unacceptable in the UK. For example, although most people believe that adultery is morally unacceptable, many of the most popular films and TV series include highly sexualised storylines involving adultery. Scholars have commented on this widespread obsession: Prime-time television clearly reflects society's greater willingness to tolerate adultery: now television dramas depict affairs without obvious homewrecking villains, and extramarital affairs are apt to go unresolved for months' (Zare, 2001, p29). These trends highlight some of the increasingly tolerated sexual liberalism in secular culture which prioritises sexual desires over many other factors, including physical, relational, or emotional consequences. It is noticeable that some of these shifts have influenced my participants' views of sex, providing them with more reason to view traditional beliefs as outdated and open to interpretation.

These cultural shifts incorporate 'plastic sexuality' (Giddens, 1993) and the increasingly pervasive tendency to see sexual pleasure as vital for healthy relationships. Plastic sexuality describes the modern sexual norms which allow for personal malleability in the pursuit of sexual satisfaction. It acknowledges that sexual pursuits have become disentangled from socially imposed gender roles and the expectations of reproduction (Hawkes, 2007). Giddens explores this 'posttraditional' form of relationship, attributing it to globalisation and discussing the negative implications of this modern condition. For example, he acknowledges the tendencies towards compulsive sexual behaviour and the merchandising of erotic objects which can distort and confuse healthy conceptions of sexuality (Fontana, 1994). These shifts and their impacts on the sexual landscape were clearly influential to participants' sexual beliefs, experiences, and desires.

Marriage trends have shifted over the last few decades; the rise of postmodern family units has led to a general shift in perceptions about the importance of marriage and the circumstances that necessitate it (Stacey, 1998). In the 1800s, girls reached puberty at around 16 years old, and tended to marry around that time (Balswick 2008). Now, the average age of menarche is around 13, and the average age of marriage is around 36 for women and 38 for men (Office for National Statistics 2021). Those who believe that sex is only permitted within marriage therefore face around 10-20 years (or a lifetime, for those who do not marry) of putting off their sexual urges – with varied success, according to most researchers. Kristen Aune (2006) noted that cohabitation and serial monogamy are the norm for most secular adults in the UK, with marriage tending only to become an option much later in life. She also pointed out that marriage has shifted in its purpose, becoming more companionate and shifting from 'institution' to 'relationship'. Further to this, the young Christians in this study have grown up in the middle of changes resulting from the liberalisation of the Church, with fierce debates surrounding gay marriage leading many to abandon traditional views on sexuality and marriage. When discussing their beliefs about sex outside of marriage, some participants noted some of these shifts and suggested that the biblical understanding of marriage, some

and therefore sex, was no longer as easily applicable to their personal situations. Many felt that it was unrealistic to expect them to "wait until marriage" and shifted their beliefs for this reason.

Religious and societal norms have often been ignored in private, which highlights the need to avoid assumptions that, in this instance, unmarried Christians are not having sex. Sharon Thompson (1990) pointed out that by the late 1980s, around seven in ten women under the age of 20 in American cities had already had sex. She warned of the dangers involved when religious authorities do not acknowledge the realities of social change and suggested that young women were at risk due to a lack of understanding or knowledge about the sex they were having. My research agrees with Thompson's points; many participants had not received any sex education or teaching about the purpose of sex because this tended to be saved for marriage courses or for conversations with engaged couples. Important advice and teaching is therefore avoided on the assumption that unmarried Christians will not need it. I argue that if some of my participants had received earlier teaching about the purpose of sex and God's intentions for it within marriage, they would have been able to form beliefs about it before having sexual opportunities. Additionally, if my participants were educated about how to have consensual sex that is pleasurable and safe earlier, they could have avoided some of the damaging situations they went through or caused.

### The research

This project analyses written and verbal narratives of my own and my participants' experiences to gain insights into the processes involved in cognitive dissonance. There were three elements to the collection of this material: an autoethnographic narrative written by me, 25 anonymous narratives written online, and verbal narratives gathered in semi-structured interviews with five participants. I created an open questionnaire online which allowed participants to submit large written narratives anonymously. I purposely provided participants with a very broad subject, asking them to write narratives about their sexual experiences outside of marriage or teaching on the topic. I

wanted participants to talk openly about whatever was most pressing for them when they thought about these subjects. I also wrote my own autoethnographic narrative in a similar way, discussing my experiences of both teaching and sex outside of marriage. These narratives provided a broad sample of qualitative data, enabling me to identify themes and commonalities which were explored further in the interviews.

Of the 25 written narratives, twelve identified as females and ten as males. A further four participants chose not to state their gender identity. To collect these narratives, I used my personal social media pages to contact around 100 young Christians between the ages of 18 and 30. They had all lived in the UK and had been active in their local church for at least two years. They all identified as committed Christians who attended conservative evangelical churches. In a private message, I explained the project's aims and methods and attached a link to an online survey page for those who were willing to take part. Recruiting participants in this way limited any discomfort or awkwardness for invitees because although I knew who I had invited to take part, I did not know who had accepted.

These online survey results were anonymous because I did not ask for any information which revealed participants' identity, and I was not notified about who had completed the survey. I decided to use anonymous written narratives due to the sensitive and often taboo topic of this research; anonymity provided participants with the opportunity to talk freely about their sexual experiences without fear of judgement. Rosenbaum's (2006) work with American teenagers found that participants were unlikely to self-report non-normative behaviour, and that many participants lied or changed their sexual histories throughout the project – particularly if they belonged to conservative churches. The challenges of researching issues of sex and religion are obvious; the gap between belief and behaviour can be a painful and confusing thing to expose (Briggs et al, 2015). This method, then, allows participants to write narratives without having to interact with me or associate themselves with the narrative produced publicly. Narrative methods were useful

in lowering the risk of social desirability as well as reducing potential discomfort for participants. All participants were given a participant sheet upon invitation to take part which included an explicit description of the study including the aims, methodology, and the intended use of the results. It also explained that throughout the write-up, I would be cautious and avoid writing anything which might reveal the identity of my participants to the reader. It informed participants that they were welcome to withdraw at any stage of the research and that they were free to retract any or all statements at any point. For the written narrative section, the online survey asked for consent before participants could go on to write their narratives.

The online page explained that participants were encouraged to write about any sexual experience outside of marriage – it was purposely very vague so that I could capture the pressing issues and feelings that people had about this topic. Of all participants, 23 expressed that they went further with partners than their personal sexual boundaries allowed. The remaining three did not discuss their sexual experiences; one talked about her experiences of her church's teaching on relationships in general, one talked about her lack of sexual experience, and one did not talk about his personal experiences at all. This participant wrote his opinion about sex outside of marriage, and his entry is discussed in Chapter 1.

To recruit participants for the extensive interviews, I added a question onto the survey requesting contact details of people who would be willing to take part. I interviewed four men, one of whom did not fill in the narrative survey but was willing to do an interview, and one woman. I suggest that the fact that only one woman was willing to take part in the interviews is interesting, and gender differences will be discussed throughout the dissertation with a particular emphasis on shame and identity. I was explicit about what the interviews involved, and I pointed out that filling in this section would remove the anonymity of the narrative. With the interview participants, I used pseudonyms (in my notes as well as in the final paper) and ensured that all those involved were happy with the comments used in the final draft. I was the only person who knew who had

taken part in the interviews, and they took place in private locations chosen by the participant. To keep all identities anonymous, I was careful throughout the write-up to adapt any comments or conversations which may have revealed the participants' identities. After giving individuals a participation sheet and a consent form, I had to trust that the interviewees were sensitive to their own feelings about what I should or should not know. I was particularly cautious and sought to protect those I interviewed, as their honesty about their experiences and generosity with their time demanded respect and sensitivity. We went through a consent form prior to each interview, as some participants did more than one. Due to the sensitive nature of the research, I employed process consent (Adams, Jones and Ellis, 2014), ensuring that participants were happy to continue to take part throughout the whole project.

Due to my sampling method, many of the narrative participants, and four of the interview participants, are also my friends. Doing research that involves friends as participants might raise some ethical concerns. However, I found that there were benefits too. It has been argued that creating relationships with people and developing rapport with them in order to gather personal information about their lives is ethically dubious (Oakley, 1981). I would suggest that the more sensitive the research topic is, the more difficult this becomes. Involving existing friends in the case study element of the research ensured good levels of trust and rapport prior to the project. This was vital to the research because it increased the chances of interviewees providing accurate and detailed information about sensitive topics (Bernard, 2002). Keith Cherry (1996) carried out a longitudinal study on the experiences of HIV and found that his roles as friend and researcher shifted between the centre to periphery, enriching his findings intellectually, ethically, and emotionally. Friendships between researcher and participant can also be useful in reducing hierarchical separation or power imbalances which are often caused by the position of the researcher who seeks to gain knowledge about the researched (Tillmann-Healy, 2003). On the other hand, I also acknowledge that there were risks involved in researching with friends as

research subjects. My primary concern was that feelings of shame or embarrassment could hinder the friendship, particularly if people overshared and then regretted it afterwards. Throughout the project I reiterated to participants that they were free to withdraw their consent if they wished, and if they chose to, I would terminate the research with them at that point. Before asking any personal questions, I reminded them that they did not have to answer if they did not feel comfortable doing so. As mentioned, the consent forms and invitations were detailed and explicitly stated the kinds of questions I would be asking, so I hoped that participants had considered this beforehand or withdrawn during the project if they had become uncomfortable.

The topic of discussion required mutual trust and respect between myself and my participants. Researchers have found that self-disclosure and reciprocal sharing can be used in sensitive interviews to establish equal footing and to express understanding (Oakley, 1981). Throughout the interviews I gauged the level of sharing that was appropriate, whilst acknowledging that I was acting as both a researcher and as a friend (Dickson-Swift, James and Liamputtong, 2008). For example, if a participant disclosed a painful experience or emotion that I related to, I was willing to disclose this in order to help them feel listened to and understood. This, I suggest, was one of the benefits of researching with friends as participants. Though it had the potential to become messy, I hope that any impacts on the participants were resolved more effectively than they would be if I had had these discussions with strangers. Finally, I considered the possible emotional responses for participants following their involvement in the project. The nature of the topic meant that painful memories and moral questioning inevitably came up for participants. Ellis (2007) warns that effective autoethnographic writing reveals 'warts and bruises' (p17), and I was aware that a project like this was likely to uncover hurt and regret for participants (including myself). Another point to note is Ellis's point that once documented, experiences become both concrete and public; they are made vulnerable to criticism and judgement from readers. This had the potential to cause distress or spiritual turmoil. For these reasons, the interviews ended with a debrief and I had contacts for pastoral support ready to give to participants in case they were required. Further to this, I made use of my relationships with the participants, which allowed me to support them as friends, rather than just as a researcher.

The decision to include an autoethnographic narrative written by myself in this research was made on the basis that in order to make sense of the social world, we must reflexively examine our own experience in the culture of study through the use of narrative. I grew up in a conservative evangelical church and picked up on many implicit moral expectations about sex outside of marriage, whilst only receiving intentional teaching on the topic once or twice. Like my participants, I found myself confused and frustrated by the lack of guidance I had received and unsure how to find clarity and guidance on the matter. Conversations with friends over the years led me to realise that my experiences were not uncommon, and the severity of some stories led me to carry out this research. The experience of turning back on ourselves to look more closely at the interactions between the self and the other can be enormously beneficial to the research findings (Ellis, 2004). Autoethnography demands the recognition that all researchers are 'representative of a multi-layered lifeworld' (Duncan, 2004, p30), and an honest exploration of *that* can offer deep and enlightening insights into the social world surrounding it. Bochner (1997) encourages researchers to turn their own life experiences into narratives in order to theorize and analyse them as insights into the social world, all the while using them to 'activate subjectivity and compel emotional response' (p435). Autoethnographers are encouraged to form nuanced and complex knowledge about particular lives, experiences, and relationships, rather than general information about large groups of people (Adams, Jones and Ellis, 2015).

My primary concern when considering the use of the autoethnographic method in this project was the fact that all narratives about personal experiences involve and therefore implicate intimate others. When writing my own story, I was simultaneously and inevitably also writing the stories of others. In this project particularly, the 'rights, wishes and feelings of those involved' (Freadman,

15

2004, p124) were of utmost importance, and I wished to remain loyal to those I wrote about and negotiate the grey areas of revealing and concealing with care. Carolyn Ellis (2007) suggests that writing about oneself and others involves relational ethics. She uses this as a moral framework in her writing. Relational ethics and Carol Gilligan's ethics of care (2003) acknowledge the importance of reciprocal respect and dignity and for the researcher to be responsible for one's own actions and their consequences on others (Alley, 2018). Relational ethics requires researchers to acknowledge and appreciate their interpersonal bonds, both past and present, with others and to carry out their research accordingly. This was particularly important when writing about experiences of sexual intimacy in my relationships. I consulted those involved and discussed any implications the writing may have on them, and we agreed that I would add my autoethnographic narrative to the rest of the anonymous narratives, providing myself with a pseudonym as well. This gave me the freedom to explore my experiences openly and honestly while remaining loyal to those I have been intimate with.

Further to this, the benefits of the research may help to off-set these risks and concerns. Bochner and Ellis (2006) tell of the ways in which narrating the past can help authors to assign meaning to their experiences, fulfilling the human need to make sense of our struggles and 'grasp the ungraspable' (p4). Scholars have praised autoethnographic and narrative methods for their ability to help authors 'self-create', to move forward with life by remaking their past. Bochner borrows from Kierkegaard, saying that 'we live forward, but we understand backward' (p425), and suggests that autoethnography offers rich opportunities to be renewed by the past, by thinking deeply about the characters and their emotions from their present viewpoint. Autoethnographies often discuss trauma and challenge, which can provide readers who have been through similar experiences with someone who understands and can empathise with them. They seek to give voice to the voiceless, and these methodologies embrace this philosophy, often touching on topics which are left unspoken, opening discussion with vulnerability and honesty (Adams, Jones and Ellis, 2014). They can be powerful ways of forcing people to hear the words of marginalised people and the stories about taboo subjects. This was certainly my experience whilst I was writing my narrative – I felt able to share my story with the reader and then, as a reader, see that many people expressed similar experiences to my own but had never felt able to share. This kind of research could open discussions that have long been closed to the public sphere by allowing the narrators to voice and reflect on their experiences, which in turn allows the reader to do the same.

Out of the 23 participants who discussed their sexual experiences, only two people wrote about them through a positive lens. Interestingly, both of these participants stated that they were still in a relationship with the person they had had sex with, whereas the participants who were no longer in those relationships recalled experiences more negatively. Those who stated that they were in relationships at the time of writing tended to give more balanced narratives about their sexual experiences, offering both positive and negative perspectives.

One predominant theme, evident in all of the narratives, was the experience of shame and secrecy around participants' sexuality, and the impact this had on their identity and emotional wellbeing. All 26 mentioned feelings of guilt, and the majority expressed "deep remorse" over their experiences. Participants who had been sexually active for extended periods of time spoke of living a "double life"; their "sex life" felt separated from their "Christian life". Many of the participants pointed towards spiritual turmoil caused by the cognitive dissonance they experienced. Some went through long periods of confusion as they wrestled theologically with ideas about love, sex, and life itself during periods of sexual activity. Some participants expressed outright disagreement with their church's teaching about sexuality and frustration about the lack of open dialogue on the matter. Some talked about temporary losses of faith, and many noted changes in identity as a result of having sexual encounters that conflicted with their beliefs.

Many of the narratives discussed emotional damage caused either by cognitive dissonance regarding sexual behaviour or the Church's dealings with the topic of sexuality. Many of the

participants talked about isolating themselves from their church community, feeling like they couldn't be themselves, and feeling uncomfortable in church services because of their sexual experiences outside of marriage. Some participants discussed periods of severe mental health difficulties stemming from their sexual encounters, including three people who opened up about self-harm and suicidal thoughts. Three participants wrote about sexual experiences that they did not want, but were pressured into, and the spiritual anguish that followed. These consequences are discussed throughout the dissertation and the role of the Church, in both causing and in resolving some of these issues, is explored.

Using the voices and words of young Christian adults in the UK, this research highlights many concerns about Christians' experiences of sexual intimacy outside of marriage and the consequences of it. It demonstrates the needs for young adults like those in this project to establish healthy relationships with their sexual desires and beliefs prior to having any sexual opportunities with others. Because behaviour during the transition to adulthood usually impacts behavioural patterns and emotional responses in later life (Matsuba and Pratt, 2018), I argue that the impacts discussed in the project are more significant than the Church has tended to acknowledge. I also argue that situations like those discussed in this research ought to be dealt with particularly sensitively by those in authority and with pastoral responsibility.

The research points towards the prevalence mental health issues and depressive tendencies for people who regularly experience feelings of sexual regret (Grello, Welsh and Harper, 2006), and highlights the wider impacts of these consequences. It explores feelings of shame that became inherent to unmarried Christians' sexual desires and suggests that participants were unsure how to manage their sexual selves. In these ways, it highlights the fact that getting married was unlikely to prevent them from instinctive shame responses whenever they experienced or acted on their sexual desires. For these reasons, the dissertation argues that restorative acts must be taken to provide healing after dissonance-inducing sex, but that the Church lacks formal mechanisms that enable

this; unmarried Christians therefore struggled to heal and move on from the trauma of sexual regret and shame.

The dissertation therefore highlights areas in which the conversation around sex outside of marriage in UK Christian circles has been lacking, leaving young adults to go through traumatic experiences and mental health crises alone. Local church communities and the Christians within them have much to offer on this issue, especially when participants have been provided with support and received healing through friendship and guidance.

## Methodological limitations

This research presented several methodological limitations. The primary limitation was the fact that the written narratives left no room for me to respond with follow up questions or go further into certain comments made. Often, an anonymous participant had written something very insightful that I would have been interested to explore further but could not do so because of the fact that they did not leave their names for interviews. On the other hand, though, this became interesting in itself, because many of the anonymous narratives were the ones who had not told anyone else about their sexual experiences. This methodological limitation therefore offers insight in itself, pointing out the extent to which participants felt ashamed and unable to admit their experiences to someone doing a research project including many other participants. As well as this, it suggests that although they did not feel able to give their names, they did feel strongly enough about the issue to bother responding and were perhaps glad to finally confess their thoughts and experiences on the matter.

Secondly, I was intentionally very vague about what I wanted participants to write about in the narrative, which meant that I was left with an extremely broad selection of topics and issues. In many ways this was beneficial in the sense that participants led the direction of the research and also confirmed my assumptions about the themes that people would be most interested to discuss.

However, some comments or themes were only brought up briefly in narratives, some of which I would have liked to explore more thoroughly. It also meant that some participants wrote about things that were very interesting and insightful but were not going to be of use in this piece of research. For example, one participant wrote in depth about a lack of relational advice or teaching in their church, including advice about friendships and healthy boundaries.

Finally, the COVID-19 pandemic largely limited the options I had available for this social research project. Whilst the online narratives gave much insight and provided very interesting responses despite the lockdown and rules about isolation, I experienced limitations in the amount and quality of the interviews I felt was possible. Face to face interviews were limited by the conditions imposed during lockdown. Although I made use of online video calling, Zoom fatigue meant that people were sick of calls as restrictions eased. I was also aware that we were all going through a difficult time and many people were struggling emotionally as a result of the pandemic. This led me to avoid pressing for more information at certain points in the interviews. For example, in two of these interviews, participants got emotional, and one opened up about having suicidal thoughts and self-harming. I was very aware that it would not be helpful discussing these difficult topics at length during long periods of isolation in a global pandemic. I therefore found myself refusing to go deeper into some comments for fear of causing emotional distress to participants.

To make my argument, Chapter 1 points to the silence some participants were met with when they questioned dogmatic and unclear recommendations around Christian sexual discipline. Because the Christians in this study were rarely encouraged to form their own sexual ethics, they felt restricted and frustrated as they felt forced to abstain from strong sexual desires without understanding why. The chapter argues that this lack of firm convictions about their sexual ethics led them to explore their sexual desires, hiding their behaviour from their Christian communities and therefore developing unhealthy relationships to their sexualities. Chapter 2 outlines these explorations and the experiences of cognitive dissonance caused by them. It suggests tactics they

employed to remove the discomfort caused and begins to explore the identity transitions caused by sex outside of marriage. Chapter 3 explores this further, demonstrating the negotiations between body and belief and the impacts of behaviour on the sense of self. It looks at the physical experiences of believers who are trying to live according to their beliefs, and also suggests mechanisms by which they can restore their sense of self after dissonance-inducing behaviour. Chapter 4 identifies notions of virginity and the significance of it as a marker of identity for Christian believers. Finally, Chapter 5 explores the implications of all of these things on participants. It draws on their experiences to demonstrate that the inability to form their own sexual ethics, enlightened by scripture and open Christian dialogue, had devastating effects for my participants. It points to the effects of dissonance and highlights the risks involved when the Church does not provide opportunities for young adults to restore their sense of self after dissonance-inducting sexual activity. Finally, the dissertation concludes by suggesting that the Church can help to reduce these experiences of dissonance by actively encouraging young adults to take ownership of their theologies of sex, marriage, and relationships prior to sexual opportunities occurring.

# <u>Chapter 1: The relationship between belief, action, and identity</u>

One of the most common themes that came up in my research was the strained interactions between belief and behaviour, and their mutually influencing relationship with the self. The narratives pointed towards an extreme sense of malleability of each; participants' belief, action, and identity went through processes of reformation whilst individuals negotiated with their sexual behaviour and desires. This chapter will explore the ways that moral convictions (or lack thereof) shaped participants' actions, which subsequently shaped their identities, and vice versa. This became an important theme to explore because it appears that many of my participants' sexual experiences, and the emotional turmoil that followed, were the result of participants' lack of firm convictions about their own sexual boundaries prior to sexual opportunities arising.

This chapter asks *how* people believe things rather than simply *what* they believe by taking into consideration Jonathan Mair's (2013) call for Anthropology to 'pay attention to modalities or styles of belief' (p450). As Mair points out, much can be gained from exploring *actual* religious belief by interpreting the wider context, 'including the relationships, embodied knowledge and aesthetic standards with which cognitive aspects of belief are tied up' (p463). Mair suggests that if we observe belief through this wider lens, we might find that beliefs are much more transient and complex than they initially appear. Indeed, my participants gave much insight into the ways in which religious belief itself can be understood as a set of embodied skills which require effort to form and strengthen throughout the believer's lifetime. The chapter will explore how belief and action interact bidirectionally in the case of forming and then living up to one's own sexual ethics. The outline of the chapter will be as follows: I explore the silenced or limited conversations that participants had on the topic, followed by participants' interactions with authority figures and then with secular culture, and finally I discuss participants' common experiences of being sexually

intimate before having fully formed beliefs about whether they should or not. According to my participants' experiences, I conclude that moral beliefs – specifically about sex - are dynamic and often shift to accommodate both internal and external pressures. The chapter highlights the importance of providing space for believers to consider and discuss sexual ethics in order to form healthy and well-established decisions about their own sexual beliefs – ideally *prior* to actually having sexual opportunities and/or experiences. The chapter points to the reality that *sincerely* holding a belief to be true is often much more complex, painful, and transformative than is acknowledged or accepted in church teaching on doctrine and ethics.

### Silence and stifled discourse leading to alternative discourses

One of the participants who took part in the narrative exercise, which invited participants to write narratives exploring their experiences of sexual intimacy outside of marriage, demonstrates the kinds of statements that are often made in Christian circles about sexual ethics. He wrote:

There are a tirade of increasingly painful outcomes. There are reasons to hold back and be scared, for fear of the damage that might be done. Relationships, people, memories, feelings are not simple. They can be destroyed in an instant and take so much longer to repair. Principles can be the barrier that prevents mistakes. I don't mean to be insensitive - there are many people who would rightly say that's too simplified. As if by saying casual sex is wrong the whole situation could have been avoided. Without diminishing anyone who feels they have been made a victim, let's admit that self-control can protect us from decisions which are rash.

The above is the full response from an anonymous male participant. I use it here because it points helpfully to the heavily opinionated, emotive, and dogmatic statements in Christian circles that other participants complained about. They hint at blanket statements like this when they talk about unhelpful and "simplified" comments that are made with no reference to personal experience and without clear reasons to back them up. It struck me that, compared to the other 24 participants,

this one demonstrated no vulnerability or willingness to share why he held those views. It is unclear whether he had had sex outside of marriage himself, giving him first-hand experience of "the damage that might be done", or whether he had never been in a sexually intimate scenario and therefore had no experience of the "self-control" required. There was also very little specificity about what he was actually advising people to "hold back and be scared" of; it is unclear whether he was referring to penetrative sex, any sexual activity at all, or something in between. Finally, it demonstrates limited humility in the sense that he clearly thinks that what he has to say is the truth and that there need be no further discussion, which was something participants struggled with. I suggest that this participant has provided evidence of the kinds of comments that led other participants to feel that their questions were stifled; they leave little room for discussion or nuance, and the tone implies that the writer might be unlikely to take a non-judgemental approach to the experiences or "mistakes" participants felt they had made. The narrative therefore provides foresight into some of the experiences of teaching or conversation about sex which I now explore.

For many who took part in this research, stifled discourses on sexuality left them covertly dismissing, critiquing, and nuancing the prescribed beliefs about sex outside of marriage by themselves, with their partners, or with friends who had similar questions. After experiencing sexual desire, they began to think more seriously about what they had been taught. Sophie wrote:

From a young age I was taught that sex before marriage is wrong. It was justified or explained through the belief that sex is sacred, special, and therefore virginity should be kept for one person once you are married. Throughout my early teens I didn't question it much, I thought most people thought the same. But as I got older I realised that wasn't the case.

Participants discussed the ways they began to question these things. For example, some had questions about what *was* allowed before marriage, what counted as sex, and whether the bible's teaching was even clear on these matters. Because many felt they had no safe spaces to ask questions such as "how do I build intimacy with my boyfriend without sinning?", and "what

changes when you've got a ring on your finger?", they tried to find answers themselves. In other words, people were "left to work out" what they believed about sex on their own – often through "trial and error" – which, in many of my participants' cases, led to them getting hurt. According to my participants, this approach to forming beliefs about sex has caused faith crises, painful breakups, and both spiritual and emotional trauma.

Furthermore, due to the lack of open conversation about matters of sex, this experimental journey of finding out what they believed was an isolating experience for participants as they often had no one to talk to about sexual regrets. For example, Hannah explained that she "was able to live within the understanding of sex" that she had "created" for herself and was left alone "without any challenge" or interest from other people. The limited conversation meant that she had to form beliefs, make decisions about her behaviour, and then deal with the consequences by herself. Many participants noted similar situations which led to frustrations about their church's handling of the topic. Esther wrote:

Discussions surrounding sex were never really discussions, they were just statements, and it was implied that no one could possibly disagree and still consider themselves a 'true Christian'... I think if people have had sexual experiences and regret them, there needs to be a space where they can talk about it and seek support. And I think if people have had or are having sexual experiences and do not think it is a mistake or a problem, there needs to be the opportunity to have an open dialogue that allows people to express their opinions and feelings without feeling ostracised or judged.

Throughout the narratives and interviews, part of the disappointment around the public sexual advice for unmarried Christians was the lack of clarity – combined with the limited willingness of the Church to encourage conversations that could clear up confusions. Participants felt that "other than, essentially, don't have sex until you're married", the teaching on the topic was "vague" and "unhelpful". Sarah wrote that "the lack of openness in the Church has made navigating sexual

intimacy in [her] relationship extremely hard" and explained that the silence on the subject meant that she was left alone to "figure out" the specifics of the teaching she had received. My findings suggest that this very general "no sex outside of marriage" teaching, combined with limited opportunities for open conversation, led unmarried couples to experiment with their sexual boundaries, forming their own theologies of sexuality based on their own experiences and opinions. In her narrative, Sarah was still with the boyfriend she had been exploring her sexuality with, and she spoke of the "flexible perspective on sexuality" they hold, which allows them to regularly re-evaluate their beliefs as they learn more about themselves, their sexuality, and God. She wrote:

I have never believed in hard and fast rules in my faith, which enables me to have a more flexible perspective on sexuality. Where we 'draw the line' continually changes based on our relationship at different stages and we have learnt how to savour being intimate without necessarily being sexual. At times we have been sexually intimate and I felt incredibly at peace with that and with God and my faith.

Because many young people do not feel able to discuss the specifics of Church doctrine, such as what *is* acceptable outside of marriage, their options were either to accept blindly and "desperately try to abstain" from their sexual desires and instincts – for reasons they often do not understand or agree with – or to experiment and decide for themselves. For the majority of participants in this category, this vague guidance and lack of dialogue led to painful and confusing experiences at best, and bitterness, alienation, and heartbreak at worst.

More than this, participants were frustrated by the lack of clear reasoning behind these vague moral guidelines. For over half of my participants, this was the main reason they failed to keep sexual activity within the context of marriage. Sophie wrote:

I've thought the way the church often teaches about sex can be damaging for people. There is so much of 'do not do this' without the context or explanation of why. Knowing 'why' could have clarified my confusion as a teenager in a happy relationship, just trying my best to love both God and my boyfriend.

This was a common story for my participants as they wrestled with what they believed and had very little teaching to help them in this regard. For example, Jessica wrote that her first sexual experience, which "opened the floodgates" to many others, happened because she had "baseless beliefs" that she did not understand and could not justify to her non-Christian boyfriend. Over time, this led to her allowing "anything but sex" in her first relationship, which she finally ended because of the "overwhelming guilt" she could not get away from. This pattern continued for Jessica throughout numerous relationships, causing "deep pain" for her and her partners. My findings suggest that Jessica's story is a common struggle for young Christians. An ethnographic study in an evangelical Anglican church in London also received very similar results about the lack of clarity in church teaching about sex:

Eliza developed her beliefs around sexuality based on what she believed God desired of her, not church teachings (which she complained were lacking as they did not explain 'the why').

#### Gaddini, 2020, p112

Gaddini's participant was also forced to come to her own conclusions about sexuality outside of marriage because her church did not provide her with sufficient reasoning. My participants were therefore not alone in having sexual opportunities in their formative years, whilst they were trying to make sense of their beliefs about their boundaries. This is made more complicated by the fact that many of my participants said they had very few people whom they trusted enough to feel able to talk to about sex. In Jessica's words, this resulted in her "figuring it out...the hard way", leading

her to get "swept up in exploring what felt right or wrong" for herself, which she believes has caused lasting damage from which she has not yet healed.

In an interview James explained his experiences of struggling to make sense of the beliefs about sexuality that he had received from his church. Firstly, he noted that he had never even considered the question of *why* sexual activity outside of marriage is wrong, and what the bible teaches about it. It was only when he "fell in love and first acted on [his] sexual desires with [his] girlfriend" that he began to consider the teaching that he had previously "taken for granted". He wrote the following:

When it happened, it was like, this is clearly normal... this is how things should work... as soon as I had that experience I started to question things that I wouldn't have before... Why am I being told this stuff at church, is that actually true? But then – how do I know that I'm right? How do I know my experiences aren't just taking me down a path of thought that I want to be true?

His frustration was evident as he recalled, laughing, "the Sunday School teachings about the 'great and wise King Solomon'" and the fact that they had "failed to mention that he enjoyed sexual relations with hundreds of wives and concubines". He shared some of his internal debates with me, acknowledging the societal differences between 21<sup>st</sup> century Britain and the contexts in which the bible was written. This point was particularly common among participants; they argued that the bible spoke to very different cultures, and one asked themselves whether the guidelines should be "more realistic, now that that we're not getting married at 13 anymore". These kinds of findings were also common in the literature. Studies in a US theological seminary received almost identical responses to my participants about the confusion around moral teachings: Joseph expressed his frustration thus: "The church tells me that premarital sex is a sin, but I don't understand why. What are the consequences? I know people who are doing it and claim Christ as Lord and Saviour but I'm not seeing the damage."

#### Chaparro, 2015, p83

Along with my participants, then, unmarried Christian adults at a US bible college also did not know why they were told that sex should be kept for marriage. Because their churches did not provide clear and evidenced reasoning or encourage open conversations about questions such as these, people found it extremely hard to agree with and therefore live up to the standards prescribed.

Many of those participants who regarded the "no sex before marriage teaching" as outdated, misunderstood, or open to interpretation, had nowhere to voice these opinions or discuss them with trusted Christian authority figures. Natalie wrote that all the Christians she knew were just "covering [up] the issue" of sexuality, to the extent that she wondered whether people who were married even talked about their sex lives. In and out of faith crises, she "slept with several people", including her current boyfriend who is also a Christian. She explained that in their relationship as a Christian couple who have both had sex outside of their relationship, they were still trying to figure out their boundaries. At the time of writing, they were "pausing being sexually intimate for now, having conversations about it with each other and praying about it". Her narrative highlights the seclusion of this process of negotiation between belief and behaviour; she wrote that because she has never told anyone about it, she feels she is hiding a "big shame" that she "can't confess". She explained that this left her struggling to feel integrated into her Christian community because of the fear of judgement. Mathew Guest's research in an evangelical congregation in the UK found that public discourses tended to be partial, avoided controversy, and allowed the perceived attitudes of the majority to shape them (Guest et al, 2016). Discussion on topics such as sexuality were often avoided, and they were 'effectively privatised' (p79) due to the lack of public expression, which fits with the experiences of my participants. Guest found that conservative beliefs, particularly those that clashed with mainstream societal beliefs, were often kept within private spheres such as small group settings so as not to cause offence or disrupt unity in the congregation. In practice this meant that teaching rarely gave explicit moral prescriptions, but rather pointed vaguely to the bible and left church members to draw their own conclusions.

It is important to note the impact this stifled conversation can have on couples who are trying to make sense of biblical teaching, often whilst or after already being sexually intimate, and to consider the impact that this has on the couples' ability to feel safe in Christian communities. As well as this, the seclusion that Christian couples often experienced (although often self-inflicted due to shame) made it more difficult for them to establish their beliefs. Whilst in the midst of these belief-forming processes, the fact that couples often did not have close Christian community involved made it easier for them to get distracted by one another and the temptations to be sexually intimate.

Participants made plain the consequences of Christians being left to come up with answers to their own questions about sex. Peter, who had sex with his non-Christian girlfriend and only came to terms with his beliefs about sex after the relationship broke down, said:

The dissonance and discomfort I felt between my actions and my beliefs led me to do some serious investigation into the reasons behind the Christian teaching on sexual sin and in particular premarital sex. The logic behind the approach of the Church became clear to me when it was corroborated by my own experience and feelings, and other sociological research that I came across. It was only through actually experiencing first-hand the effects of sex that I was able to understand and appreciate the advice that was given to me, and the teaching of the Church on this issue. However, I would not wish anyone else to have to have the experience in order to understand the good reasons behind the Church's teaching, and so if I was in a position of influence in another Christian's life, who was in a similar position to the one I had been in, then I would seek to give them similar advice, but in the strongest terms and with the added weight of my own first-hand experience.

Here we see how Christians are having painful moments of realisation about the reasoning behind Church doctrine only through their own experiences of sexual intimacy. Experiences like Peter's make sense of the frustration and hurt that participants have expressed about the teaching they had received about sex outside of marriage. I argue that my participants' experiences demonstrate the need for leaders to offer open and vulnerable discourse, with reference to personal first-hand experiences of the "damages caused by sex outside of marriage". Without this, I suggest that young adults struggle to understand the logic behind the guidance and are therefore reluctant to be cautious about it. In some instances, the limited discussion frustrated participants so much that they renounce any of the teaching they received. Instead, these participants opted to explore their sexual beliefs themselves, usually finding out what they believe through painful experiences.

As well as the limited discourse about what was acceptable outside of marriage, participants were also frustrated by the lack of advice about *how* to live according to those standards. Tom explained that he had had sexual encounters with over 30 women, some of whom were Christians. He explained that he had "a clear sense that sex was wrong before marriage" but had never understood, or been offered help understanding, how to "deal with his sexuality in a healthy way". Claire put this more abruptly, saying that the teaching she received merely attempted to "shame and scare" young people into an impossible task of "having nothing to do with their sexual desires until they got married". Tom explained that although his behaviour caused him immense misery and guilt, he did not have "the willpower or understanding of the gospel to be able to resist" his sexual impulses for many years. His words resonate with those of many other participants who had questions about the challenging and self-denying lifestyle they were supposed to be living but had no one to ask. In his study on men's sex lives in a Christian theology college, Onorio Chaparro (2015) found that men were unlikely to remain "sexually pure" without practical wisdom or

positive teaching on why and how they should keep sex within marriage. He found that this lack of nuanced and realistic discussion led to men feeling pressured by legalistic burdens which, in turn, led to limited success, feelings of guilt, and eventually a disregard for the teachings altogether. One of his participants said the following:

According to the church and the bible it's not the correct way. You should both be virgins. I never understood why... I would say it is a sin, but not why... I believe because of reputable people who have taught me.

#### Onorio, 2015, p83

These findings are similar to my own and emphasise the fact that unmarried Christians find it hard to follow guidance about sex when they do not understand the reasoning behind it. I therefore suggest the importance of having open conversations in Church about matters of sexuality rather than dogmatic and unquestionable guidelines.

Participants also complained that there was extremely limited teaching on what *was* healthy for unmarried Christian couples who were trying to explore whether marriage was a sensible option for them. Emily wrote:

A lot of couples are trying to work out what is "right" and what they feel peace about, without having much guidance on how to build intimacy without "sinning".

It is clear from the narratives that relationship advice felt very limited and rarely shed light on how to build strong, committed relationships without involving sexual intimacy. In fact, one participant wrote predominantly about the limited teaching on emotional and spiritual intimacy, because she felt that this was as important as the teaching on sexual boundaries:

Emotional boundaries are not often well addressed and instead of having sex physically, people almost seek to satisfy that longing emotionally which can lead to just as much hurt.

Jade

Jade noted that she and many other friends had been hurt in relationships (both romantic and platonic) because they had not kept "healthy emotional boundaries" and had often built up excessive trust and dependency on friends of the opposite sex. She commented that this limited guidance about spiritual and emotional intimacy was as important as that of sexual intimacy, but often it seemed that sexual boundaries were over-emphasised. This observation is important when we consider whether unmarried couples would be better equipped to manage sexual boundaries if they were given more holistic relationship advice. I therefore suggest that my participants would benefit from information on how to build healthy relationships, taking emotional and spiritual factors into account rather than simply emphasising the importance of not having sex.

## Authority figures

With regards to their beliefs about sexuality, participants gave varying levels of authority to their church leaders. Whilst most were very comfortable trusting their own viewpoint and did not worry too much about judgement from authority figures, some did have genuine fears about the impact their behaviours would have on their relationships at church and the stance that their church leaders might take. Natalie had "never told anyone in [her] church congregation about [her sexual experiences]" because she was afraid that she would be "judged or exiled from the church." This fear of feeling exiled, judged, or generally unwelcome in the church was fairly common for my participants, and it led not only to hiding the realities of their sex lives, but also their opinions and beliefs about how their church dealt with sexuality and ways they feel it should change. Many who had contrary beliefs or were frustrated about the Church's dealings with sexuality rarely spoke up or tried to improve the conversation due to of these fears. Natalie continued:

I also don't completely agree about the lack of conversation around premarital sex and sexual intimacy, but I am too afraid to bring it up with others in the congregation and who are leaders in the church.

However, other participants were less afraid of the opinions of church leaders and shared more freely with them. For example, James did partially open up to his church leader about his sexual intimacy with his non-Christian girlfriend despite being able to predict his disapproving stance on the situation. Whilst assuming that he might be judged negatively and advised against his sexual relationship, he pursued a pastoral conversation with his church leader but held back certain confessions:

After speaking with my Pastor, I decided it could not continue. I didn't even explain the extent of our relationship as I was afraid of the judgement I would face from him.

When I asked why he felt the need to keep certain facts from his pastor, he explained:

There's obviously a lot of resistance. As soon as you start to question these things, they immediately put the shutters up and say, "they're losing their faith", which I just don't think is true or helpful... my pastor kept trying to bring it back to Jesus dying for me, as if I was taking that as separate from what I was talking about.

James was frustrated because he felt that his pastor had made assumptions about his understanding of Jesus' death simply because he was struggling with, and trying to understand, his sexual boundaries with his girlfriend. It was common amongst my participants to fear that members of the church – particularly those in authority - would judge them or, more importantly, their relationship with Jesus and their Christian identity. Sophie said that in church, she "felt deeply ashamed - dirty almost - and definitely a failed Christian". It therefore seemed like one of participants' primary fears around people knowing about their sexual experience was that they would be viewed as having a 'lesser' Christian faith than those who were not having sex or wanting

to talk about sex outside of marriage. As well as demonstrating the awareness that participants had about the potential perceptions that others would have about their Christian identity, it also points to the importance that they placed on these perceptions. They often appeared to prioritise the way they might be perceived over their desire to have open conversations about their sexual experiences, despite the painful searching and frustrated questioning that this stifled conversation caused.

On the other hand, unlike those participants who feared the judgement of authority figures, some participants had negative experiences of teaching which gave them reason to dismiss the church's teaching on sex altogether. Hannah noted her church's annual seminar on sex and relationships and explained that because "one person on the panel said something ridiculous", she used that to "justify rejecting everything they'd said". She wrote:

They had a panel answering questions and, unsurprisingly, several of them said that you shouldn't be doing some of the things that we were doing outside of marriage. One of the panel members also said that you shouldn't even kiss with tongues, which I thought was ridiculous. Matt came away from this evening worried about what we were doing and thinking that we should stop, but I wasn't convinced. They hadn't said anything particularly different from what I'd heard before and hadn't directly contradicted the idea that sex was one particular act. I thought that their advice might be helpful for people who were more easily tempted to go all the way and commit the actual sin (penis in vagina sex) but we were more self-controlled than those people so it didn't apply to us. Plus, since one person on the panel had said something ridiculous, I think I was trying to justify rejecting everything they'd said.

Hannah acknowledged that combined with the imminent temptations of exploring their sexuality in their relationship, hearing "bad teaching" provided legitimacy for her to adapt what she had heard or to discard Christian guidance on the matter altogether. Interestingly in these situations the judgements were switched; the authority figures warning about sexual intimacy were judged by
members of the congregation who were not particularly concerned about what they were doing outside of marriage. Grace, who spent her early life in "the brethren" and was therefore given extremely conservative teaching on sex and marriage eventually left to go to a more "mainstream church". She said:

Being taught that anything sexual was a sin caused huge conflict - why do we have such desires naturally if it is considered a sin...surely we are just set up to fail. We were never taught good practical sex education, how to deal with your desires. Instead we were taught that we shouldn't have them. Which is shocking.

Grace was openly angry about the teaching she received within the brethren, saying: "do I regret having sex with both boyfriends before I married one of them? No". She also said that many people she knew got married young to "have guilt free sex... fast forward a couple of years and 3/4 couples are divorced". I suggest that Grace's particularly bad experiences of extremely conservative Christian teaching led her to form her own beliefs about sexuality and completely disregard the moral teaching of the church in which she grew up. She then stated what she believes now:

If you are sleeping with a different man every night, not forming intimate relationships with people or are addicted to pornography, that is not healthy, and is what I would describe as sexual immorality. These actions are immoral.

Grace had decided to ignore the guidance she had been given at her church and established her own sets of beliefs. This reaction to restricting teaching is understandable given the trends in the authority of religious leaders recent decades. Scholars have noted that the individual has become the most decisive authority figure when considering lifestyle choices and ethical beliefs (Petersen and Donnenwerth, 1997), which certainly fits with my participants' experiences. Man-hei Yip (2003) found similar results to mine in his research with homosexual and bisexual Christians; 'the self plays a far greater role than church authority' (p136).

In Britain in 2022, it is increasingly rare that religious dogma would have the final say over how people should or should not behave, and any attempts for it do so are usually widely criticised – particularly those that have implications on secular society, such as the ongoing pro-life and same-sex marriage debates which are often littered with hostile religious language from some Christians. Ruth Perrin (2020) discusses generational shifts in the willingness of young adults to organise their beliefs and identity around doctrine provided by authority figures. She writes that millennials and younger generations are used to being exposed to 'a plethora of beliefs, worldviews and practices' which has led to a 'mosaic' effect (p12); young adults now tend to piece together their identities and beliefs using a combination of sources rather than basing it only on their local church's doctrine. Perrin suggests that these changes are the result of habitual consumerism within an increasingly pluralistic and liberal society, and I suggest that these generational shifts account for some of the rejection of authority evidenced in my results.

#### Interruptions from the secular viewpoint

The narratives also pointed out some of the obvious and stark contrasts between Christian and secular views of sex, and the ways in which increasingly liberal societal norms have been blended into young adults' beliefs, and therefore into their actions and identities as well (Perrin, 2020). Participants seem to have created alternative discourses, taking wider social norms and combining them with various theological beliefs provided by their Christian worldview, as well as their own experiences of their sexuality. I will now discuss the ways in which participants have engaged with secular interpretations of sex outside of marriage.

Conversations about sex in Christian circles appeared to be in direct contrast to conversations in modern secular society, in tone, content, and approach. In comparison to Christian environments, popular culture frequently references sex explicitly, both seriously and in jest. Tom mentioned that he would never have been able to talk about his sexual experiences "to family or Christian friends", but he remembered "boasting about it to lads at school" often. Participants regularly complained about the awkward silences in church about sex outside of marriage and the fact that it was often "avoided" or "covered up". This silence seems almost the complete opposite to their experiences of explicit or light-hearted conversations about sex in the media and with non-Christian friends. It is important to note that this contrast is likely to exacerbate these frustrations about the restrictive nature of discussions on sex within the Church; as the secular world increasingly encourages open conversations about sexuality, the fact that the Church rarely does will feel more obvious to young people and will likely become an ever-growing source of frustration, shame, and fear for those who are trying to live out their Christian faith whilst living in secular society.

Some of my participants expressed concerns about missing out on the experiences that the young adults around them all seemed to be having. In her narrative, Gemma questioned whether she "would have had several relationships by now" if she had not been a Christian. She wrote:

The modern societal perception of having to 'achieve' things by a certain age, makes keeping the principle of celibacy until marriage as very difficult to uphold. I have felt a deep sense of shame or embarrassment when others talk about having had sex etc. and they are really shocked that I haven't had sex.

Another participant, Sarah, felt pressured to have sexual experiences as a teenager because "everyone else was doing it". She had similar anxieties to Gemma; as a teenager she had been concerned about what she would say when people asked things like "who was your first kiss?" and "have you DONE anything?". Her experiences of not wanting to be left behind resonated with other participants:

At that time, I felt it was good to explore what I liked and to have experience or no one would want me - this is what I garnered from secular culture. I felt it was expected that I would be sexually intimate. I then reconciled this belief with my faith by compartmentalising what counted as forbidden (ie sexual penetration) and what was okay.

Here we see this tension between wanting to be accepted in the Christian community as well as in the secular community. People feared both judgement for being sexually intimate with their partners as well as judgement for abstaining from sexual intimacy. Emily also commented on the conversations she had with both Christian and non-Christian friends about her decisions on her sexual boundaries with her partner:

The more liberal you are, the more judged you get. However, there is also a lot of judgment if you are really conservative. It's sad, as there never seems to be a point where there isn't judgement. My non-Christian friends seem quite interested in how I have a relationship with no sex and they think we lack intimacy without it, but then some of my Christian friends think we have too much intimacy and that we are acting wrong. Hard to get the right balance.

In a bid to negotiate some middle ground between the secular and the Christian view of sex, participants appeared to have combined elements of the teaching they had received from the Church with the norms of modern society to create their own beliefs about sexuality, which many felt were far better evidenced and reasoned than traditional Church doctrine. Whilst trying to make sense of the grey areas around what was acceptable outside of marriage according to the Church, participants consulted wider cultural narratives about what classed as "healthy" or "good" sex.

Similarly, the narratives revealed that modern norms of 'sex as leisure' were influencing Christian beliefs about sex and morality. In 2019, the World Health Organisation's definition of sexual health included having the right to pleasurable and safe sexual experiences (WHO, 2019), which demonstrates that sexual pleasure is viewed as a vital part of life to which all are entitled. The ideals

of secular society suggest that abstaining from sexual desires (other than when this would be nonconsensual) is an unhealthy form of sexual suppression which is usually imposed on individuals, rather than there being a valid and healthy option to abstain from sexual desires out of choice. Sex has been defined as a healthy avenue for self-care and self-expression, as well as providing the opportunity to creatively explore and to find meaning in life (Attwood, 2011). Furthermore, medical studies have pointed to the ways that using sex as leisure can be used as a coping mechanism for those suffering with depression – providing meaning and connection in times of mental ill-health (ibid). In these ways, sex is portrayed in secular culture as a completely normal and appropriate way to experience connection. Some participants were in relationships with non-Christians, which were implicated heavily by this secular norm. Jessica wrote:

He wasn't a Christian and didn't understand why we couldn't share a bed. It almost offended him that I had said that, I think he saw it as me suggesting that I didn't trust him to respect me.

This highlights the extent to which abstaining from sex is almost alien to those who do not hold religious beliefs, and this caused difficulties for participants for various reasons. I therefore argue that participants often incorporated secular ideas whilst forming their beliefs about sex outside of marriage. To varying degrees, they agreed with notions that sex is a healthy part of life which should not be restricted for many reasons. I also point out that this is almost the opposite of the traditional Christian viewpoint, which maintains that sex in the wrong context is damaging and unhealthy.

On a related note, participants appeared to have incorporated notions about the importance of pleasure into their understandings of marriage and sexual relationships. For example, Sarah suggested that she wanted to have sex with her partner before they married because she felt they needed to "get to know that part of [themselves]" first. Other participants also suggested that there were risks involved in marrying someone with whom they had not been sexually intimate. I suggest that this concern demonstrates fairly secular perspectives about sex and marriage. All Christian

understandings of marriage emphasise sacrifice and life-long companionship, which chooses the good of the other rather than the self. I therefore suggest that worrying that sex might not be "good" with their future spouse suggests that participants had been influenced by a more secular view of marriage. Participants appeared to have been influenced by secular culture in the ways that they placed less emphasis on the fact that marriage is a permanent covenant which often requires sacrifice over one's own pleasure. In these ways, a secular view of sex appeared to have seeped into these unmarried Christians' understandings of sex; rather than seeing it as a God-given tool to unify and strengthen a lifelong bond to be used for the glory of God, some appeared to see sex more as a fundamental right of human existence which should be easy and pleasurable at all times.

Participants had also adopted more recent social norms about female sexuality into their beliefs about sex, which the Church as a whole is still coming to terms with. In an interview with James, he said about church culture:

## It seems like a Christian relationship, presented to us, is that a guy should always want sex, girls never do, the wife would occasionally give in and do it.

When he realised that his girlfriend also had strong sexual desires, he began to disregard his initial expectations about women's sexuality. Young adults in this study appeared to be in the process of deconstructing remnants of Victorian Christianity which saw female desire as shameful and an unnecessary concern in relationships (Balswick, 2008). In this way, they are aligning themselves with modern secular culture, which has been acknowledging female sexual desire increasingly since the 1920's (ibid). The idea that women's desire is often as strong, if not stronger, than their male partners is becoming more normalised in society today – although there still appears to be an expectation that men will struggle more than women to practice self-control. Giddens (1993) discussed 'plastic sexuality' as a phenomenon which followed the advent of contraception and removed reproduction from sexual desire, leading to an acknowledgement of women's sexual

enjoyment and began to encourage an unashamedly active pursuit of sexual pleasure (Daniluk, 2003).

I suggest that participants had been coming to terms with the fact that sexual desire for women is much more normal than tradition had led them to believe. Judith explained why she often "pushed [her] boundaries", saying, as if surprised: "honestly, I enjoyed it!". Similarly, Louise said "we lay there for ages afterwards, and I remember not actually being able to believe that we'd done it and that sex was that good". Similarly, Sophie said: "in the moment and even afterward I really enjoyed it". This research demonstrates that fact that Christian men like James only grew to understand women's desires after they had begun being sexually intimate with them. Interestingly, female participants did not seem to feel any more shame than men did about their sexual desires or the fact that they found pleasure in their experiences – in fact, some agreed with secular society that desire and pleasure were valid reasons to allow sex outside of marriage. In these ways, then, participants had been influenced by both secular and religious trends and found themselves negotiating between the two.

Participants also consulted secular sexual ethics to establish their beliefs about what they felt were appropriate and safe sexual situations. The #MeToo movement, founded in 2006, revealed the prevalence of sexual assault and abuse in the contemporary world, rightly highlighting the need for more awareness about consensual sex. These positive steps to reduce sexual violence and coercion have added a dimension to sexual morality which some participants have used to help them form beliefs about their sexual activity outside of marriage. Some participants incorporated questions about whether the sex is respectful, a demonstration of love, and enjoyable for both people into their decisions about sex. Some participants felt that if there was no harm caused, having sex outside of marriage was not too much of a concern. For example, Sophie commented:

Being sexually intimate with someone brings you infinitely closer to another being, and I think it's best that that happens within a loving relationship, where each party is respected. But in my experience, I felt I was in a loving relationship and I knew I was respected, so I struggled to see how it could be so wrong.

This demonstrates the ways in which dominant societal themes such as consent and female sexual empowerment were incorporated into my participants' religious understandings of sex, both in and out of marriage. In these ways, participants are being influenced by secular society in positive ways, demonstrating that, to some extent, there are benefits of incorporating other sources into the formation of religious beliefs.

So far I have examined the ways in which my participants formed their own belief systems, made up of Christian teaching, secular cultural norms, and personal feelings and experiences. My research demonstrates that many participants' beliefs about sex were in a constant state of flux, susceptible to drastic change at any point. Without firm and constant beliefs about sexuality, participants often found themselves acting out of confusion and indecisiveness – which, combined with the urgency of sexual and romantic desire in their relationships, led them to behave in ways they later regretted. I will now discuss the impacts of these actions or behaviours and the ways they, in turn, shaped identity and also reshaped belief.

# The relationship between wavering convictions, "sinful" behaviour, and belief systems

These incomplete, malleable, and precarious sets of beliefs about sex outside of marriage appear to have led participants to change their beliefs in order to fit in with their experiences. Because many of my participants acted on sexual opportunities before they had fully decided what they believed about them, they became influenced by many more factors than they would have been before the act. Interestingly, participants reflecting on these internal conflicts openly acknowledged this risk. For example, James was worried that his "experiences might be taking [him] down a path that [he] want[s] to be true" after he "fell in love with [his] flatmate who wasn't a Christian". It was apparent that those who had not decided what they believed did feel at risk of letting their experiences of sex lead their beliefs or opinions about it. In a similar way to James, David also had these reservations:

"I was quite susceptible to compromising on sexual ethics in the relationship, perhaps in order to please Rachel, or in order to please myself by getting what I thought I wanted."

He also said that he had sex for the first time with his girlfriend and then "was like 'hmm. I should think about this'." He explained that at this point, he thought briefly about it and then "reached a decision - or convinced [himself he] had - and then just stuck with it". This decision allowed him to have sex without feeling guilty throughout the whole of the relationship, until the relationship ended. Only after it ended, and he stopped having sex, did he come to terms with his beliefs about sex outside of marriage. He admitted that the arguments he used to make this decision had been largely influenced by his desires to continue having sex with his girlfriend. Louise and James also discussed the fact that they had made boundaries with their partners with the underlying motivation being what they wanted to do at the time of discussion. For example, after Louise and her partner had tried oral sex for the first time, she said they "subtly" made the decision to claim that "it didn't count as actual sex" but "it was obvious" that rather than "basing it on actual beliefs about whether it was okay", it was based more "on the fact that [they] wanted to do again - but neither of [them] admitted this to the other". They also noted that discussions about "loosening boundaries" tended to take place in the heat of the moment, rather than before any sexual intimacy or temptation had begun. James laughed about this topic in an interview and said, "you're definitely more lenient when the temptation to do it again is right there in front of you". Based on these participants then, I suggest that young adults who have not yet fully formed beliefs about sex outside of marriage are at risk of enjoying sexual experiences and allowing them to shape the formation process.

This highlights the importance of Jonathan Mair's (2013) argument that allowances must be made, 'using an ethnographic sensibility that allows for people's reflexive relationship to their own belief to register' (p452). Only then, Mair argues, will we get close to understanding the 'contours' of belief. On a related note, Ammerman (2020) also highlights the necessity of a practice approach for understanding religion. She emphasises the 'hybridity of social life' and that 'just as work, family, and politics are mutually implicated, so religious practices are not confined to a single institution or uniquely untouched by patterns that originate in other spheres' (p13). My participants highlight the fact that holding a moral belief to be true is a complex and shifting process, requiring analysis of phenomenological experiences, structural domains, and cognitive schemas. Whilst many participants, when considering this topic, saw it as an objective fact that "most Christians believe extra-marital sex [is] a sin and that everyone obviously knew that", my results demonstrate that believing something to be morally unacceptable according to the bible and embodying those beliefs are two very different things. This section has explained the ways in which my participants acknowledged that their experiences of sexual intimacy outside of marriage, which usually happened before they had fully come to any conclusions about their beliefs, led them to alter their beliefs according to their subsequent feelings and desires. This will be explored further in the following chapter, using Festinger's theory of cognitive dissonance, as I explore the impacts of participants' actions on their identity as Christians, and therefore the implications on subsequent beliefs and actions.

To conclude this chapter, I have discussed the frustrations that many participants felt about the teaching they had received about sex. Many ascribed some of the blame to authority figures for failing to provide them with adequate explanations for the "don't have sex until you're married" trope and allowing them to learn the hard way, having sex and then regretting it. I then explored some of the ways in which this limited or, in some cases, non-existent discourses led participants to form their own beliefs. I described the factors that led to the creation of 'alternative discourses'

about sex which were formed according to concoctions of their own sexual experiences, aspects of secular narratives, reactions to Christian dogma, and their own understandings of God. Finally, I emphasised participants' experiences of the complexities involved in holding beliefs to be true. The chapter demonstrated the fact that religious beliefs are constantly being formed and maintained, usually through the exertion of much emotional, physical, intellectual, and spiritual effort.

### <u>Chapter 2: Cognitive dissonance and avoidance</u> <u>strategies</u>

Having explored the ways in which belief and action have interacted in the lives of participants whilst coming to terms with their sexual behaviour, I will now explore the impact that these dynamics have on their Christian identity. I will use cognitive dissonance theory to understand some of the behaviour shown in the narratives and interviews, suggesting that participants have responded to their own actions in ways predicted by Leon Festinger (1957), using various tactics to reduce dissonance whilst acting against their beliefs. I also use my results to suggest that cognitions about the self were amplified and strengthened when they were used successfully as motivation to avoid discrepant behaviours, which then resulted in further avoidance of dissonance-inducing behaviours as a result of their reinforced Christian identity.

The theory of cognitive dissonance was first defined by Festinger (ibid) to explain the discomfort caused by perceived inconsistencies between pairs of cognitive elements. The theory assumes that people strive for 'cognitive integrity' and 'subsequent congruent behaviour' (Bosco, 2016, p9), leading to the conclusion that when a person makes decisions that go against their core beliefs, they experience psychological struggle and seek to alleviate the discrepancy. Studies of cognitive dissonance therefore predict, for example, that when individuals believe that sexual activity outside of marriage is wrong, but they also engage in sexual activity outside of marriage, they will feel discomfort. Festinger also suggests that the level of discomfort experienced will be proportional to the importance placed on the cognitions by the actor. My research agrees with these predictions, and I suggest that my participants' experiences can be more fully understood through the lens of cognitive dissonance theory. All of my participants experienced discomfort when their behaviour

did not match their beliefs about sex and all of them appeared to employ strategies to reduce feelings of dissonance in various ways, as I will outline in this chapter.

The role of the self-concept is important for understanding cognitive dissonance, but theorists disagree on how cognitions about the self influence the 'arousal and reduction of cognitive dissonance' (Cooper and Stone, 2001, p228); whether cognitions about the self create expectations which result in dissonance arousal, or provide resources for dissonance reduction, or are not linked at all has been debated for some time. Aronson (1968) argued that dissonance is most significant when the behaviour goes against some inherent aspect of the actor's self-concept due to our innate desire to maintain a stable sense of self, and I use my findings to agree with this and also to suggest that dissonance, in these instances, can then lead to dramatic shifts in the identity of the actor as they alter their self-concept in order to relieve the discomfort. The interplay between identity and action becomes important as we uncover the ways in which participants sought to reduce cognitive dissonance. For some, the dissonance caused when they acted against their expectations of the self-concept led them to compartmentalise aspects of the self so that the 'Christian self' did not interact with the 'sexual self'. Alternatively, participants sought to adjust the self-concept, which involved changing the beliefs held or the importance ascribed to them. Finally, there were some participants who demonstrated ways in which their identity as Christians helped them to withhold from sex, preventing dissonance-causing behaviour successfully. In these cases, the self-concept was therefore an influential factor when these participants made the decision to avoid having sex. I now explore these different tactics of avoiding cognitive dissonance in relation to sex outside of marriage, and the influences of and impacts on participants' identities.

Participants all saw themselves as Christians seeking to obey God's commands, and this formed a large part of their self-concept. Their Christian worldview, which gave them varying levels of belief that God created sex for marriage, led them to see "purity" and "abstinence" as part of their identity as unmarried Christians. In these instances, they seemed to make every effort to avoid sex, and when they failed to do so, they were deeply affected. John wrote about his relationship with his first girlfriend, saying that they "gradually became more and more intimate, but never [went] 'all the way' because that wasn't Christian". About his current girlfriend, he wrote that their sexual intimacy developed slowly due to their attempts to prevent it, "until [they] went 'all the way' and [he] lost an aspect of [his] identity as being celibate for God". John went on to say that he "was humbled and prayed about it, cried a lot, and ate a lot of doughnuts", pointing towards the intensity of spiritual and emotional turmoil that so many of my participants experienced. In John's case, we see the impacts of the conflict between his current identity as an unmarried Christian man who was having sex and his belief that God designed sex for marriage. Because he could no longer identify as "being celibate for God", he experienced intense discomfort and a sense of alienation from his sexual desires, which took many years to heal. I therefore suggest that the self-concept is an important part of cognitive dissonance in both the ways that it causes it and the ways it is affected.

#### Tactic 1 – Categorise the self

The phrase "living a double life" was explicitly mentioned in seven narratives and three interviews, implying that this uncomfortable experience of living with conflicting cognitions is common among Christians who are sexually active whilst believing they should not be. Joe wrote:

This mainly happened at a confusing time in my faith and I am sure was partly a rift that I felt between myself and members of my church as I never really talked to anyone about it and often felt like I was living a bit of a double life.

Like Joe, other participants also reported living a life which involved acting on sexual urges, causing a disjunction between their "Christian faith and identity on the one hand" and their "powerful sexual desires on the other". In an interview, Luke said that he was partially ambivalent about his actions when he used to have sex with strangers because "it didn't feel like [him]", to the extent that his mentor had to point out that "there's only one Luke – you did that". In these ways, Luke appeared to have separated his religious beliefs from his sexual actions. He explained the process he went through during sexual activity:

...every time I've done that I've just shut God out. Not like a bit, but like a 180° to like disregard him completely... I didn't want to think about, because I knew what he thought, I know he doesn't want me to do that. And I knew if I thought like that I wouldn't do it.

I suggest that many of my participants categorised their sex lives, keeping them separate from their faith lives in order to reduce the discomfort caused by cognitive dissonance. In an interview, David said that he did not experience guilt regularly, even at church when there was talk of sin. He suggested that this was because he "tend[s] to package stuff up", and it is not until he "actually sit[s] down and think[s] about it" that he acknowledges that "it was a really stupid thing to do". When talking about his sexual guilt and awareness of his sin, he said "it didn't really come up in church… probably because [he'd] unconsciously separated church from everything else". He noted that before communion, confession of sins or reflection can often feel "a bit like going through the motions". David's words imply that his experiences in church have limited connection to his sexual experiences - though he believed sex outside marriage was sinful, his sexual relationship with his girlfriend rarely came to mind in church when people talked about sin. Festinger's (1957) theory of cognitive dissonance makes sense of these semi-conscious attempts to separate the religious and the sexual identity, suggesting that my participants had successfully prevented many moments of the potentially painful awareness of the dissonance between their beliefs about sexuality and their sexual behaviours.

As well as categorising different aspects of the self, I suggest that those with Christian partners also categorised their relationships in a similar way. Louise wrote that the physical intimacy with her Christian boyfriend made them feel like they almost had two separate relationships: the sexual one and the spiritual one:

I felt, in these moments, very separate from God. Almost as if I had shut him out of the room so he couldn't see. This part of our relationship did not fit alongside our Christian part. We both regularly prayed for strength against this temptation, but it rarely came up in other contexts. We usually only discussed it or prayed about it whilst we were actually dealing with the sexual temptation or regret right there and then. We were never able to enjoy or explore our sexuality without making God completely separate. And then we'd go to church together and grow as Christian leaders together and we'd basically be acting like a completely different couple to the one that has sex.

At this point it is important to consider the ways in which cognitive dissonance is being navigated not just by the individual, but by both of the individuals in Christian relationships. They both must combine their own beliefs, opinions, and experiences and then enter into negotiations together to make a moral decision: whether to go through with the sexual acts or to abstain until married. With two people taking part in this process of categorisation to keep aspects of their relationship separate to avoid dissonance, I suggest that the impacts of the two categories finally "clashing" back together is likely to cause deep hurt and add complications to the relationship. I suggest that two people going through cognitive dissonance adds a layer of complexity to the discomfort both individuals are going through, and I also suggest that the relationship is also likely to offer distractions, often in the form of sexual temptation, as they both try to negotiate their own identities.

Interestingly, most participants separated the two lives unconsciously; it happened without them really noticing whilst they were distracted by the sexual activity. However, Nadia wrote the following in her narrative:

My partner's sister talks to me a lot about her thoughts on it and she once said quite an interesting phrase: I've separated sex from theology. I found this quite challenging as it wasn't the fact it was sex, more just the process of separating something from theology feels like a slippery slope. She said this comment when she has just started dating a non-Christian guy, she's 25 and has decided she wants to have sex because she's separated sex from God.

Whilst Nadia is consciously aware of the option and had chosen not to allow any separation of the faith life and the sex life in her relationship, her partner's sister had consciously made the decision and had actively separated the two in order to have sex without feeling guilty. This is interesting because most participants realised that this separation was happening at a certain point, either during or after they had sexual encounters, and at that point they felt deeply uncomfortable and sought to reconcile the dissonance. In this case, Nadia partner's sister had consciously rationalised it in her head and decided that it was acceptable to keep her sex life apart from her faith life. It would have been interesting to hear her rationale and find out how she did this in practice, and whether she had separated any other parts of her identity or her relationship from her faith or not. Future research could focus on Christians who actively rationalise separations like this and use them to enjoy behaviours they previously classed as "sinning". For now though, I simply point out that most participants did not actively separate the identities, and upon realising that this had happened, they tended to feel discomfort about it.

Participants had different experiences of how long these categorisations of the self lasted and how difficult they found it when they eventually "clashed" back together. Nadia's partner's sister, who had consciously made the separation of "God and sex", told her after a few months of having sex with her boyfriend:

It appears the separation of sex from theology was not as easy as it first appeared, and it's been quite a hard journey. For some participants, the Christian identity emerged very suddenly after the act, but others experienced long periods of sexual activity, which, more often than not, meant that they "dimmed down" the Christian self. Some disengaged with church and avoided Christian community altogether for long periods of time, whereas others seemed to switch between the two in a continual conflict, going to church and feeling guilty, then avoiding it for a while until they felt "convicted" again. Some participants even became more active in church to make up for the conflicting behaviour, with some continuing to lead worship or small groups whilst they were experiencing the spiritual and emotional turmoil resulting from their sexual experiences. Louise wrote that during intimacy with her Christian boyfriend, they both felt "very separate from God" and like they "had shut him out of the room so he couldn't see". For her, these feelings of being separated from God tended to last a while after the intimacy with her boyfriend, until she had "another encounter with God" where she would "realise, with relief, that God still loves [her] and wants the best for [her]". In these moments, she would commit to trying to "avoid having sex with [her] boyfriend again" and would feel "at one with God and led by the Holy Spirit".

Sonya Sharma's (2011) research with young Christian women points to similar avoidance strategies as those noted above, finding that some of her participants 'disappeared in sex' (p69) due to conflicts between their sexual and Christian identities. Interestingly, they became passive in sexual intimacy, shutting off from their experiences and refusing to fully engage with the pleasure of the acts. In this way, Sharma's participants did not give their 'entire sexual selves' (p70) to the encounters, making them feel less responsible for their perceived deviant behaviour. Although Sharma's findings demonstrate the same strategies of separating the spiritual and the sexual self, it is interesting to note that my participants, rather than becoming physically passive in sexual activity, were more likely to "shut down" their Christian identity and beliefs about sex; at the point of extreme arousal it was more common for my participants to almost switch from embodying their faith to embodying their sexuality – allowing them to fully experience and take part in the sexual

acts whilst avoiding the discomfort of dissonance. Regardless of which self participants tended to shut down, both mine and Sharma's research add to the theory of cognitive dissonance by showing that one tactic of avoiding discomfort is to keep the two conflicting cognitions distinctly separate; in order to engage with their sexuality, unmarried Christians tend to shut out God, and in order to engage with God, they tend to shut out their sexuality.

My participants' experiences suggest that, although people often manage to reduce their awareness of the dissonance and therefore the negative emotions it produces, this does not usually last long and people tend to crash back to reality upon realisation that the two cognitions, ultimately, continue to conflict. Participants did note specific instances when the two overlapped in uncomfortable, and often painful, ways. For example, Sophie wrote that in the moment, and even afterwards, she really enjoyed being sexually intimate with her boyfriend, but when she "got to church on Sunday" she felt "deeply ashamed – dirty almost – and definitely a failed Christian". More than this – two male participants identified moments where, during sexual intimacy, their awareness of their sin became extremely obvious when their discomfort was manifested physically in instances of sexual dysfunction. These examples will be discussed further in Chapter 3, where I discuss the role of the body in acts of dissonance.

In this section I have laid out the first tactic that my participants tended to employ in order to reduce cognitive dissonance whilst enjoying sexual intimacy outside of marriage. By assigning their sex lives to a distinct and separate category, they were able to quieten the discomfort caused by the inconsistencies between belief and behaviour. I now move on to discuss another tactic; rather than keeping the religious identity separate, participants decide to change it to reduce the inconsistencies themselves.

#### Tactic 2 – Change the self

Perhaps more extreme than categorising parts of their lives, some participants pointed towards significant and long-lasting identity transitions that took place after their first few sexual experiences, which then shaped the behaviour or lifestyle that followed. Naomi, who had resisted "even kissing guys" in order to avoid sexual temptation, wrote that she "stopped declining guys" after she was pressured into her first experience of sexual intimacy with a boy she liked. Because she felt she had "gone too far to please God", her boundaries loosened, and she let "guys do what they wanted". Similarly, Luke spoke of his first sexual encounter at the age of 15, saying that "once that 'line' had been crossed, it was hard to stay on 'the other side' of it again". These experiences were common among my participants as their "failings" clashed with their sense of self, resulting in identity crises and subsequent attempts to re-establish the self in order to regain stability. These experiences were often extremely damaging to the individual's emotional wellbeing, with pressing questions of identity, purpose, and even fears of divine retribution (Pitt, 2010) causing emotional and spiritual distress. In addition to these tumultuous emotions, participants often isolated themselves from their Christian community, which exacerbated the intensity of their questions about identity and belief. It is therefore unsurprising that initial sexual experiences, for some participants, led to symptoms of varying degrees of trauma, anxiety, and depression. These consequences will be explored further in chapter 5.

Research in the US (Uecker, Regnerus and Vaaler, 2007; Regnerus and Uecker 2006) found similar results regarding identity change after sexual debut. Young Christians in America very often began to alter their religious beliefs after having sex outside of marriage due to the guilt experienced, allowing them to reduce the importance placed on their sense of "purity" or "identity as being celibate for God" and therefore reducing the extent of the distress felt. This resulted in participants going to church less, spending less time in Christian community, and often eventually abandoning their faith altogether. Similarly, Kimberley Mahaffy's (1996) study with female Christians who were

in same-sex relationships found that they were more likely to alter their cognitions than live with conflicting beliefs. She identified different tactics they used to change their beliefs about sexuality; some emphasised biblical principles of love and acceptance over conduct, others focused on God as creator (of people and their sexualities) and still others drew from definitions of God to provide accepting interpretations of bible verses. If, after questioning, they felt that the cognitions and actions were not compatible, they often then left Christian faith altogether. My participants also engaged in long processes of adapting their beliefs in similar ways, as discussed in Chapter 1's section on the formation of alternative discourses. Louise wrote:

We justified each boundary after we had broken it and said that it would mean that we wouldn't have sex - and that was the main thing. We both admitted that if we kept extending these moments of intimacy, we would inevitably end up having sex before we were married. We constantly moved in between the boundaries we set, relaxing them based on dubious logic and enjoying sexual intimacy, and then feeling guilty and tightening them again.

In this way, Louise and her boyfriend negotiated their beliefs as a couple according to what they had been doing or had wanted to do in the moment. In this example, they extended their boundaries with the rationale that going to the "next boundary" would stop them having sex, which in their opinion "was the main thing". Cognitive dissonance theory can be used here to highlight the potential motives for making extreme changes to belief following, or immediately prior to, engaging in behaviours that go against previous beliefs. My participants again provide evidence of the complexities involved in holding challenging ethical beliefs, and the identity work individuals do continuously whilst doing so. I suggest that cognitive dissonance theory helps us to understand some of the processes and the underlying motives behind the alteration of belief.

As explored in Chapter 1, participants pointed out the fact that they did not really know what they believed about sex outside of marriage. I wonder whether this hesitation to come to any final moral conclusions about sex is another tactic that allows people to remain sexually active outside of

marriage with limited dissonance arousal. Rather than seeking to completely change their beliefs after conflicting behaviour, I suggest that some participants tended to remain confused and unsure about what they believed was morally acceptable outside of marriage, allowing them to have sexual intimacy with their partners without experiencing dissonance. Furthermore, many pointed to their church's failings to help them conclude and consolidate their beliefs prior to their sexual exploration. As discussed in Chapter 1, many participants were of the opinion that there are not really any concrete guidelines about the specifics of sexual conduct outside of marriage, and therefore sought to "experiment" and "figure things out" for themselves. Others appeared to busy themselves in order to limit thinking about their beliefs, often continuing with their actions despite not really knowing what they thought about them. Many also emphasised the speed with which their sexual intimacy increased, emphasising the ways they got "swept up" in it all without properly "sitting down to think about it". Judith wrote about her relationship with a nominal Christian:

Our relationship escalated at an alarming speed. Any boundaries that I thought I would have in a relationship disintegrated rapidly, and it wasn't long before we slept together. The novelty and excitement of a physical relationship meant that I buried the feelings of guilt I had knowing that I was sinning against God.

This tactic of minimising dissonance by disengaging with the thought processes required to form, hold, and stick to their moral standpoints appeared to be effective up until the point at which they, for whatever reason, eventually ended up stopping the dissonance arousing behaviour. At this point, participants appeared to find time and space to acknowledge what they believed and evaluate their behaviour accordingly. David explained that it was only after his girlfriend, who he had been sleeping with for months, broke up with him that he had to come to terms with his beliefs about sex, which was a painful process and led to bouts of depression and suicidal thoughts. I therefore suggest that some young adults may avoid coming to any firm conclusions about their beliefs on sex before marriage, allowing them to act on their desires without discomfort, but I also point out

that this technique is likely to an abrupt and painful end, with participants deciding what they believe about sex too late.

Similarly to this, some participants appeared to go along with what their partners believed was acceptable rather than fully coming to conclusions by themselves, particularly if they had already been sexually active in some way. Hannah wrote about the events following a church seminar on sex:

Unsurprisingly, several of them said that you shouldn't be doing some of the things that we were doing outside of marriage... my boyfriend came away from this evening worried about what we were doing and thinking that we should stop, but I wasn't convinced... I thought that their advice might be helpful for people who were more easily tempted to go all the way and commit the 'actual sin' (penis in vagina sex), but we were more self-controlled than those people, so it didn't apply to us... things continued as usual for a while. Over the next couple of months, Matt withdrew more and more... he eventually said it was because he thought what we were doing was wrong. He'd sort of hinted at this before but I assumed, since we continued being sexually intimate, that he continued to share my views that it was in fact ok...

In this way, Hannah's boyfriend appears to have been trying to limit his feelings of dissonance by leaving the burden of decision with his sexual partner – he went along with their sexual intimacy because Hannah believed it was okay, and even though he had been worried it was wrong for a long time, he did not voice his concerns but continued being sexually intimate with her. Similarly, David explicitly said that part of his rationale for deciding to have sex with his non-Christian girlfriend was "to make her happy" because she didn't "see any problem with sex outside of marriage". Similarly, Louise talked about the ways that she and her boyfriend would often "subtly try to turn the other on more so that it wasn't [their] own decision to break [their] boundaries". In this way, some participants appeared to be in a process of negotiation with both their own sexual

and spiritual self, and then their partner's as well. Some even led the other to make the decision to "sin" in order to negotiate the blame away from the self.

Other participants behaved in similar ways, particularly those who were being sexually intimate with partners who were not Christians. Jessica and Naomi both gave in to physical desire because they felt guilty when their partners wanted to keep going further. Their non-Christian partners could not understand why they did not want to be physically intimate with them, which led them to relax their boundaries until they eventually had sex. Cognitive dissonance theory would interpret these behaviours as attempts to alleviate the discrepancy between the belief and the desire to act against it, by putting someone else into the position of responsibility. This tactic, where sexual acts are consensual but initiated by one member, allow the other to feel less responsible for the dissonance arousing behaviour. These nuances of consent and boundaries are discussed in later chapters.

These behaviours were far more common if participants were acting against their sexual beliefs on a regular basis, as opposed to "making a mistake" once or twice. Controlled psychological research found that when forced to behave in ways that were contrary to their beliefs people tended to internalise that behaviour, altering moral views to maintain a coherent sense of self. For example, if participants were forced to tell small lies, they then altered their moral views about lying afterwards (Jones, 1981). Researchers also found that people were more likely to end up holding the new belief permanently if they were asked to carry out the behaviour more than once (Collins and Hoyt, 1972). I add to this research; according to my participants, the likelihood of altering cognitions permanently depended on how many times the individual acted in dissonance inducing ways. Of my participants, those who had more regular sexual encounters whilst believing they should not were much more likely to change their cognitions to align with this behaviour, whilst those who only had one night stands did not feel the need to alter any cognitions. I therefore argue that young adults who regularly behave in ways that do not match the self-concept, i.e., have sex outside of marriage regularly, are likely to alter their self-concept in some way to reduce discomfort.

In what I am calling tactic 2, my participants opted to negotiate and adapt their own religious beliefs and identity in order to avoid the discomfort of cognitive dissonance. Many admitted altering their boundaries according to their feelings and desires at the time of arousal, whilst others went through long periods of identity shifts or even turned away from their Christian faith altogether. Alternatively, participants appeared to almost feign ignorance by avoiding coming to any firm conclusions about their sexual ethics and boundaries, and others allowed their partners to make the decisions for them so that they could avoid blame. I now turn to the final tactic that was common for my participants, which actually resulted in a stronger sense of Christian identity and a strong desire to avoid dissonance-arousing behaviours.

#### Tactic 3 – Amplify the self

Having discussed the ways in which participants sought to prevent dissonance whilst being sexually active, I will now explore the ways in which my participants employed the threat of dissonance to avoid temptation; they allowed their beliefs, and therefore the expectations associated with their self-concepts, to prevent sexual activity outside of marriage. When employed successfully, this strengthened the religious identity and led to further successful dissonance-avoidance in occasions afterwards, and vice versa. Luke explored his spiritual understanding of this:

I think there is an element to which we, through the thing we worship, define who we are... if I'm a Christian... and if I worship God I then become more like him. But I don't know if there's a thing where... if you worship other things, I think it feels like an allegiance thing to me. Like who or what you give your allegiance to, then it starts to shift and you feel that's where your identity lies. Luke attributed this dynamic to a strengthened sense of religious self; when he acted with selfcontrol and avoided dissonance, these actions fed positively into his religious identity, which then led to further dissonance-avoidance. This explains some of the more productive ways in which the self is developed and shaped by actions and decisions that are in line with the religious identity and the cognitions that form it. When participants "chose to obey and avoid the temptation", they aligned themselves with their beliefs and their actions produced a stronger religious "allegiance".

This is almost entirely opposite to the response of tactic 2, where the actions taken forced changes to the Christian identity, leading to further actions against their previous beliefs and self-concepts. I suggest that some of my participants' experiences gave insight into an element of cognitive dissonance that has not been thoroughly explored: the ways that the internal threat of dissonance can actually lead to positive experiences of belief and action being united, resulting in reinforced cognitions. In this way, the theory of cognitive dissonance can be used not only to explain the discomfort experienced when acting against religious beliefs, but also to understand more fully the feelings of satisfaction experienced when people act in accordance with their cognitions. In one narrative which was written with a sense of relief that he was no longer having sexual encounters with strangers, Joe wrote about times when he felt "strongly convicted by the Holy Spirit to leave the situations". This happened twice and these events became significant milestones which led him to stop going home with girls, avoiding sexual relationships outside of marriage. In this way, the choice to act in accordance with existing cognitions resulted in a strengthened sense of self with reinforced cognitions.

This chapter has explored the relationship between belief and action, and the impacts that this relationship has on the actor's self-concept. I have noted 3 of the tactics that were used by my participants to avoid the uncomfortable experience of cognitive dissonance; in response to sexual activity which goes against their belief, some participants chose to shift their sense of identity between their faith lives and their sex lives, allowing themselves to enjoy sexual activity unhindered

by the guilt arising from acting against their beliefs. Others responded by altering their beliefs or Christian identity in ways that allow sexual activity outside of marriage with limited discomfort – either disengaging from their Christian community or changing their views on sex and marriage or abandoning their faith altogether. And finally, tactic 3 explored the more positive impacts of cognitive dissonance – the ways in which participants used their beliefs about marriage, and their awareness of the impact that acting against these will have, to avoid sexual activity and therefore act in agreement with their cognitions.

### <u>Chapter 3: The body and the self: a tumultuous</u> <u>relationship</u>

Having explored the ways in which belief and action interact, I will now discuss the physical experiences of these interactions in more depth as well as looking at the ways bodily actions impact on the religious self. I use the narratives and my interviews with participants to identify patterns of both bodily and spiritual experience before, during, and after engaging in acts they had labelled "sinful". I will explore some of the physical responses to this dissonance causing behaviour and the impacts these responses had on participants and their partners. As well as this, I also seek to understand the process by which participants embodied religious beliefs by abstaining from sex. This impacts the body and, in turn, the religious self, which leads to a mutually reinforcing relationship between both the body and the religious self.

The chapter engages with Meredith McGuire's (2007, 2008, 2016) discussions of religion and the body. She describes the ways in which religious belief becomes embodied through religious practice, building on the existing religious identities of the actors. I use my findings to add to this and to suggest that the opposite is also true; sexual acts, practised by individuals who believed they were sinful in their context, appeared to have a diminishing impact on their religious identities. I conclude that, through the same mechanism which sees ascetic discipline regulate the body and establish distinct religious identities, perceived sinful acts – such as sex outside of marriage - can lead to confused and undefined religious identities through the lack of this disciplinary regulation of the religious body. This chapter also explores the ways in which 'society inscribes itself' (McGuire, 1990, p284) upon the bodies of believers through mediation and observance, and the impact this had on participants' sense of self. Along with McGuire's work, I also find Bourdieu's theories helpful for understanding the relationship between the body and society, offering insights

into the ways in which participants did or did not use their socially informed bodies (Bourdieu, 1977) to enact religious meaning, and providing explanations for the identity transitions discussed in previous chapters. I explore in depth the emotional, physical, spiritual, and societal impacts of participants having sex outside of marriage as I analyse participants' actions through the lens of Bourdieu's theory of practice.

#### The socially informed body and the production of "not wanting"

Bourdieu made a distinction between belief and practical belief; a process by which our bodies connect actions to cognitions and thereby form a socialized body which is disciplined according to doctrines and dogmas supplied by the actors' community. Through observation and repetition, Bourdieu argues, we learn practices in the same way that we learn language, building up vocabularies of behaviour along with their ascribed meanings. He calls the body a 'living memory pad' which acts automatically and 'leads the mind unconsciously along with it' (Bourdieu, 2000, p68). He added that this process embeds learned senses of justice and morality, thus establishing an ethical framework through which we interpret the world and the ways our bodies act within it. He wrote the following:

The socially informed body, with its tastes and distastes, its compulsions and repulsions, with, in a word, all its senses, that is to say, not only the traditional five senses-which never escape the structuring action of social determinisms-but also the sense of necessity and the sense of duty, the sense of direction and the sense of reality, the sense of balance and the sense of beauty, common sense and the sense of the sacred, tactical sense and the sense of responsibility, business sense and the sense of propriety, the sense of balance and the sense and the sense of propriety, the sense of balance and the sense and the sense of propriety, the sense of balance and the sense of processibility, and so on.

Pierre Bourdieu, 1977, p124

Bourdieu named these frameworks and dispositions the 'habitus' and suggested that this is responsible for shaping the 'social agent', imbuing the perceptions, practices, and responses of the individual in everyday life. The habitus steers values and preferences, filters opinions and emotional responses, and leads the direction of our desires and ambitions. Importantly the habitus is internalised within the context of the 'field', the social realm the individual finds themselves in - the 'arena' in which social relations take place between different 'agents and institutions'. Bourdieu refers to social relations as competitive in nature, as agents 'struggle' over the acquisition of 'capital' within the relevant fields. He identifies the habitus as the driving force behind all social interaction because it is responsible for leading the agents' pursuits of symbolic 'capital' (Donahay, 2004). For example, the habitus would provide the motivation required to work hard in order to achieve an academic degree, which becomes a form of intellectual capital within the field of academia. It has been suggested that fields are 'relatively autonomous' and 'interrelated', which allows for the transfer of capital from one to the other (Rey, 2014, p45).

However, my research highlights some of the critiques of Bourdieu's theories of practice. One limitation is the fact that it does not seem to make sense of situations wherein gaining capital through social practice in some fields can result in the loss of capital in another. My participants were often faced with conflicting desires and prompts; to practice abstinence would provide symbolic capital within their religious field, but to enjoy sexual activity would provide capital in the forms of prestige, pleasure, and experience within other social fields. For example, Tom wrote that he had "a feeling of shame around [his] sexuality since being a young boy" due to his church environment which "both implicitly or explicitly communicated the idea of sex as something forbidden". Though he physically enjoyed most of his sexual experiences, he said that he was "aware that it was not morally good" during the acts, and that they eventually led to "misery and guilt" because he felt he could not "resist [his] sexual impulses". It is clear that although Tom's habitus led him to *want* to abstain from sex until marriage in order to acquire the symbolic capital

of holiness and purity, his physical desires prevented him from enacting his beliefs. Furthermore, he "boasted about it to lads at school" whilst feeling deep shame at home and church, demonstrating the fact that some forms of social capital are of benefit within certain social fields, but of detriment in others. Tom gained capital in the form of respect and status by boasting about his actions in one 'field', whilst doing the same in his church or family sphere would have had the opposite effect, stripping him of valuable perceptions of holiness or commitment to his beliefs. He therefore chose to alter his behaviour according to the field he was in, in order to maximise social capital and establish himself both as one of the "lads" at school and "committed to [his] faith" at church. Louise's narrative also highlighted the clashing of 'fields' and the fact that gaining capital in some areas of social life forced her to lose it in others. She pointed to the "immense frustrations" she experienced with her partner when they chose to stop sexual activity because of their beliefs, with some friends telling her that she was "missing out on physical intimacy" and "growth in [her] relationship". The losses in one field were contrasted by the "intimacy with God" and the sense of "mutual sacrifice" or camaraderie with Christian friends who were also trying to abstain from sex. I therefore agree with critiques of Bourdieu's theory of practice to the extent that, like many theories, it becomes burdened with reductionism due to the neatly defined categorisation of analysis and does not account for the complexities of individual social lives and interactions (Dreyfus and Rabinow, 1993; Yang, 2014). Whilst I believe it offers helpful insights into the formation of my participants' belief systems, and the relationship between them and their actions, I hold it carefully as an analytic tool for understanding the experiential element of decision making and acting.

As mentioned previously, my participants had developed opinions and beliefs, formed by their Christian experiences, which provided defence mechanisms for participants to prevent their bodies from going against their sexual boundaries. Deborah Tolman (2005), in discussion with teenage girls about their sexual experiences, describes a watchfulness that participants' minds exerted over their bodies. She found that they monitored their desires and physical responses according to the 'reservoir of social norms and rules and a compendium of consequences' (p96). More than this, Tolman noted that when girls were tempted to enjoy sex or explore their sexuality, their mind 'chastised' their bodies; the mind acted as a protective figure that worked to keep the body out of trouble. My participants had similar experiences:

Until I was 19, I had never been sexually involved with anyone. I had always been extremely cautious even about kissing people at parties.

Louise

In the nightclub he started dancing with me and trying to kiss me. I had never kissed anyone before and I was not drunk and so was quite embarrassed to decline for about 10 minutes of his attempts that I eventually gave in."

Naomi

After not kissing for the first 3 months (I know), we gradually became more and more intimate, but never going 'all the way' because that wasn't Christian.

John

I went into university with the plan that I wouldn't have sex and I probably wouldn't do much else other than kissing as it might lead to sex.

#### Hannah

These participants had made conscious, premeditated decisions about what they would allow their body to engage in prior to actually being in any sexually intimate situations. In this way, they demonstrate the fiercely protective position of the mind over the body and the extreme measures participants went to in order to prevent their bodies from taking them past a point that they believed was morally acceptable.

In these ways, participants demonstrate a practical outworking of Bourdieu's theory of practice. The habitus of each person, which had been stewarded within their respective field, led the body to practices of restraint and discipline. Like Tolman's participants, their environments had provided them with perceptions of 'risky' situations, which had led some of them to the conclusion that even kissing someone would pose too much of a threat to their body. However, as discussed in chapter 1, it seems that once participants ended up having their first sexual experiences outside of marriage, they often started to re-evaluate their beliefs and opinions about the morality of it. Furthermore, some participants started to challenge the validity of their prior religious beliefs, teachings, and communities due to the "enlightened" position they found themselves in having gained actual sexual experience. This highlights the challenges to Bourdieu's theories by pointing out that although bodies are 'socially informed', individuals do have agency and can very easily change their opinions, beliefs, and preferences as a result of their experiences and their interpretations of them (Adams, 2006). Therefore, I suggest that participants' initial beliefs and actions can be seen as evidence for Bourdieu's theory of the habitus, but the way that many rebelled against the norms of their 'field' and subsequently changed their beliefs demonstrates the malleability of the habitus. It reminds us of the complexities of belief and that theories about human behaviour can rarely predict with certainty due to the unpredictable nature of individual minds and wills.

It is interesting to note the impact of prominent narratives in society on the gender norms or expectations of sexual desire and satisfaction. I have mentioned in chapter 1 the ways in which participants' beliefs and expectations about sex were influenced by both secular and religious society. One participant was surprised when he found that his girlfriend struggled with sexual temptation as much as he did because he had grown up with assumptions that women, particularly Christian women, would not be very interested in sex and would be highly unlikely to act on their desires unless the man was the one who initiated it. Researchers have acknowledged the varying expectations of desire according to traditional gender roles. For example, Anastasia Powell's (2011) research with young people in Australia pointed to the pressures felt by secular men to be the sexual initiators, with the prominent expectation being that men would actively pursue women primarily for the purpose of sex. Some men therefore had the expectation that women do not or should not seek out sexual opportunities. Sharma (2008) discusses similar themes and explores the fact that women tended to 'carry the burden of purity' in relationships due to the 'inscribed Christian femininity on women's sexual identities' (p79). In these ways we can see another way in which, as Bourdieu and McGuire suggest, society inscribes itself upon the bodies of its members, providing them with gendered blueprints for decision making and acting within their social worlds.

My participants demonstrate the tension between habitus and desire; although participants have a socially informed belief system which shapes desire and preference to some extent, their bodily desires (when conflicting with beliefs) can provide challenge to the habitus in ways discussed in Chapter 2. Louise's narrative expresses this tension between the habitus and conflicting physical desires:

The times when we managed to resist our desires felt like the most frustrating times of my life. We both had to try so hard to avoid it, and when we didn't manage to, it was because it felt like an overwhelming, almost out-of-body force... It almost felt like I actually couldn't stop my body at all, no matter how hard I tried. Often I actually heard God, in the moments of my deepest desire, telling me to stop and ask my boyfriend to leave. I would have whole internal dialogues with God or myself about what was happening, but felt I had no strength to stop myself. So we kept enjoying it until we'd finished and then go grovelling back to God afterwards.

Louise

Merleau-Ponty (1962) reminds us that the physical body is the tool with which we analyse subjective reality, and it therefore makes sense that participants *believing* that actions are immoral became very different once they had actually *experienced* sexual desire and pleasure. Only after this did they have the added lens of bodily experience rather than simply the habitus provided by their primary social field. I argue that Bourdieu's habitus provides a helpful starting point for understanding participants' initial beliefs and the formation of them, but I also argue that the habitus which includes beliefs about sex is very easily challenged by the individual's actual sexual experience. I therefore find it useful for understanding the formation process of participants' baseline beliefs, particularly those who grew up going to church, but less useful for exploring the processes of cognitive dissonance involved when "sinning".

Finally, I point out that regardless of whether believers do embody their beliefs successfully or not, society nonetheless continues to 'inscribe itself' on their bodies, which I argue is manifested in the discomfort that participants experience after engaging in sexual acts outside of marriage. In her research with Christian women in Britain and Canada, Sharma (2011) noted similar feelings of guilt and shame experienced by many young Christians over their sexual experiences, demonstrating that although they had not lived *out* the sexual ideal, they still lived *with* the ideal in mind. In the narratives, participants wrote about scenarios that saw them act entirely against the teachings of the Church and the norms within it, which most had spent years unconsciously adopting. It is therefore unsurprising that guilt and identity crises followed, as the religious norms they had previously embodied were stripped from them, leaving them feeling like they had embraced alternate belief systems, desires, and identities. Norbert Elias (1939), in his book The Civilizing Process, makes sense of this in his analysis of embarrassment and shame as a technique of self-regulation which deters individuals away from acting against social norms. He emphasised that this has become an internal process – as a person grows up, they internalise prohibitions, taboos, and 'acceptable' behaviour; rather than deviation resulting in external punishment, individuals

experience shame and embarrassment within the body, which leads to discomfort – particularly if the deviation is witnessed by others. In these ways, then, my participants' experiences provide evidence of the socially inscribed norms that they embodied, whether by disciplining the body in order to avoid "sin", or by experiencing guilt and shame as a result of it. The impacts of cognitive dissonance can be understood more closely alongside Bourdieu's theories, which imply that when individuals acting against their habitus, they experience discomfort. It also explains the extent of the discomfort experienced; the habitus is made up of inherent tendencies and preferences which are constantly monitored and strengthened over many years, and which often set them apart from others in their field.

#### The body and the self-concept

The role of the self-concept becomes important here as we discuss the impacts that participants' actions had on their sense of self and their religious identity. I will briefly outline self-concept theories and then apply them to participants and the identity transitions they experienced. Stemming from Charles Cooley's concept of the looking glass self (Cooley, 1922), ideas of self-concept lie on the premise that peoples' perceptions of us make up our sense of self. The self-concept is made up of observations of the individual made through the lens of the people around them. The individual gathers evidence about themselves in light of others, which is subsequently confirmed or refuted by their experiences and behaviours. Over time the individual forms a definition of their existence within the world which is backed up by experiential proof (Slotter and Gardner, 2014). Achievements, feedback from others, and habits all contribute to the formation of this self-concept, confirming or challenging it over time.

People continuously seek to maintain self-concept clarity; an internally consistent, clear, and coherent sense of who they are in order to avoid the emotionally distressing work of having to 'reorganise the conceptual systems through which they make sense of their world' (Swann, 1987,
p1039). If others perceive the individual differently to their self-defined self-conception, or if the individual acts in ways that do not align with their self-concept, the individual will experience discomfort and seek to change the perception, behaviour, or self-concept until they align. Interestingly, this desire to maintain self-concept clarity remains even if the self-concept that is threatened is a negative one (Swann, Pelham and Krull, 1989). For example, if an individual feels they are unintelligent, they will struggle to accept evidence to the contrary such as a good school report from their teacher. This desire to maintain self-concept clarity means that actions are often taken in response to threats against the self-concept (Gardner and Carswell, 2018). These threats to the self-concept are most often nullified by the individuals themselves, who will seek to selfverify by proving to themselves and those around them that their self-concept remains the same. For my participants, examples of this came from those who had acted against their beliefs briefly rather than those who were in relationships and often found themselves with sexual opportunities. For example, Joe very quickly "felt convicted" and removed himself from the situation on the few occasions he went home with girls, and found his Christian self-concept returned to normal almost immediately as a result of stopping the behaviour that conflicted with his self-concept. However, in ways discussed in Chapter 2, sometimes individuals decide to reform their self-concept in order to maintain clarity whilst continuing with the counter-attitudinal behaviour. When people cannot come up with a satisfactory justification for the inconsistency between behaviour and belief, they act in ways to prevent the inconsistency (Festinger and Carlsmith, 1959). This makes sense of my participants behaviours; when their long term behaviour was not consistent with the self-concept, the individual tended to internalise the behaviour and incorporate it into an altered self-concept.

Alternatively, when individuals themselves struggle to maintain self-concept clarity, others can step into the breach to restore stability after upheavals in a person's self-concept. Romantic partners, friends, or family may offer words of comfort and say things that verify their self-concept. For example, the friend of a struggling artist might remind them of their success in galleries or their awards (Slotter and Gardner, 2014). In this way, evidence can be presented to the individual which reinforces their sense of self and re-establishes their self-concept, thus providing comfort and confidence. Whilst it does not change the cause of the inconsistency, it adds strength to the weakening self-concept. I now propose that corporate, bodily acts within church communities, such as regularly taking communion, also served this function for participants who were confused about their self-concept. Participants who attended church whilst they were engaging in dissonance inducing behaviours said they felt a range of different emotions about their identity. For example, Sophie wrote:

When I got to church on Sunday I felt deeply ashamed - dirty almost - and definitely a failed Christian. I found it hard to worship, always thinking in the back of my mind 'how can you praise Him and proclaim you love Him when you can't do what He asks in His Word?'.

I suggest that having these kinds of intense emotions and questions about the self in church put people in positions to have intense moments of searching and transformation with regards to their sense of self. For example, after Tom "lost his virginity", he went to church and had the following to say about it:

It shocked me into going back to church (where I hadn't been in a while) and the gospel spoke to me at that point... Understanding the freedom of the gospel was, for me, mostly about sexual sin. I did get it, and when I got it things would change.

In these ways, my participants seemed to have key moments of identity change within their church environments. I suggest that this was because it forced them to engage in very physical acts of worship in the presence of other Christians, which was starkly different to engaging in the very physical act of sex. By attending church services participants were symbolically and physically declaring their Christian identities. By joining the congregation in worship, they 'brought into being' and articulated the 'collective conscience of the community' (Warner, 2008, p178). In these ways, those who continued to attend were faced with very physical reminders of the religious identity they had been choosing to neglect in favour of the sexual self. McGuire (1996) discusses the role of the body in religious actions and the fact that rituals are particularly powerful because they involve the 'total involvement and absorption of the body/mind/self' (p109) and force the full engagement of 'emotions, imagination, memory, perception, and senses, which in turn are powerfully linked with bodies' (p110). By physically taking the bread and the wine whilst hearing words referencing the body and blood of Jesus, Christians are provided with opportunities to tangibly identify themselves with "Jesus' death on the cross" and recommit themselves to living according to their beliefs. Through this ritual act, the church community appears to restore one another's sense of "identit[ies] as child[ren] of God" in a tangible way. I suggest therefore that religious environments and acts, such as communion or corporate worship, were powerful ways for participants to strengthen their self-concept as Christians after or in the midst of "sexual sin".

In this section, I have discussed the importance of self-concept clarity and the impacts that sexual behaviour outside of marriage tended to have on it. I also explored the ways in which people can restore a coherent sense of self, and if this is not possible, how the community around them can do this on their behalf. I also point out that those participants who did not continue to attend church were not receiving any of these reminders of their religious identity, which can further explain the tendencies for people to limit their religious sense of self. I now explore the formation of self-concepts, beliefs, and identity using Bourdieu's social theories.

## Bodily acts and religious identity

My research findings emphasise that bodily actions have dramatic impacts on the religious self. I use my participants' experiences to demonstrate that both religious acts, and non-religious acts both act upon the self and change the identity in some way. Meredith McGuire's work gives insight into the ways in which believers' religious identities are formed by and through their bodily actions by looking specifically at the phenomenon of religious healings. She identified that religious or spiritual beliefs are 'accomplished through the body' (McGuire, 2016, p154), with ascetic discipline creating physical manifestations of rationality. My research findings agree with this; participants found that their religious identities changed in response to their physical actions, regardless of whether the actions themselves were religious or not. She explains the complexities of my participants experiences, pointing out that their identities were constantly shifting according to the interplay of cognitive beliefs, emotional experiences, and religious actions. Similarly, McGuire writes: 'religion regulates the body through the regimen of diet, hygiene, posture...' (1996, p105), highlighting the formational role that physical actions play in establishing the religious self. The constantly shifting senses of identity and religious beliefs that participants experienced add to McGuire's discussion by providing evidence of the complex interactions between belief, behaviour, and identity.

In these ways, participants' sexual encounters interrupted, stunted, and sometimes stopped the formation of their religious identity as they embodied conflicting identities through their actions outside of marriage. In her exploration of millennials' faith development in the UK Ruth Perrin (2020), pointed out that younger generations take much longer to form stable identities than previous generations, often not reaching 'stable adulthood' until they are around 30 years old. My participants were in their 20's and many admitted that they were still "figuring things out". It is therefore fair to assume that they experienced an ongoing process of forming their identities as Christians whilst their sexual experiences took place. Orit Avishai's concept of 'doing religion' (2008) is a helpful tool to explore these journeys of identity formation. She explained that all bodily actions work towards the 'performance of an identity' which is solidified through repetition (p410). In this way, religious acts such as fasting, veiling, and praying '[solidify] religious morality' and create a 'religious moral habitus' which becomes more 'durable' each time it is enacted (Rao, 2015, p415). This concept helps to make sense of the fact that abstinence appears to strengthen

participants' religious identities, whilst behaviour that went against their religious beliefs seemed to work to 'perform' an alternate one; a self that clashed harshly with aspects of the religious self they were trying to form.

Participants described ways in which their behaviours often multiplied, and I argue that this can be explained by these processes of identity formation. For example, when they managed to abstain from sexual activity, their religious identity was strengthened, and they felt more able to avoid it again as a result. In one narrative, Chris wrote that each time he acted in accordance with his "core beliefs" rather than his "fleshly desires", he became "stronger" and wanted to live more "wholeheartedly for Jesus". Similarly, in an interview Luke talked about long periods of avoiding sexual activity which tended to coincide with feeling "closer to God" and "wanting to honour him more". In a similar way, he talked about identity when he explained his thoughts on the "impacts of sexual sin" on the self, contrasting it with moments of self-control: "when we worship God, we become more like him". We see here the bidirectional process through which practice informs belief, whilst belief, or senses of morality, also inform practice (Bourdieu 1990).

Luke's narrative demonstrates that using the body in acts of worship strengthens the religious self. Choosing to avoid "sexual sin" led him to a more Godly identity and drove future choices about how he used his body. In this way, participants' experiences suggest that what they did with their bodies translated into who they were, or perceived themselves to be, and therefore what our lives will look like as a result. Similarly, they evidence Bourdieu's theory of practice; participants made decisions about their actions based on their habitus, which was formed within and by their religious field, in order to gain spiritual capital of holiness and "purity". Once the agent attained capital within their religious field through their actions, e.g. abstaining from sex, they appeared to gain momentum and continue to pursue abstinence. I therefore suggest that both Bourdieu and McGuire's theories can be used together to explain why my participants' experiences of successfully withholding the body from acting on its sexual desires (in response to their beliefs about Godgiven designs for sex) resulted in strengthened religious identities and subsequently encouraged further adherence to their religious and moral beliefs.

The narratives of my participants also demonstrate that the religious self is built up through comparisons with secular Others (see Avishai 2008). Secularism is most usually associated with ethical liberalism which holds individual autonomy as the most important factor when making moral decisions (Woodhead, 2016). These perceived 'secular Others' are more likely to make decisions according to their own feelings and opinions rather than submitting to any authorities on the matter. In her narrative, Sarah highlighted the differences between what she "garnered from secular culture" about sex, saying that according to her non-Christian peers, she needed to gain sexual experience from a young age or else "guys won't want [her]". Participants who succeeded in their abstinence embodied the rejection of the accepted view in British society that sex outside of marriage is fine. They distanced their actions from those perceived to be the norm in secular society. In avoiding temptation, those participants' religious selves are both amplified and set distinctly apart from many of their non-religious peers. This explains some of the turmoil experienced by my participants when they failed to do this – during the formation of their religious identity, their sexual activity sees their bodies enacting, even if temporarily, secular assumptions and beliefs about sex. When participants engaged in behaviour which they saw as more "normal for non-Christians", it is unsurprising that they felt "less of a Christian" or even "like a failed Christian". Participants who were sexually active experienced a diminished sense of religious identity due to the realisation that their actions had become very similar to those taken by 'secular Others'.

At this point it is interesting to consider the fact that participants seemed to place far more importance on matters of sexual purity than they did on any other areas of their life as Christians. According to my participants, sexual sin had far more of an impact on their identity as believers than other sins such as lying or gossiping. I had the following conversation in an interview with James about his emotional response to crossing his sexual boundaries:

Then as soon as it's done and afterwards you sit down and reflect on things, you think like "have I lost everything that my life was leading to, am I going to hell?" Even though I don't know what I believe about hell... like I don't even believe in hell but I'd still be like "oh am I going to hell?"

And do you get that with other sins?

No. This is just a specific, this is always.. I dunno why that is, maybe it's more of a feared sin...

I suggest that the disparity between sexual sin and other sins, and the varying impacts each has on the identity and the sense of self can be explained in part by the identity shifts that take place as a result of physical acts of either worship or "disobedience". I suggest that there are very few other physical acts that engage the body, and all its senses, as much as acts of sexual intimacy, and it is therefore unsurprising that sexual acts have such an impact on the sense of self. In contrast to the physical acts of *worship* available to believers, which help them to build up their religious identities in small ways, I suggest that sexual acts outside of marriage epitomise for participants an intense opposite: physical acts of *disobedience* which provide dramatic blows to the religious identity.

# Interpreting experience

I now explore the ways in which sexual ideals held by participants influenced their interpretations of their sexual experiences, having dramatic and influential impacts on how they felt during intimacy in the following ways: physically, emotionally, relationally, and spiritually. Research has noted that the ways in which our bodies interpret experiences are entirely shaped by the beliefs, norms, and discourses we are exposed to (Knapp, 2003). Our sexual social scripts (Burke, 2016) providing us with expectations based on our social knowledge, rather than simply based on our physical intuitions (Gagnon and Simon, 1986). This explains some of the discomfort participants

felt when torn between enjoying their sexual encounters whilst simultaneously feeling uncomfortable, scared, or ashamed. In their church life they were provided with sexual scripts that said sex is a powerful act of union which is only appropriate for marriage, differing from those provided by wider society. For example, Sarah's friends suggested that she should "explore what [she] liked" and "have experience or no one would want [her]". I use the narratives and interviews to explore the ways in which our bodies interpret physical sensations through the lenses of the social worlds they inhabit.

The most obvious influence that their Christian teaching appeared to have had on participants' experiences was the tendency to feel that their sexual desire or behaviour was an inherently uncontrollable force which clashed entirely with their religious beliefs and desires. Louise wrote that in moments of intimacy she felt "completely intoxicated" to the point that she "couldn't think about God at all". Chris said that during moments of intimacy the "conflict has always been my flesh against my core beliefs". This mindset also seemed to influence some participants' expectations about romance and the kind of spouse they would look for. For example, John wrote: "I sort of resigned myself to the idea that I would either find a girl sexually attractive, or they would be good for me spiritually". In these ways, my participants demonstrated that many Christians continued to hold remnants of Plato's distinction between the body and the soul (Greenberg, 2018). This dualistic viewpoint is understandable when we consider Paul's discussion of sin in Galatians 5 where he complains about the exhausting and constant conflicts between his 'spirit' and his 'flesh' – participants often expressed their sexual desires in similar ways, implying that they were fierce rivals to their spiritual desires. Chris highlighted this sense of exhaustion and frustration along with other participants, saying that his "overwhelming desire" has been to "honour God and fight this battle" but emphasising how much of a "challenge" it has been. This cognitive divide - between sexual desire as an unmanageable force which feels completely at odds

to the desire to "honour God" by keeping sex for marriage - has manifested itself in participants phenomenological interpretations of their sexual feelings and actions. I will now discuss these.

Only 5 participants talked about physical pleasure or acknowledged the fact that they desired sexual intimacy at all. My participant Sophie wrote the following in her narrative, highlighting the sexual scripts she had received prior to sexual experience:

Ultimately, doing anything sexual before marriage scared me, I was fearful of being 'found out' and of what 'emotional damage' might result from it. And that was because of the way sex was spoken about in Christian settings - not in a loving way, but out of fear that we might 'mess up' and suffer the consequences forever.

Some of my participants emphasised the fact that they were mainly trying to satisfy their partners when they engaged in sexual activity. For example, Naomi wrote that she "did want to [have sex] but it wasn't very enjoyable" and that she mainly "wanted to please [her sexual partner]". Similarly, David said that his lenience with his sexual boundaries was "perhaps to please [his girlfriend]", and only very briefly mentioned his own sexual desire whilst drawing contrasts between desiring God and desiring her. In similar ways to Sharma's participants mentioned in Chapter 2, who disappeared in sex, Tolman (2005) found that the US teenagers in her study also 'dissociated themselves' (p51) from the sexual experience, sometimes not even acknowledging that they had experienced sexual desire or pleasure at all. She suggests that this loss of physical or emotional feelings may be the result of the fear they felt about becoming sexually active. In this way she suggests that her participants did not allow themselves to feel the extent of normal bodily responses to sexual intimacy, thereby distancing themselves from the insecurity or perceived danger of the acts. Similarly, in her studies of teenage girls' sex education, Michelle Fine (1988) found that when girls were exploring sexually, they often switched between being 'taken with the excitement of anticipated sexuality' and 'consumed with anxiety' (p35) over it. they were as aware of the potential pleasure as they were of the potential danger, in similar ways that led Tolman to state that her

participants were 'doing battle with themselves' in attempts to 'resist embodying desire' (p82). My participants therefore also demonstrated these tendencies to remove their bodily experiences of pleasure or desire, perhaps demonstrating, like Tolman and Sharma's participants, an effort to protect the religious self from the consequences of sex outside of marriage.

Interestingly, tendencies to shut off physical pleasure during intimacy is common for victims of sexual abuse, serving as protection from emotional harm for the individual (Young, 1992). This raises questions about the extent of the concerns about sex that participants had developed. In some instances my participants have exhibited similar behaviour to victims of sexual trauma through their extreme efforts to avoid the discomfort of dissonance caused by their counter-attitudinal behaviour. In some scenarios, then, my participants appear to have felt such fear and shame about their sexual desires or actions that they, in Tolman's terms, 'dissociated' them from the self, replicating some more extreme emotional and behavioural tendencies of survivors of sexual abuse.

In the ways outlined above, I suggest that the fact that many participants completely failed to acknowledge any of the pleasure or enjoyment of their experiences demonstrates subconscious expectations and attempts to maintain distance between the self and their bodily actions. This was common throughout both the narratives and interviews as well as the literature, which demonstrates the prevalence of those with traditional views about sex exhibiting a 'dual consciousness' (Fine, 1988, p35) during sexual activity. This research therefore points the ways in which beliefs can be materialised in and through the body, shaping even the way we interpret physical experiences such as sexual pleasure. In Chapter 5, I will consider the potential impacts that this tendency can have on the peoples' long-term experience of sexuality and relationships, but for now I conclude this section by arguing that my participants' interpretations of their bodily experiences were influenced largely by the sexual scripts provided. Their bodies had been socially

inscribed, in Bourdieu's words, and the embodiment of their sexuality tended to conflict painfully with the embodiment of their faith.

## Wanting and not wanting

I now explore the physical manifestations of the interactions between cognitions and the body in sexual scenarios, looking at the bodily responses before, during and after sexual acts outside of marriage. When participants described their experiences prior to a sexual act, the overarching theme was that at the point of arousal, they experienced a powerful conflict of desires up to a certain point. As mentioned in chapter 2, when they "reached the end of certain boundaries", participants described being aware of the "part of" them that warned them not to go any further. Due to their cognitions, or 'habitus', some participants had prevention strategies which they employed when they reached their boundaries and did not want to go further. However, others went past these boundaries and described their bodily responses during the sexual act. These varied from, as mentioned, "shutting out" the mind and successfully enjoying the bodily experience, to moments of inner turmoil manifesting in erectile disfunction or an inability to climax.

Participants employed strategies to try and prevent themselves from reaching the point at which participants succumbed to the desires of their bodies. For example, Louise wrote that "if [she] was tempted to go any further than kissing with clothes on, she would ask [her partner] to go and masturbate" so that they would avoid crossing their boundaries. She explained that this was due to "the risks of pregnancy if he had already ejaculated once", as they chose not to keep condoms so would be using the "pull out" method of contraception. They therefore created their own deterrents – making sure the boyfriend had already ejaculated once to "make it riskier" if they were to end up having sex without a condom, and intentionally not having condoms available. In this way, she and her partner employed intentionally extreme strategies of increasing the risk of pregnancy if they were to "break [their] boundaries" because they felt they "could not trust

[them]selves" to stop their bodies from "going against what [they] believed was right". The times they decided not to have sex "were the most frustrating times of [her] life"; she both desperately wanted to have sex but also desperately wanted to avoid it. These extreme tactics were established in order to limit the likelihood of experiencing cognitive dissonance, with participants like Louise being aware of the fact that they needed these measures in order to avoid succumbing to their desires. In these ways and those outlined previously, participants employed strategies to keep their bodily desires in line with their religious desires to keep sex for marriage, and often found themselves both wanting sex and not wanting it.

However, there were many occasions when participants' prevention strategies failed and the desire to have sex surpassed the desire to avoid it. They talked about the situations where they reached a point where their sexual desire became "unbearably" stronger than the desire to abstain, at which point the body seemed to block out the mind so that it could continue with the sexual experience rather than being consumed by guilt and stopping. They described ways in which they felt the body had tried to "shut down" the internal moral debate at the point of extreme arousal for them to progress further than their boundaries would allow them. On these occasions, they enjoyed the sexual act but were then reminded afterwards of the fact that they had wanted to avoid it - as discussed in many parts of this dissertation.

Although this worked for some participants, allowing them to enjoy sex in the moment without thinking about the desire to abstain, many found that this did not work. Some found that although they initially blocked out their thoughts long enough to begin sexual intimacy, they could not maintain this for very long. I asked interview participants whether the internal debates about sex returned during their sexual experiences or not. Interestingly, two male participants discussed the fact that feelings of shame or discomfort about what they were doing sometimes manifested physically in the middle of sexual intimacy. One of the men recounted moments of erectile dysfunction, which he attributed to a deep sense of shame and a sudden panicked thought along

the lines of "what am I doing here?". Another recalled his inability to reach orgasm due to the internal moral conflicts that he could not get away from during intimacy with his girlfriend. Although he said that often "the passion of the moment takes it away", allowing his body to go against his beliefs in the "heat of the moment", he did recall times where he felt uncomfortable because he had initiated sexual intimacy and later changed his mind. He said:

I haven't gone soft, but I have had inability to finish. Yeah. I think that is a legitimate, yeah because if you're feeling comfortable it can happen, but if you're uncomfortable, it won't.

#### James

In these instances, it was clear that these interruptions of the sexual act were very unwelcome and were usually accompanied with awkwardness and embarrassment. For these men, then, their bodies had caused the sexual act to stop suddenly without them actually coming to any conscious decisions about it.

However, some participants talked about feeling pressure to continue the sexual encounter even after they had changed their mind. For example, one participant explained that he would always make sure that his partners reached orgasm first because he knew that once he had, he would want to "get out of there" as quickly as possible. He said that because he had arranged to "hook up" with them, he would feel bad if he changed his mind about it after he had arrived at their house. This highlights the fact that both before and during the act, participants were often aware of how they would feel afterwards, but still ignored this and forced the body to continue despite necessarily wanting to. For some, these decisions were made due to considerations of the other person involved, requiring effort to *make* the body continue, but for others, the "heat of the moment" led them to succumb to their own temptation and *allow* it to continue.

It is worth noting here that some of the narratives written by women (who did not offer to do an interview) implied that they had experienced similar moments of internal confusion or distraction

during intimacy, moments of indecision or even wanting to stop – but these were not acknowledged by their partner in the moment. It is interesting to consider the gender differences in the physical indicators that a woman is changing her mind about having sex than if a man were to experience sexual disfunction, as well as the gender differences in the tendency to "go along with it" in order to please the partner. Further research might explore gender differences in Christian experiences of decision making, focusing on expressions of consent and moments of indecisiveness or discomfort during sexual acts. It would be beneficial to explore the role of insecurities and feelings of entitlement following the initiation of sexual intimacy. I will touch on matters of consent further in Chapter 5.

## Acts of redemption and moving on from cognitive dissonance

Eventually, most of my participants who left did eventually decide to come back to their faith, but this was usually after they had ended their periods of sexual "sin" and returned to their previous behaviour of abstinence. I argue that in order to return to their church communities fully, participants required a restorative or reconciliatory act to restore their sense of self to one which resembled their previous religious self. Sitna Quiroz (2016) explored the 'productive potential' that became available after moral failure and subsequent discipline, identifying these moments as crucial to moral change and formation when dealt with effectively. She observed that in a Pentecostal church in Benin, sins like adultery were confessed publicly in front of the congregation, starting a period of discipline which involved the whole community. These processes, combined with individual acts such as prayer and fasting, worked to 'reintroduce' the person back to the religious life, and Quiroz notes that this offers benefits to both the individual and the community as a whole.

Grace had bad experiences of teaching about sexuality in the brethren church which she attended with her family as a child and was then also made to feel unable to talk about her sexual experiences or beliefs at her current church. She had sex with her ex-fiancé and also slept with her nowhusband outside of marriage, and her narrative made it very clear that these experiences led her to disagree with the traditional views of sex given in her experiences of church. She asked rhetorically:

Do I think that those sexual experiences have ruined marital sex? No. Do I regret having sex with my first boyfriend? No. Every time we had sex we were expressing our love to each other. It was beautiful. Did having sex with my previous partner make things awkward with my now husband? No, I have never compared the two. I never think about my previous partner in a sexual way nor do I ever feel like my husband is comparing the way we have sex to the way he and his ex partner had sex.

She went on to express her frustration about the ways her churches had taught her to deal with her sexuality and failed to provide space for her to discuss her views and beliefs:

However we could not admit that we had sex to our church community, because they openly said that we would be chastised for doing so. Every young christian couple that I know has had sex, yet the church puts such shame on it and young couples are ashamed to admit that they have 'slipped up'. The guidance and teaching on the subject is poor.

I suggest that because Grace was unable to talk about the fact she had sex openly, she had no redemptive moments with any of her Christian friends, family, or leaders about her sexual activity, and therefore did not receive the "kindness" or "support" that other participants received. Grace's narrative demonstrates some of the anger and bitterness which threatened to lead other participants away from the Church until they had these redemptive experiences. It is concerning to think that people like Grace may hold these opinions about the Church, and also suffer from the inherent feelings of shame that she associates with sex, for many years to come.

According to my participants, only those who already had close relationships with other Christians came across any forms of 'reintroduction' into their church community. Those who had friends or mentors who actively offered to keep them "accountable" benefitted from redemptive moments where their self-concepts were restored. Two participants talked about the relief they felt after restorative acts with others in their community which resolved the discomfort faced by dissonance and shame and restored their sense of religious identity. For example, Louise and her boyfriend confessed to their church leaders that they had been having sex, and said that they were "very gracious, kind and understanding and prayed for [them] at length". This helped them both feel "understood when [they] expected judgement" and provided "guidance for moving forward rather than dismissal". Similarly, Graham was relieved when he spoke about his sexual intimacy with his girlfriend to a married couple "who looked out for [him]". Again, he was surprised to find "no judgement, but instead a desire to help lead [them] through to the holiness that God calls [them] to". These examples suggest that in order to have positive experiences of returning to their church community, they first required the relationships in which these honest conversations could happen, and secondly be given opportunities and safe spaces to be honest and confess their "sexual sin". Due to the lack of corporate mechanisms for confession in most churches, these were the prerequisites required for participants to verify the self and move forward in community. Only then could they feel they were acting with integrity rather than hiding significant parts of their lives. Where these 'redemptive moments' were possible, participants appeared to swiftly return to their religious selves and communities and were even able to incorporate their stories of sexual sin into their identities.

However, those who did not have these kinds of friends or mentors in their church community were unlikely to find opportunities to be reintroduced to the community with restored religious identities. My participants highlighted the fact that there are no corporate mechanisms to support these confessions, and church leaders rarely give guidance or encourage their congregations to have these conversations, unlike those witnessed in Benin. There were no explicitly prescribed means by which my "sinful" participants could confess their sin and deal with it in order to feel reconciled back into the community of believers. For example, Sarah wrote that she "hated how [she and her partner] associated [their] sexual intimacy not with intimacy but with guilt and shame", and it is important to consider whether people like Sarah have opportunities to heal from these associations before moving on to get married. Similarly, Tom wrote about the fact that there was never any teaching about "cleansing from sin once it had happened", and that he had no support or teaching to help him make sense of his sexual experiences. He did say that he had "moments with God" where he experienced "deep forgiveness" and the "freedom of the gospel", but his "fundamental mindset about sex" never changed; he equated his sexuality with sin because he was not married and had sexual relationships with "over 30 girls". For him, this resulted in numerous experiences of deep shame and a constant "disjunction between [his] Christian faith and identity on the one hand and [his] powerful sexual desire on the other". He had no Christian friends who he could open up to about this, so he kept it all to himself and failed to find the "grace" and "guidance" that others had spoken of. I therefore suggest that because there are no corporate mechanisms such as the open confession in Benin, there are gaps in church communities which leave those who have "sinned" stuck in it without being able to feel fully known and accepted afterwards. According to my participants, unmarried adults who did not already have close relationships with other Christians established prior to their sexual encounter found that they had no one to turn to for support during these identity crises.

Some participants appeared to compensate for this by confessing to God in their own private ways, finding ways to discipline or punish themselves in secret, or simply withdrawing from their beliefs. The contrasts between the open confession of sin in Benin and the secrecy around sexual sin in my participant's narratives is obvious, and I discuss throughout the dissertation the damaging behaviours that this lack of restorative mechanisms led to for my participants. Lynd (1958) considers the fact that public knowledge of one's shame can sometimes be less painful than inner shame. She quotes Dimmesdale in The Scarlet Letter: 'Happy are you, Hester, that wear the scarlet letter openly upon your bosom! Mine burns in secret!' (Hawthorne, 1998, p182). She points out

that the seclusion of coming to terms with one's own weakness, alone, can cause more damage than having it made public. Further to this, and interestingly for this study, Lynd acknowledges the discomfort caused by actively hiding shame itself from others. Many participants experienced feelings of inadequacy that came from the fact they were ashamed in secret and therefore had to hide or put up a front. For example, Sarah attributed her "pain and guilt" to the fact that she "was living two lives – the one where [she] went to parties and was intimate with boys on a Saturday night and the one where, on a Sunday morning [she] attended church as one of the only youth 'actively engaged' in their faith". Rather than attributing her pain and guilt to the sexual acts themselves, she attributed it to the fact that she was hiding something from her church community.

Some participants wrote about experiences of God intervening in their lives, which "spoke His grace and truth into the situation" and showed them the "beauty" of physical intimacy and the "purpose of sex in the right context". Further to this, some participants wrote about times when they were "convicted by the Holy Spirit" in moments of temptation or had deep experiences of spiritual or emotional healing which they attributed to God. They therefore shared stories of redemption in regard to their sexual experiences, and I suggest that this is extremely important to enable Christians to establish healthy attributes about sex in the future. I also found that those participants who involved other Christians in these processes tended to come to more conservative conclusions about sex than they had prior to or during their sexual activity outside of marriage. For example, John wrote the following about his experiences after pastoral conversations with his church leaders:

Jesus spoke his grace and his truth into the situation, and I began to see the value in this part of me that he had created. That sex was good, and that was why boundaries are given. That my feelings are not sins in themselves...

Interestingly, John then ended this sentence by saying "but none of this was communicated by either sermons on a Sunday, nor in other pastoral support". This highlights again the frustration that participants felt after having come to realise that they had endured such pain and confusion due to previous, and what they now viewed as faulty, perceptions of Church teaching about sex. They appear to suggest that if these perceptions had been cleared up earlier and they had been able to establish what they actually believed about sex before acting, they would have had healthier experiences of their sexuality.

I suggest that some of my participants have described intense experiences of growth and development in both their religious beliefs and their views on sex and marriage, which they felt could be used positively to encourage others. David wanted to tell his story in order to encourage others and help them to understand the "reasons behind teachings about sex". I suggest that there were many positive ways for both the individuals involved and those hearing to bring good out of the difficult experiences my participants went through. In narrating their experiences openly and honestly, their identities can be reformed and shaped with the inclusion of their "sin", rather than uncomfortably hiding it away. David said that "if [he] was in a position of influence over another Christian's life, he would tell his story because he "would not wish anyone else to have to have the experiences [he] had in order to understand the good reasons behind the Church's teaching". In this way, it seems that my participants acknowledge that their experiences could be used to help others avoid going through similar confusion and difficulty. I therefore conclude this section by stressing the importance of Christians being able to share their stories of coming to conclusions about sex outside of marriage. It offers the individual opportunities to incorporate their "sexual sin" into their identity by narrating their experiences as Christians who have had moments of redemption. Some participants who had moved on from their sexual behaviour in favour of reembracing their religious identity actively incorporated the period of "sexual sin" into their narrative identities as well. For example, David, after his relationship ended, planned to use his experiences to support others going through similar things. He found that being able to tell others

his story also provides them with pastoral opportunities to use their experiences to help other Christians to understand why they believe "sex is best for marriage". As David said:

I would seek to give them similar advice, but in the strongest terms and with the added weight of my own first-hand experience. I think the dissonance that I have experienced can be a useful tool in preventing other people from having to experience similar dissonance.

David therefore provides evidence of the ways in which stories can successfully be retold and used to add dimensions to the narrative identity, forming a self-concept which includes the "sin" rather than hides it. I also suggest that by re-forming the self-concept in this way, incorporating their stories of "sexual sin", individuals regain some sense of the power and autonomy that they had lost in their physical defeat by sexual temptation. In these ways, they construct their identities in an active project of the self in ways that feel productive to the individual and offer benefits to the community.

This chapter has explored the ways in which the body interacts with the religious identity, focusing specifically on the bodily experience of sexual intimacy outside of marriage, and the impacts it has on the bodily and the religious self. I then explored the ways in which the body is 'socially informed' and has developed desires and expectations according to their habitus. This provided context for the exploration of the bodily responses to sex, due the ways the habitus informed the ways their bodies interpreted sexual desire, pleasure, and gratification. I explored the tendencies of the believers' body to block out beliefs about sexuality in moments of temptation and touched briefly on the fact that participants appeared to dissociate their bodies from their religious selves in attempts to reduce the discomfort caused by dissonance. I explored the role of communal acts of worship and the opportunities they provide for participants to embody their beliefs, thereby strengthening their religious self. Finally, I suggested that acts of redemption were vital in order to restore participants' religious sense of self after dissonance-inducing actions. Without these redemptive opportunities, I argued that believers find it very hard to return to the Christian

community and even the Christian self after sex outside of marriage. I will now turn to examine notions of virginity and participants' experiences of their "first time".

# <u>Chapter 4: Navigating the space between the virgin</u> and the "sinner"

Participants appeared to put much emphasis on the distinction between penetrative sex and other forms of sexual intimacy. I was surprised by how many of my participants' narratives automatically described the specific event where they had penetrative sex for the first time, with many referring to their virginity in the process. As many sociological studies have pointed out, virginity is viewed globally as a significant and permanent change in a person's identity, making it unsurprising that first intercourse has a dramatic and lasting effect on participants' religious and sexual identities (Holland et al, 2000; Carpenter, 2001; Tsui and Nicoladis, 2004). This distinction and its use as a marker of identity is an important one to bear in mind when we consider the pastoral implications of unmarried Christians' experiences of first intercourse outside of marriage, and these will be explored in depth in Chapter 5. In this chapter I explore participants' notions of virginity, the emphasis they put on it, and the role it played as a label. I explore the implications this label had on participants' processes of identity formation as Christians. I first discuss some of the cultural shifts that have influenced the ways participants experienced the transition from "virgin" to nonvirgin, noting the impacts of cultural shifts in relation to ideas about sex and personhood.

## The influence of cultural narratives

There are many different definitions and interpretations of virginity with varying levels of importance attributed to them depending on the perspective. The semantics of sex have been analysed across cultures and time frames and there is very little consensus about what actually counts as having sex, and therefore very little consensus about what counts as being a virgin (Carpenter, 2001). The literature acknowledges that there are different levels of cultural significance attached to virginity, and these differ according to their individual social frameworks

which help people navigate through their first experiences of sex (Gagnon and Simon, 1973). Over the past few decades western countries have seen discourses around virginity become less dominant in secular society. Barnett et al (2017) found that young adults at a US university had very different opinions about what it was to actually have sex. Whilst the majority labelled penilevaginal and penile-anal intercourse sex, others included oral sex and other forms of penetration in the same category. They therefore labelled virginity differently; some believed that you remain a virgin as long as you don't have penile-vaginal sex, whilst others believed that all forms of penetration and oral sex removed the label.

As well as there being different definitions of virginity, there are also various levels of importance attributed to it. For example, Anouka van Eerdewijk (2009) explored notions of virginity in Senegal and found that brides were still expected to be virgins and were supposed to provide evidence of this on the wedding night in the form of blood on a white bed sheet. This practice was common historically but remains the norm in some societies today (Tsui and Nicoladis, 2004). On the other hand, scholars in the US, UK and Western Europe have noted the continuing decline in the age of sexual debut since the sixties (Woodhead and Catto, 2012), demonstrating a significant shift in social norms around sexual debut and the growing prevalence of premarital sex. Some of my participants grew up being equally encouraged to "explore and enjoy their sexuality" regardless of marital or relationship status, with serious restrictions only being emphasised in relation to making sure that young people were having safe and consensual sex.

These shifts have undoubtedly contributed to sexual mores (Greenwood and Guner, 2010) and the expectations young adults grew up with about their sexual debuts. My participants were very aware of these social norms, as mentioned in Chapter 1: Gemma was "extremely ashamed" during conversations with non-Christians when they found out she had not had sex – they struggled to comprehend the fact that she planned to save it for when she got married. Similarly, Sarah felt she had to have some sexual encounters in order to be prepared for questions like "have you DONE anything?" in teenage conversations with her friends. Again, Simon felt he could fit in with "lads at school" because he had been sexually intimate with girls at parties. It is therefore important to acknowledge the contextual shifts that participants were negotiating as they navigated their beliefs about sexual debut and virginity. These contextual shifts and perspectives about virginity also help to shed light on how participants' identities as "virgins" impacted them. In these ways, notions of virginity are interpreted widely; each individual in my study is likely to define it differently and associate varying levels of significance to it. For these reasons we must be careful whilst discussing my participants' first experiences of "having sex" and their interpretations of virginity. It is important to recognise that the semantics used are shaped by many factors, and I try to use terms carefully and each time in line with the participant's own use of them.

# The shifts in gender influences on perceptions of virginity

There has long been a sexual double standard in most cultures, which allowed men to live promiscuously whilst women were supposed to maintain their virginity until they were married (Humphreys, 2013). These gender differences in expectations for maintaining virginity still exist in many societies today, with many women feeling and being more judged for having sex outside of marriage than men are. For example, Laura Carpenter's (2002) research in the US suggested that for men, virginity loss has tended to be seen as 'a rite of passage entailing physical performance and the achievement of manhood' (p346). Onorio's (2015) study in a US theological college also found that women were often labelled or talked to by peers if they were deemed 'too sexually active' (p43), whilst the men were expected to find it more difficult to resist sexual urges until marriage and were therefore given more sympathy. He demonstrated that it is still the case in many societies for the majority of men to eagerly await their virginity loss, often viewing it almost as an initiation, seeing sex like a ritual which leads young men through a threshold and into adulthood. Eerdewijk's (2009) work in Dakar pointed out that in some cultures, losing virginity is seen as

important in order to be seen as a grown man, with many men having sex well before marriage and actually being judged for not being a virgin. She wrote:

Being a man is not so much a matter of biology; it is not the fact of having a penis that makes a man a man, but what he does with that penis. Men become men by using their penis for heterosexual sex (p11).

In these ways, cultural preferences and norms around virginity and purity have often been determined by the gender of the individual. Having sex for the first time has had vast implications on the individual's identity and sense of self, for better or for worse, depending on the gender and context.

However, Carpenter (2002) highlighted the shifts that are taking place in some cultures with regards to gender differences, finding similarities in the social norms for men and women in some contexts. She explained some results which demonstrate changes in recent decades; whereas previously women tended to find it shameful to have sex outside of marriage, many are now joining men in 'seeing virginity as embarrassing' and wanting to 'get it over with' (p347). Studies in the UK have found similar results; with some even stating that women are becoming as eager as men to lose their virginity, attaching stigma to the idea of *not* being sexually experienced and being "pure" at marriage (Humphreys, 2013). Whilst women in the US valued virginity highly in the 1970s and 80s, Carpenter found that most of the young women in her study saw their virginity as a gift they were willing to give in the context of a committed relationship, but not to be held back until marriage if someone deserves it. One of her participants explained what she felt it meant to have sex for the first time: 'you're willing to give something private of yourself... [It's] something of mine that I choose to give up, that I can only give up once' (p351). Carpenter concluded by saying that both men and women in her study saw the 'giving of virginity' as a precious and 'nonrenewable' gift of love which usually resulted in 'enhanced love and commitment' in their relationships (p352).

With the societal trends of the UK and the US in mind, it is interesting to point out that my participants' beliefs did not appear to be influenced by gender. Both men and women felt shame and regret about "losing [their] virginity outside of marriage" and for not keeping their "purity" because of it, and the only participant who did not feel this way was a woman. In my study, more women than men mentioned that in some areas of life they could boast about their sex lives and feel good about the fact that they "had done it", and more women were anxious to admit that they had not had sex in conversations with non-Christian friends. As well as this, all participants - male and female - who had had penetrative sex, except the one female participant, expressed that the religious self was very uncomfortable about the fact that they had done this outside of marriage. They struggled with the idea that they had experienced the change in identity prior to "the wedding ceremony", and as discussed in this chapter, this identity change came as an unwelcome and painful experience for many. For example, when John was managing to avoid going "all the way", he felt comfortable calling himself a Christian, but when he finally did have sex, he suffered because he felt he had lost his identity as a celibate Christian man. The men in my study therefore appeared to believe that it would have been preferable for them to embody the more traditionally feminine label of "virgin" and "wait until marriage" than being able to "say [they have] had sex". In these ways, the genders of my participants appeared to be much less influential to their perceptions of the label "virgin" and their desires to keep it.

What remains across all narratives is that participants had clear ideas about whether they had "had sex" or not, and this point was often emphasised without prompts as an important part of their narratives. Participants talked about their experiences of sexual intercourse very differently to how they talked about other experiences of sexual intimacy, and I found it interesting that these participants talked at length about their first time having sex and also included the details about the actions they took afterwards. I now discuss participants' references to "losing [their] virginity" or "having sex" by grouping them into categories. Group 1 talked about sex as a distinctly different

act to the other sexual behaviours they were engaged in, and I suggest that they used their virginity as a 'bargaining tool' to allow those behaviours to continue. Group 2 were unsure what they believed about their sexual behaviours, and I suggest that they used their virginity as a 'safety blanket' to comfort themselves when they felt guilty or confused about the sexual acts they were engaging in. Group 3 talked about their "first time" almost like it was an accident that they had not really had chance to think much about. They described their virginity as an unplanned loss and the sexual transition as a process "that [could not] be fixed". Finally, group 4 was very small but is made up of participants who seemed to use losing their virginity as a 'final act of rebellion', being a measured way of surrendering to their "sexual sin" and giving in to previous attempts to hold on to some element of purity.

# Group 1: Virginity as a bargaining tool - it's not S E X!

Many participants openly noted the fact that they regularly justified their sexual behaviour by saying that it was preferable to do that if it meant that they would not end up having penetrative sex. See the following examples:

Not long into the relationship his hands started moving to places I wasn't expecting so I asked him how far he was wanting to take this. Turns out he had similar views to me - sex was penis inside a vagina and everything else was permissible as long as it didn't lead to sex.

### Hannah

I would regularly go out clubbing and often would end up kissing girls. On a couple of occasions this led a bit further and I went home with them, each time there was some sexual foreplay but no intercourse.

Joe

Whilst I had been taught that sex was wrong, other sexual acts seemed a grey area that no one had spoken about, so I felt happy with doing everything that didn't involve penetration.

Sophie

I justified my acts of sexual immorality on the ground that I was engaging in all forms of sexual intimacy that were not actual sexual intercourse itself such that I was not fornicating.

Simon

As discussed in Chapter 2, participants felt that they had to justify what they were deciding to do in order to reduce the discomfort that would be caused by cognitive dissonance. They had therefore established cognitions about what they felt was acceptable outside of marriage which allowed them to experience some sexual intimacy without going against what they believed. In this section I suggest that participants often used the fact that they "weren't having sex" as a tool which allowed them to do other sexual activities with their partners without feeling discomfort. I now use Hannah's narrative to demonstrate this trend.

As was common for my participants and discussed in Chapter 1, Hannah entered her "relationship with confused beliefs about sex". However, during her relationship she made decisions about what she believed, stating that "[she] wanted to live within what was pleasing to God and genuinely thought [she] was doing so". She wrote about her responses to an evening of teaching at church about sex and relationships, which she had attended with her boyfriend at the time:

Matt came away from this evening worried about what we were doing and thinking that we should stop, but I wasn't convinced. They hadn't said anything particularly different from what I'd heard before and hadn't directly contradicted the idea that sex was one particular act. I thought that their advice might be helpful for people who were more easily tempted to go all the way and commit the actual sin (penis in vagina sex), but we were more self-controlled than those people, so it didn't apply to us.

This narrative demonstrates the ways in which Hannah took a defensive stance about her virginity when listening to the advice she received, which she later regretted after her relationship ended. Her story is an example of the ways in which many participants drew lines about what they classed as sin – most usually penetrative sex outside of marriage – and were "happy to live with those boundaries", enabling them to enjoy other forms of sexual intimacy without feeling guilty. Hannah also appeared to take some pride or comfort in the fact that she and her partner managed to have some level of sexual intimacy whilst having the self-control required to stop before they had penetrative sex. She also explained that "anyone trying to convince [her not to do any sexual acts] were just being overly cautious, or so [she] thought at the time. [She] didn't see it as a sin that [she] kept being tempted to commit – [she] didn't think [she] was sinning".

Hannah's story also offers insights into the negotiations that take place both within the individual and between the two individuals in a relationship. The couple were both at the same church so presumably had similar beliefs about most major topics, but both had different, though undecided, convictions about "what counts as having sex". Whilst one member of the couple felt that the sexual acts they were doing were going too far, the other confidently stood by her conclusion that penetrative sex was the only act that was too far. Whilst Hannah was therefore content in her status as a virgin according to her beliefs about sex, her partner was not. She admitted that in hindsight she "was very much guilty of not respecting his boundaries once he raised concerns". Because she "thought it was fine and didn't want to stop", she admitted that when "he got tempted to do things [she] would encourage it rather than stop it for his benefit". This negotiation and the complexities involved when both individuals are confused about whether they want to do certain sexual acts is discussed in Chapter 6. Simon and Hannah both wrote in a regretful tone and with hindsight about this process of dissonance avoidance. Simon openly admits that he "justified acts" with the argument that he was only having "forms of sexual intimacy that were not intercourse". Interestingly – he described those sexual acts as "sexual immorality" – long after these events had taken place. At the time of writing, he stated that he had lived for many years "with a high degree of sexual integrity". It is therefore unclear whether Simon believed he was acting with sexual integrity when he was sexually active but not having "intercourse". On the other hand, responses which discuss past behaviours are helpful in that participants appear to have settled with their beliefs in hindsight and are explaining the processes they went through before they had decided.

To conclude, some of my participants were using their boundary of "actual sex" to allow other sexual behaviour to continue without any negative feelings. During their sexual relationships, some participants used their identities as "virgins" as a bargaining tool which allowed them to enjoy some forms of sexual intimacy with their partners without feeling any of the discomfort caused by cognitive dissonance.

# Group 2: Virginity as a safety blanket – it's not S E X...?

Other participants were very unsure what they believed their sexual boundaries should be outside of marriage, which caused discomfort and worry. Unlike the participants above, these participants did not come to any firm decisions about their beliefs whilst they were having sexual encounters on a regular basis; they were "figuring it out as [they] went along". In these scenarios, participants appeared almost to be playing it safe – they seemed to be avoiding penetrative sex altogether but mainly because they were not entirely sure what boundaries they felt were acceptable, and they did not want to risk getting it wrong. In these instances, they were protective of their virginity due to their fears of having sex and then later regretting it. Rather than using their virginity as a justification for other sexual acts, they were using it to make them feel safe and confident that they would not cause themselves or their partners harm. The following quotes demonstrate some of the confusion and the fact that it led participants to cling to the fact that they were not having sex:

I often thought well the bible doesn't talk about other stuff, just sex, so surely the rest is ok. I would think about it a lot but never came to any solid conclusion, and so just kept the same way, not really sure what I believed or why I believed it but knowing that I thought that sex was the one step too far that I wouldn't do.

#### Jessica

It was quite a confusing relationship for me in many ways, but the fact the sexual intimacy was going on added a whole extra layer of confusion, especially because my boyfriend at the time said he did not want to have sex before marriage. We never had sex, but we did have sexual encounters on a regular basis.

#### Esther

I recognise now that it was not what I truly believed as we did not tell the other flatmates and kept it completely secret. If I had thought it was ok, I would have been open about it. Things became more intimate over time. Beyond what I think is acceptable before marriage for a Christian. We were staying in the same bed and although we never had sex, we were naked at times.

James

Jessica's story is particularly insightful and helps us to understand why confusion about boundaries led people to be more intimate with their partners than they had planned. She explained that she never had the chance to "talk about the line between virgin and full on sex, with anyone, let alone someone [she] trusted and who knew [her] well". This led her to "explore what she "felt was right or wrong". She felt that she at least had the protective buffer of remaining a virgin; at least if she stopped before "full on sex" then she felt that would be okay. She therefore went along with her boyfriend's wishes to be sexually intimate in other ways, despite not knowing what she believed about these other options for intimacy – all she knew was that she did not want to have sex because that was the only thing she had been told. The blurry lines between what is and is not acceptable, both in public teaching and in private belief, meant that participants ended up being sexually intimate without giving it much thought because they had the safety net of being able to say "we never had sex". I suggest that if these participants had been able to make decisions about each sexual act such as "kissing with tongues", "touching each other naked", or "oral sex" before they were in any sexual situations with their partners, they may not have gone as far as they did. However, because they did not know what they believed about these acts, they settled with a simple solution of going along with their partners or their own desires without giving each act much thought. Their priority appeared to be that they were keeping their virginity intact.

For participants in both Group 1 and Group 2, their blurry distinctions between "grey areas" and "full on sex" led them to do sexual acts with their partners without giving them much thought, because they "weren't having sex". Interestingly many participants later acknowledged that these behaviours, though they were not sex, were unhelpful or unacceptable before marriage. For example, Hannah wrote with an obvious tone of regret that upon "Looking back, [she] realised that the sexual components of [her] relationships with both Alex and Matt had created a level of intimacy far too great for what could be justified for four month relationships between two people who weren't really compatible". When her ex got into a new relationship, Hannah suspected that they were keeping things to just kissing. It made her "quite uncomfortable to think how his new girlfriend must feel about how close and intimate [she] had been with Matt, and in a way that she hadn't". A long time later, Hannah "FINALLY understood what church leaders were saying when they often refused to set a clear line of 'this is when it goes too far". As a married woman now, Hannah concluded that "there's a grey area between what is normal and acceptable for an

unmarried couple and what strays into sexual intimacy", and "[she] could see [she'd] gone way beyond the grey area."

To conclude, I suggest that participants were so focused on "not having sex" that some of them ended up going further than they would have liked. With the 'safety blanket' of "not having sex", they did not carefully ask themselves what they believed *was* okay outside of this protective boundary. They did not carefully consider what they *did* want to do with their partners outside of "avoiding intercourse" outside of marriage. According to Hannah's example, this focus of "not having sex" risks distracting young adults and leading them to allow "everything but sex" without giving other boundaries enough thought or time to come to solid conclusions.

# Group 3: Virginity lost in the heat of the moment – that was S E X...

The next group of participants appeared to have had sex without actively planning to and without carefully considering it with their partners. The language many of them used when they talked about their first experiences of sex implied that they were "swept up" in it, as if it almost happened *to* them rather than both individuals acting with agency. They described it almost like they were victims to moments of such passion that they had no control over the situation. I discuss this victim mentality at various points throughout the dissertation, but for now it is important to note that for many participants, their mentalities implied that rather than actively crossing it, they had accidentally fallen "over the line", crossing the threshold between being a "virgin" and being a "sinner" and only coming to terms with the permanence of this transition afterwards.

Firstly, I note the speed at which many participants' physical relationships "escalated" until they reached the "last thing" and had sex. The narratives in this group described their "first time" as if they were clumsy mistakes rather than carefully thought through moments of intimacy between lovers. See the following examples, where participants both wrote about the development of their sexual experiences until they eventually had sex:

That relationship went further than just kissing, but never anywhere near intercourse. Again, this was something shameful and not something I told anyone about... and then shortly after arriving in university, I had my first experience of intercourse (again, connected to a party in our halls). It shocked me into going back to church.

Tom

Our relationship was mainly a result of physical attraction – we kissed at a house party and started dating a few weeks later. Our relationship escalated at an alarming speed. Any boundaries that I thought I would have in a relationship disintegrated rapidly, and it wasn't long before we slept together. The novelty and excitement of a physical relationship meant that I buried the feelings of guilt I had knowing that I was sinning against God. This went on for several months, until finally God spoke to me and I was prompted to end my relationship with Alex, knowing it was not good for my relationship with God.

#### Judith

The language used in both narratives implies that neither participant had planned or expected to have sex when they did. Tom was "shocked" into going back to church, demonstrating the significance he attributed to the occasion and the fact that he felt his identity as a Christian was in question because of it. Similarly, Judith's relationship caused a continual battle in her mind; she also appeared to place a lot of significance on the fact that she and her boyfriend were "sleeping together", and clearly felt she was "sinning against God" in the process. However, the speed and "excitement" of the relationship allowed her to ignore the guilt she felt. As a sidenote, the above participants appear to have got "carried away" mainly by the "physical attraction" and the excitement of sexual intimacy and intercourse. Neither participant implied that they were emotionally intimate with their partners and there were few serious long-term expectations for the relationships. In contrast to the account that follows, sexual relationships like Tom's and Judith's

caused different emotional responses to those who were in more serious relationships. Their narratives were much more blunt and talked very factually about the sexual acts and the impact they had on their Christian identities.

Other participants had long-term expectations and had been romantically involved for some time before they had sex. They had "tried so hard to avoid" having sex throughout their relationships and had been successful up until the occasions described in the following narratives. Louise's account is as follows:

The first time was so beautiful. We lay there for ages afterwards, and I remember not actually being able to believe we'd done it and that sex was that good... But the day after we met up to talk and pray about it, and we both wept uncontrollably. We felt so out of control, and like we'd messed up beyond a point that could be fixed.

Here Louise demonstrates the disbelief she felt when she and her partner finally "went too far". She describes the scene where she lay with her boyfriend "for ages afterwards", as if paralysed by a flurry of emotions because of what had just happened. She seems to describe the pair only coming to terms with what it overnight, separately, which adds to my previous arguments about individuals and/or couples separating their sexual lives from their religious lives. Whilst together on the night they had sex, it sounds like Louise and her boyfriend had a romantic time laying together after having a "beautiful" first experience of sex and being shocked that it was "that good". However, once they were alone and had space to think, it seems that their individual religious selves had come to terms with the fact that they had had sex. The next day, after this realisation, it seems that the two religious selves then came back together in a very different context – they planned to "talk and pray" about their actions but instead "wept uncontrollably". In this way, Louise appears to narrate two different stories; the one where a couple had a "beautiful" first time of intercourse together and lay in shock about how "good" it was, and then the one where a

couple cried because they were "out of control" and regretted that they had "messed up beyond a point that could be fixed".

Her comments also provide insight into the fact that being sexually active in this way is seen as a permanent, qualitatively different state than virginity (Tsui & Nicoladis 2004); Louise and her partner had transitioned into a state of being and they had no option to transition back. John had a similar experience with his long distance girlfriend:

This led us to very intimate moments over the few visits, until we went 'all the way' and I lost an aspect of my identity as being celibate for God... I was humbled and prayed about it, cried, and ate a lot of doughnuts.

John also appears to have experienced an unwanted and irreversible transition in his identity. He wrote that he had tried for a long time to maintain his celibacy until he was married, and interestingly used the word "lost" to describe what happened to his celibate identity. The notions of having "lost" virginity as if by accident is a stark contrast to the notions discussed earlier of virginity as a 'gift' (Carpenter, 2002). Rather than reaching a point in a relationship where they felt they wanted to reciprocally share the irretrievable 'gift' of one another's virginity, participants in group 3 seem to have accidentally offered it without fully considering the consequences.

I suggest that Christian couples who had been romantically involved for some time, in the aftermath of their sexual desire and moments of acknowledging their satisfaction, were blocking out the fact that they had just had sex despite their plans to save it for marriage. Only afterwards, when they were out of these positions of sexual and relational intimacy and left alone with their thoughts, did they realise what had happened and awaken the religious self. There was clearly a sense of panic or urgency for Louise and her boyfriend given that they met up "the day after" to pray about it, suggesting that the "conviction" Louise has mentioned in other parts of her narrative had led her to do some action to restore the religious self in some way. The narratives in Group 3
demonstrate the theme running throughout this dissertation; some participants were clear about the boundaries they had set but tended to get "carried away" in their moments of desire, leading them to cross boundaries and only come to terms with it after the act. Their religious selves then felt that they needed to carry out some restorative action in order reclaim some sense of the identity that had been threatened or diminished by the sexual act. Both John, Louise, and their partners "went to Christian leaders and those who [they] respect[ed] to get guidance", which I suggest was the means by which they sought to find some resolution to the situation. As mentioned in Chapter 3, when the individual fails to maintain self-concept clarity, others can help them do the work required to restore it. For example, the pastoral support John received helped him to see that "Jesus spoke his grace and his truth into the situation" and he began "to see the value in this part of [him]" that God had created. In this way, though he was upset to have "lost" his celibacy and experienced the discomfort of having his self-concept clarity disrupted, he was eventually able to form a new self-concept which incorporated both the sexual self and the religious self: He learnt "that sex was good, and that was why boundaries are given. That [his] feelings are not sin in themselves" but that "God had created his sexuality".

John had found healthy ways to cope with the unwanted and unplanned change in his identity, through the actions he took after having sex. It is interesting to note that whilst John's narrative ended on this positive note of a restored identity, Louise's did not. She wrote the following about her church leaders:

They were very gracious, kind, and understanding. They prayed for us and said they could keep us accountable if we wanted. They also said "we just need to ask...I know it's hard, but are you in this relationship with a view to marrying each other?" we both said yes, we were very seriously considering marriage. They said that this was okay, and in that case we should stay together and be held accountable. But, if we thought that actually we wouldn't marry, we should break up immediately to avoid this happening again.

Unlike John, who went on to marry the girlfriend he had sex with, Louise did not marry her partner. She wrote about the break up:

I felt like I was living a nightmare for weeks. I couldn't believe, or even comprehend, that my life was not going to be spent with him. I hated myself for allowing us to be so intimate, and I regretted being so stupid. I suddenly understood why sex was best within marriage. The pain was unbearable.

One of the reasons Louise and her partner experienced so much discomfort was because they did not experience any restoration of their self-concept after they unexpectedly lost their identity as virgins. The advice from her leaders had, in essence, put the emphasis on the fact that they should either be considering marriage or breaking up because they had already had sex. Rather than providing Louise with a restored self-concept like John's did, her leaders provided more reason for her to feel bitter and keep the sexual self separate from her identity. These factors led her to the intense emotions she experienced as a result of the end of her relationship:

I began self-harming to relieve some of the hatred and anger I felt towards myself. I hated my body for letting me fall so uncontrollably for him, and for having such little self-control.

When Louise went to receive pastoral support immediately after her identity changed as a result of having sex, the leaders could have guided her in the process of rebuilding the Christian identity that she felt had been diminished as a result of having sex outside of marriage. They could have clarified her self-concept by reminding her of the "grace" she had experienced before and by providing ways to reconcile the sexual and the religious self in healthy ways. Whilst John had received help in incorporating his sexual story into a coherent sense of self, using theological concepts of forgiveness and atonement to remove the discomfort caused by the fact that he was "no longer a virgin", Louise continued to see her body as the part of herself that had "failed" her. She therefore kept it as a separate entity and appeared to blame it for "letting [her] fall so uncontrollably" for her boyfriend that she had sex with him. I therefore suggest that the participants in Group 3 who "lost [their] identity as celibate for God" experienced a severe destabilisation of the self after unexpectedly crossing over their boundaries. After the painful process of coming to terms with their new identities as Christians who had had sex outside of marriage, they sought to restore their sense of self with the help of trusted pastoral leaders. John took actions, guided by pastoral support, which strengthened both his relationship with God and the relationship between his body (and its sexual desires) and his religious self. However, Louise did not experience any reformulation of her identity because of the advice given by her chosen pastoral support. Along with the trauma of breaking up with her boyfriend, she also experienced a severance in her identity; the religious self began to "hate" the body for allowing her to have sex.

#### Group 4: Virginity as a final act of rebellion

The final group I have identified of the participants who had sex appeared to almost throw away their virginity in a final act of defeat or rebellion. They had continually broken their own sexual boundaries and reached a point where their frustration at the self and the temptation they were experiencing led them to give up and go "all the way". I will use Naomi's narrative to explore this further, and to demonstrate the impacts of behaviours that clash with participants' Christian identities and their motivations to maintain their "purity".

Naomi's narrative started by telling the story of a girl who had never even "kissed anyone before" because she had "always seen even kissing as quite a big deal and nothing [she] would let [herself] into lightly". The story then follows the aftermath of a night when her boundaries were forcefully pushed by a "boy [she] fancied" who had convinced her to be far more intimate with him than she wanted to. Naomi then wrote about the painful development of her sexual identity after she realised that those first sexual experiences did not mean anything to her sexual partner. I explore the dramatic transition from a sense of religious identity which caused her to avoid kissing people, through to one that caused her to have sex with a stranger. The following describes her behaviour after the first incident:

Many nights I would be led by guys to do what they wanted though I made sure I didn't have sex still because that was all that I could save now. When I would wake up in the day I would wrestle with my faith and cry and apologise to God and hate myself.

Here, Naomi does demonstrate the same protectiveness over her virginity as participants that were discussed in groups 1 and 2, but she also appears to have labelled herself with another undefined identity following her first few sexual experiences. This emphasises the different labels people ascribe to different levels of intimacy and demonstrates that once someone feels they have gone beyond their own established boundary, they easily assume a new identity and then act accordingly.

As Naomi's sexual boundaries had previously been "not kissing", she clearly had very strong opinions about what she felt was acceptable outside of marriage and had set boundaries to help her stick to those beliefs. She warned the insistent guy she fancied that she "wanted him to sleep next door because [she] knew [she] would do something [she] didn't want to do as a Christian" if he slept in her room. It seems that she had no questions about the "grey areas" that other participants referred to – she did not want to go further than kissing until the time was right. Naomi therefore placed high value on the "purity" she planned to keep until marriage and was deeply affected by her feelings that this had been tainted. After her first experience, she said she found herself "numb and not caring about anything anymore". She started getting "very drunk on regular nights out" and "stopped declining guys as [she] had done for years". She wrote that "the following few weeks [she] felt such shame and sadness. [She] kept playing things over in [her] mind", "crying uncontrollably" and "self-harming" which she had done before. In a similar way to Louise, Naomi appears to be punishing her body because she "wasn't strong enough to stop him". At this point, she felt like she had gone past a point of no return after her first sexual

experience. Her sense of identity therefore appeared to shift after this incident and seemingly turned into the 'cycles of sin' that I discuss in the following chapter.

Naomi's narrative also highlights the different values people ascribe to each point in the space between, for example, kissing and having penetrative sex. It reminds us that sexual boundaries are very personal; Naomi appears to have decided that even though she was still a virgin, she was also already a "sinner" because she had been more sexually intimate with people than she had planned to be outside of marriage. In her mind the threshold had already been crossed from innocent to guilty, and she suffered depressive episodes as a result.

Her narrative ends with the following, which I suggest expresses the immense frustration that Naomi felt about the actions that led up to this point. She appeared to have lost all motivation required to adhere to the boundaries she had set herself according to her beliefs:

My actions didn't change and eventually I was in bed with a guy saying I was a Christian and that was why I didn't want to go all the way with him. He asked me why doing other things was okay to Jesus and I felt so stupid. I wasn't pleasing God, and I wasn't even pleasing that guy. I decided I'd gone too far to please God now anyway, so I went all the way with him. I did want to, but it wasn't very enjoyable, but I just wanted to please him.

The way she narrates the event seems to emphasise the exhaustion, frustration, and hopelessness she felt as a result of this struggle with her sexual self; what was once so precious to her – her purity – was given over to "a guy" simply because she felt that she had not satisfied God. She alludes to the fact that she had decided that she may as well give the "guy" some satisfaction since she had failed to "please God anyway". Lewis (1995) describes shame 'as extreme pain, discomfort, and anger' (p44) and I suggest that this experience of shame was the causal factor for Naomi's act of rebellion; it led her to have sex in an act of self-destruction as it was "the only thing she had left". I therefore suggest that Naomi's story offers insight into the ways in which

participants' feelings of having failed often led them to give up and go against their beliefs in acts of defeat or rebellion. These themes will be explored in the following chapter in where I discuss cycles of sin.

A final point to note here from Naomi's story is that she appeared to have no concern about what her own desires were. When she eventually had sex, she wrote that "it wasn't very enjoyable" but that she "wanted to please him". This gives us some idea of how she felt about herself and the worth she believed she had at this point in her sexual story. She wrote that she was ashamed, and these feelings are common when feeling shame; Lewis defines it as 'feeling that one is no good, inadequate, unworthy' (Lewis, 1995, p45). Naomi's narrative gives insight into participants' feelings of failure when they did not manage to stick to their sexual boundaries, and the ways these feelings can lead people to feel ashamed and "worthless". It is unsurprising that Naomi disregarded her own beliefs, feelings or wishes whilst in this emotional state, and it draws attention to the vulnerability that is caused by sexual shame. Participants did appear to become vulnerable in many ways, often lashing out on the self in acts of sexual sin as a self-destructive mechanism.

Naomi's experiences demonstrate what appeared to happen to participants who experienced shame very intensely; Lewis explains that usually, experiencing shame tells the self: 'stop, you are no good' (ibid), but he points out that if these feelings of shame become too intense to handle, the individual can 'bypass shame' and start to just ignore it. I add to Lewis's discussion on shame by arguing that Naomi's sense of shame became too much to handle, but rather than ignoring it, she acted out against it in moments of rebellion or self-destruction.

In this chapter I have highlighted the differing viewpoints that participants had about what counted as sex and therefore where they saw the threshold between virgin and non-virgin. I outlined participants' views on the significance of the category of "virgin" and the fact that both men and women considered their "first time" to result in a significant identity shift. I argued that most of my participants used their virginity as a bargaining tool or a safety blanket to allow sexual intimacy without experiencing dissonance. I then pointed out that of those participants who did have sex, most crossed the threshold from virgin to non-virgin in impulsive moments of intimacy, which resulted in shock and confusion as they came to terms with their new identities. Finally, I argued that some participants gave up their identity of virginity in final acts of rebellion or selfdestruction after long periods of frustration with the self.

# <u>Chapter 5: Internalising shame and losing power: the</u> <u>consequences of dissonance-inducing sex</u>

Having explored the Christian teaching received by participants, their beliefs, and the relationships between their bodies, minds, and religious identities in moments of cognitive dissonance, I will now explore the consequences of all of this on participants. These stretch from participants' immediate responses to those stretching up to 13 years after the sexual acts. I argue that participants internalised sexual shame and developed characterological self-blaming tendencies, which led to significant emotional distress. I also identify some of the impacts of cognitive dissonance on my participants' relationships with their bodies as a result of their sexual activity. Finally, I explore the implications of all that has been discussed on participants' understandings and experiences of sexual consent and rape. I conclude the chapter by emphasising the severity of the consequences of unmarried Christians beginning to engage in sexual activity without first having firm beliefs. I also point out the dangers that participants were exposed to as a result of limited sex education or open discussion about sexual desire and consent.

### The sudden realisation

As mentioned in Chapter 3, participants varied in the length of time it took to come to terms with their sexual experiences, but the majority of participants discussed the hours after sexual intimacy as intensely emotional. Luke said in an interview:

I would be interested to know whether other Christians have like a come down... in my experience that's been really intense, like so intensely opposite to what I'd just been experiencing.

Luke's notion of "a come down", which plunged him into feelings that were "so intensely opposite" to those he had been experiencing in the midst of sexual activity, was very common for

most of my participants. Because they tended to "shut down the mind" during the sexual act in order to enjoy it in the moment, it is unsurprising that the moments afterwards were moments of painful realisation and regret. James wrote the following:

The passion of the moment takes it away... and then as soon as it's done... you reflect on things... you think 'have I lost everything that my life was leading to? Am I going to hell?' And I don't even believe in hell...

Like James, coming to terms with what had just happened appeared to come as a surprise for many of my participants, and they were usually quickly followed by intense feelings of remorse. Participants' experiences add weight to Helen Lynd's (1958) work which describes shame as 'being taken unawares... something is suddenly exposed which is incongruous with, or glaringly inappropriate to, the situation, or to our previous image of ourselves in it' (p31). She attributes the painful impacts of shame to the uncomfortable feeling of being unprepared or yielding unexpectedly as if helpless, often as if being betrayed by the body and mind. I suggest that this response was particularly common for the participants in Group 3 of the previous chapter; they were hit with both the shock of going past sexual boundaries and the change in identity. These participants appeared to demonstrate the fact that their bodies had shocked them by having sex, taking them over the threshold of being "abstinent for God". My research therefore supports the idea that a fundamental part of experiencing shame comes from the fact that these exposures often come as if by surprise, often both to the self and to others.

As mentioned in Chapter 4, some participants talked about the speed with which their sexual experiences happened, and often used language which implied that the experience had almost taken them victim rather than them actively deciding to act on their sexual desires in certain ways. For example, David said that "university life became fast and reactive... it's more common just to float along and then things happen to you. And you decide afterwards what you're gonna do about it", pointing to the lack of control he felt he had over his lifestyle whilst he was having sex with

his girlfriend. Luke provided helpful insights into this. Whilst discussing his experiences, he stopped in the middle of a sentence and said "I was about to say 'what's happened to me'... but I mean what I've done... I think there's a tendency to be passive to not take ownership or acknowledge agency". Similarly, Judith wrote that her "relationship escalated at an alarming speed. Any boundaries that [she] thought [she] would have in a relationship disintegrated rapidly, and it wasn't long before [they] slept together". Similarly, Luke said in an interview that immediately after the event he reacted to one-night stands in the following way:

It's like I want to leave this room, this building, as quick as I possibly can and like leave...' there's almost an element of like, I dunno, almost like self-loathing, I'd probably describe it as like... so like, I always had to make sure they finished first, because I know that once I'm done, I'm done... I don't want to be there.

This demonstrates the common experience of sexual acts which went against participants' beliefs happening quickly and then almost shocking them after they had finished and had time to consider what had just happened. These notions of shame point to the processes involved in participants' experiences of cognitive dissonance; when they consider their sexual experiences, they are suddenly hit with an exposure of opposites: a sharp discrepancy between what they view as "*Christian*" behaviour and their *actual* behaviour. For my participants, Lynd suggests, the underlying cause of shame is the sudden and often unexpected realisation of a discrepancy between the person's sense of self and their behaviour.

Participants who had been stuck in spirals of sexual behaviour ended up stopping the spiral of sexual activity for different reasons; Naomi fell out with her best friend because her behaviour had gone so far, which made her "hit rock bottom [she] needed to start caring again". Joe had "a surge of real conviction" and a desire to follow God. Louise or her partner would "feel convicted by the Holy Spirit, and David's relationship was ended by the girlfriend who had been encouraging them to have sex. Despite these differences, all of my participants seemed to talk about these moments

as very sudden revelations of what they had been doing and how different it was to what they believed they should be. It seems that the cognitive dissonance had ceased after they reached a point in their cycle of "sin" because they became apathetic towards it, until it almost came flooding back to such an extent that participants stopped the behaviour altogether.

I noticed interesting gender differences in the length of time it took for participants to consciously go back to God after "hiding from him" during "sexual sin". This experience of avoiding God rather than turning to him after they felt they had sinned was more commonly noted by my female participants than the males. My male participants seemed quite comfortable to engage with God about their sexuality and listen to what he was saying about it, whereas the females seemed to express more avoidant behaviour, "hiding from him" for longer than the men. For example, in an interview, Lewis wrote that after "going too far with [his] girlfriend", he would often want to pray about it with her immediately. He went on to explain that his girlfriend usually felt "really uncomfortable about praying immediately after" being sexually intimate, saying that "she struggles to bring it to God" and would often "want to leave it for a bit". These responses may be linked to the historical narratives mentioned earlier which belittled the possibility of women's sexual desire and suggested that men are far more sexual. In future research, it would be interesting to explore gender differences in these tendencies to try and keep God separate to sex, and to identify the impacts this has on men and women's religious identities and integration in their religious communities.

#### Characterological self-blame and the body

Many participants expressed how feelings of shame associated with their sexuality interacted with their sense of self and altered the ways they felt about their bodies. For some, this went as extreme as "self-loathing" to the extent that they started self-harming. For example, Louise talked about intense self-hatred after a serious relationship which involved sexual intercourse ended, saying: I regretted being so stupid, and I suddenly understood why sex was best within marriage. The pain was unbearable. I wanted to die. I hated myself, and I didn't believe I would ever recover from the pain. I began burning my arms to relieve some of the hatred and anger I felt towards myself. I hated my body for letting me fall so uncontrollably for him and for having such little self-control.

#### Louise

Similarly, Naomi "kept remembering" the forceful touch of the boy she liked and being annoyed at herself that she wasn't "stronger to stop him", which led to patterns of sexual encounters and self-harm throughout her university career. Luke wrote that he would shower as soon as he possibly could after having sexual experiences with strangers because he felt "gross", pointing to notions of defilement that are common in conversations about "sexual immorality" and other sin involving bodily actions. These are some of the extreme ways in which participants felt shame "deeply in [their] bod[ies]", taking their "sinful behaviour" into themselves and attaching it to their bodily identities.

In response to sexual sin, participants tended to place the attribution of blame directly onto their selves rather than onto the situation surrounding the sin. In 1979, Janoff-Bulman identified two different types of self-blame; characterological self-blame, which occurs when the individual feels that they themselves are to blame, and behavioural self-blame, which sees fault with a particular action or experience. Identifying which type of blame participants tended towards is important when discussing the impacts that shame had on their bodily identities. Research has suggested that characterological self-blame tends to present alongside low self-esteem, high levels of shame, and depressive tendencies (Breitenbecher, 2006; Lukwak et al, 2003). My participants' narratives demonstrated more characterological self-blaming tendencies than behavioural. Rather than just feeling guilty about the particular *actions* they had taken, participants tended to feel as if their *sense of self* had been dramatically implicated by their actions. Young adults in my study tended to internalise their 'sinful' actions and label themselves 'sinners'. They had difficulty separating their

identity from their sexual acts. I therefore suggest that Christians who behave contrary to their beliefs - specifically in the area of sexuality - are more likely to experience debilitating feelings of shame about the self as opposed to feelings of guilt about particular behaviours.

Some of my participants appeared to have very low views of the self which may account for these tendencies of characterological self-blame. For example, Louise said that after her break-up with her boyfriend, she "went back to the self-loathing [she] had lived with before" – suggesting that she was prone to having very low self-esteem. According to research, then, it makes sense that Louise also "hated [her]self" for the sexual acts they engaged in, rather than placing the blame and frustration on the acts themselves. Furthermore, the identity shifts caused by sexual "sin", discussed in previous chapters and the following section, often led to diminished self-esteem. It is therefore unsurprising that most participants tended towards characterological self-blame, given that they experienced many knocks to their self-esteem as a result of their sexual experiences.

I suggest that participants ended up blaming the self after sexual "sin" and, in some cases, despising it, because they had no way of returning to the self after the sexual act. A prominent finding in this research was that my participants' churches were almost completely silent on what a believer is to do if they had not succeeded in keeping their sex lives within a marriage relationship. Only six participants wrote that they had gone to trusted individuals to talk openly about their experiences and receive advice. The rest had kept most of it hidden from the Christians in their lives or received unhelpful or unloving responses instead of responses which could them move on healthily from their experiences. Tom wrote that he never received "teaching on cleansing from sin once it had happened", pointing to the reasons behind my participants' attempts to act conclusively to try and cleanse themselves. Without any obvious options for public confession, participants were left "dealing with things alone" – they would therefore receive very little rebuke, acknowledgement, or forgiveness for their mistakes. This left some people feeling uncomfortable and unable to reach any end point to their experiences in order to move on from blaming their own body.

I propose that this led to some of the concerning consequences of self-harm and bitter self-hatred; participants believed they were in the wrong and did not feel comfortable simply continuing as if nothing happened, with no conclusive consequences and therefore limited relief. As mentioned previously, people automatically expected to lose respect from their peers and their partners (Regnerus, 2007) for the reasons discussed in chapter 1. I have argued that this led some participants to stay silent rather than open up about their "sin". As a result, they had limited opportunities for any redemptive moments or any affirmations of the "forgiveness of sins through Jesus", which I suggest caused some of these unhealthy relationships with the bodily self. Because participants had no tangible way of physically experiencing redemption from their "mistakes", and especially not in the presence of others, they ended up developing intensely negative feelings about the self, and in extreme cases they acted on these feelings by self-harming. Sharma's (2011) research explores some cases of her participants' self-harm and concludes that it is often used as a tool to live out the embodiment of shame, which results from self-blaming tendencies and the anticipated judgement from others. She writes about one of her participants: 'by punishing herself, Maya disciplines her unruly body and soul' (p68). I suggest that some of my participants' intensely bitter opinions of the bodily self were employed as a coping mechanism for understanding and acknowledging their situation in order to move on. Erving Goffman's role theory suggests that when there is distance between the image of oneself and one's behaviour, individuals will take actions to regain control of any implications (Bruner, 1963). I therefore suggest that they were attempting to judge and punish themselves in order to help them feel more comfortable or at peace with the discrepancy. Participants felt the need to act upon the body that had "sinned", whether by punishing it, changing their opinion of it, or attempting to 'cleanse' it in order to find closure from their actions and move forward.

The most significant pastoral observation this research has made is the impact of characterological self-blame on participants' mental health. This tendency to blame the self not only caused a vast

amount of pain for participants, but also led to the 'spirals of sin', faith crises, and the mental health issues that participants alluded to. I suggest that this was because they put blame on their bodies and assigned them as "powerless" and "hopeless, with no going back". The ways in which it can lead to severe mental health issues are obvious; if participants regularly "sinned", and regularly blamed the self for these "failures". It is unsurprising that the blame placed on the body would lead to feelings of anger, frustration, and a tendency to jump to blame their own body when things went wrong. Louise wrote about her experiences of trying to punish herself: "I remember, when exercising, that I would push myself almost into a frenzy because I enjoyed the pain and felt like I was letting some of the anger out on my body". It is easy to imagine how cycles of self-harm or eating disorders could develop rapidly if this kind of behaviour becomes habitual.

Furthermore, some participants appeared to have developed a complete mistrust of their own body and a fear that it would always fail them. Again, Louise wrote about the day after she had sex with her partner for the first time; "we met up to talk and pray about it, and we just cried uncontrollably. We felt so out of control, and like we'd messed up beyond a point that could be fixed". Similarly, Simon found himself "filled with fear at the prospect of going on a date; whereas going on a date with someone does not mean you will inevitably end up engaging in sexual activity". Participants also mentioned feelings of anxiety causing a reluctance to pursue future relationships due to their sexual experiences; Tom identified a fear "of punishment and shame that would fall upon" him if he made a mistake in a relationship. He said: "I never talked about any of this (out of deep shame) and never progressed into proper relationship with most of the girls I encountered. It deepened the sense of misery and guilt in my heart". This kind of mistrust of the body was prominent in my research – young people appeared to be afraid of the damage that their sexual selves would cause for themselves and their partners, suggesting that they were not living with a healthy, coherent sense of self. Simon sounded quite surprised when he said, "I can honestly say that I have lived for many years now with a high degree of sexual integrity", demonstrating the

fact that participants seemed to struggle to believe that they could effectively control their own bodies due to their past choices. In these ways, some participants appeared to be so prone to characterological self-blame that they lived in constant anxiety about their ability to live according to their own and their community's standards. It is likely that, like Tom, participants' fears of their own bodies will dictate their feelings and decisions about future relationships. This kind of pessimism about their own ability to behave in line with their beliefs could mean that they develop anxious traits in their relationships, possibly struggling to trust other people. For example, by constantly feeling like they cannot trust themselves to act in ways that they perceive to be morally acceptable, it is likely that they would also assume that other people are the same. Their relationships with future spouses could potentially be strained by an unwillingness to trust the other, and again highlights the importance of young adults having space to process these experiences and the emotions which come with them.

Perhaps the most concerning impact of Christians developing a tendency to blame the self is that they may be less likely to voice non-consent in situations where they do not actually want to have sex, or to report it after something has happened. Naomi's narrative, about her first sexual encounter, talks about a man she had "fancied" who was extremely persistent throughout the night, despite her continually saying no to his numerous attempts. She wrote about the next day: "I kept playing things over in my mind and kept remembering his forceful touch and being annoyed at myself that I wasn't stronger to stop him". This is a devastating example of the ways in which characterological blame can cloud judgements about consent, and it highlights the risk that self-blame could lead to not acknowledging or speaking out about sexual harassment, assault or even rape.

### Guilt and shame

When participants allowed themselves to think about what had happened, either after the act or after a spiral of acts, the most prominent feelings were guilt and shame. They used concepts of guilt and shame interchangeably and it was unclear whether they drew any distinctions between the two. This is understandable given that the differences between guilt and shame are also rarely discussed in wider Christian circles, despite the fact that they are vastly different in many ways (Pattison, 2011). The impacts of both guilt and shame, and suggest that participants more often experienced feelings -associated with shame rather than guilt. Fossum and Mason (1989) defined shame as 'an inner sense of being completely diminished or insufficient as a person' (p43). Shame can be debilitating, instilling feelings of powerlessness and disorientation (Pattison, 2011). Whilst shame is closely linked to feelings of guilt, scholars tend to differentiate between the two feelings according to the attribution of blame. If a person feels that they themselves have caused some negative effect, they feel shame; they may want to hide, they may feel unworthy, and they may fear abandonment as a result (Sheehy et al, 2019). Lucy demonstrates the way shame made her feel:

Because I have been sexually intimate with my significant other and other people in the past, I feel like I am hiding this big shame that I can't confess. I don't feel completely integrated in the church because of this.

Lucy

If, however, a person feels that they have done some action which causes a negative effect, and place blame on the *action* rather than the *self*, they are more likely to feel guilt. In this case, the individual's sense of self has not been diminished, but the individual is aware that their *actions* have not lived up to their own moral standards. Because the emphasis is on the action, which is external to the self, there is less damage done to the individual's sense of self (Scheff 2003). This guilt response did not seem to appear very often in my narratives or interviews. Rather, participants

were much more prone to feeling "deep shame" which led to frustration at the self for not being able to prevent their actions. It also led them to withdraw from others due to the fear of judgement and feelings of exposure. I will therefore focus primarily on the experiences of shame that participants discussed, but it should be noted that participants often referred to both interchangeably despite describing characteristics of shame rather than guilt. Michael Lewis (1995) provides insightful definitions of shame:

A fourth feature is the fusion of subject and object. In shame, we become the object as well as the subject of shame. The self system is caught in a bind in which the ability to act or to continue acting becomes extremely difficult. Shame disrupts ongoing activity as the self focuses completely on itself, and the result is confusion: inability to think clearly, inability to talk, and inability to act. This fourth phenomenological feature enables us to differentiate shame from guilt. As described above, shame is the complete closure of the self-object circle. However, in guilt, although the self is the subject, the object is external to the self. The focus of the self is upon the behaviour that caused the interruption, namely the inadequacy to meet certain standards, and upon the object who suffers from that failure. Many have used terms like concern or regret as synonyms for guilt, suggesting a focus on something external to the self rather than on the self itself (p45).

The nature of shame, as opposed to guilt, is such that feelings of deep shame after perceived "sinful actions" are unlikely to be adaptive in any way. Louise's comments highlight the extent of this for some of my participants: "I hated my body for letting me fall so uncontrollably for him, and for having such little self-control". Shame is a social emotion, typically felt after the exposure of failures, inadequacies, and moral or social transgressions (Izard, 1977); when people fail to live up to social or moral standards and when others are aware – or could become aware – of this failure. It is known to make people feel as if they have an audience, even when they are alone (Lewis, 1971). In these ways, shame provides a reference point when people fail to act in accordance with their own moral standards, bringing challenge to the self in order to change the behaviour.

It is important to note that shame arises when an individual sees themselves negatively in the light of others – whether that is in a real or imagined scenario; it is caused by 'the imagined effect of our reflection upon others' (Cooley, 1922, p182). When people experience shame, they think of others who disapprove of them or who will evaluate them negatively (Bain, 1875). This was a particularly common concern for my participants – they were very worried about "the judgement [they] would face" if people were to find out. For example, Louise wrote that "[she] worried, if [she] ever did meet anyone again, [she] would have to tell them that [she] had had sex with someone else", demonstrating the ways in which participants' shame about their sexual experiences were linked to conclusions they had drawn about how people might view them as a result. Because moral standards are usually shared by their significant others, a combination of internal and external judgements (or perceived judgements) on these failures can combine to form a damaging experience of shame and a fear of judgement. In these ways, we see how shame can help people to identify whether their relationships with others would be under threat (Mason and Fattore, 2017). This experience is likely to increase when those others are people whose opinion carries weight for the individual, such as authority figures. This real or imagined audience, then, if it includes people such as those in authority and people whose opinion has an impact on the individual, will cause immense pressure to perform to a high moral standard. I therefore suggest that participants' tendencies to experience shame are linked to the anxieties and self-hatred that some of my participants experienced.

The experience of shame is also more damaging when the individual is being judged, or is imagining being judged, by someone who achieves highly in the area they are being judged negatively for. To use Cooley's (1922) example, shame is usually greater for a man who has appeared cowardly in the presence of a brave man. The implications of this are obvious; when the general perception in the Church is that good Christians are holy and never succumb to sexual desires outside of marriage, unmarried individuals who do succumb to sexual desires will experience deep feelings of shame around other Christians. David assumed that his moral practices were far worse than everyone else at church: "Although nobody in my church community actually knew that we were having sex, the divisions in moral practices between me and people in my church still made me feel uncomfortable". Because of this perception that everyone else in church were living "holy" lives and not having sex outside of marriage, David did not feel he could share himself fully with his community. He experienced a divide between his sexual life and his church life, due to feelings of shame vis-à-vis those he perceived as high achieving others whose judgement he was expecting and dreading. Other participants also withdrew from their church community and did not enjoy close fellowship as Christians because of shame. For example, Naomi "tried going to Christian events though [she] felt disconnected through shame". Similarly, Sophie spent many years with her shame "weighing [her] down for so long" because she "never told anyone who could understand the weight of what [she] felt". These narratives portray the debilitating nature of shame. My research gives evidence of the ways in which shame simultaneously makes people feel as if they have an audience whilst also feeling completely alone, setting one apart and destroying any sense of trust and acceptance (Wurmser, 1995).

#### The spirals of "sin"

Many of my participants went through cyclical patterns of sexual behaviour, lasting from days to years depending on the situation but eventually coming to abrupt and painful ends. For example, Naomi wrote about the weeks after she lost her virginity: "I felt even more confused but also even more carefree and continued in these behaviours until they eventually broke one of my close friendships". Others spoke of "going too far" and not being able to "go back to before", suggesting that there was a threshold which, once crossed, led the individual to feel that they had no option to return. I now seek to understand these cycles and to explore the roles of motivation and desire in maintaining these cycles of behaviour.

Participants who felt they had been "failed by [their] bod[ies]" multiple times lacked confidence in their ability, or the determination required, to practice self-control. They therefore became less likely to put effort into abstaining from sex. In an interview James talked about "going down a rabbit hole" and explained that he would go a few weeks doing what he wanted and saying "screw you God", then then he would realise and think "oh my goodness, I'm unforgiveable, how can I cope, how can I go home and be with my family when they don't know?". This dramatic and polar behaviour is striking; it seemed that participants found themselves pushing boundaries and then having no way of finding resolve or closure, so they simply continued pushing their boundaries further. According to Louise, sexual temptation sometimes felt like an "overwhelming, out of body force" that she couldn't fight "no matter how hard [she] tried". I suggest that these cycles of sin were triggered by initial sexual acts which resulted in feelings of powerless and a limited desire to abstain.

I propose that self-concept theories can help to explain the processes behind these spirals. Participants' self-esteem and hopes for the future were damaged when they, in their opinion, "sinned". Low self-esteem leads people to expect that they might fail to act according to their beliefs (Stone and Cooper, 2001). David wrote that he felt insufficient around Christian friends due to "an incongruence which [he] felt at the time, between [his] actions outside of church, and the faith [he] professed and shared with other people". I suggest that this demonstrates the detrimental effect that dissonance causes, damaging the self-esteem and making people aware of the instability in their sense of self. People lose confidence when they do not feel like they occupy a stable and coherent sense of self, leading to feelings of defeatism and a reluctance to try and act according to their beliefs. In a self-perpetuating cycle, then, dissonance causing behaviour lowers the self-esteem and further reduces hopes for their future behaviour, giving the individual less reason to actually try and reach their own personal standards of morality. Research found that those with lower self-esteem were less likely to be as uncomfortable in occasions of dissonance

because they had lower expectations of themselves (Bae, 2016). It is therefore likely that participants would then become less effected by dissonance-inducing sex the more often it happens, due to the damage caused to the self-esteem each time. I suggest that this explains that for my participants, each time they "messed up" they became more likely to do so again due to their awareness of the inconsistency of their beliefs, desires, actions, and personality traits. This awareness made them more likely to continue with dissonance-inducing behaviours due to the impacts of conflicted identity on self-esteem.

As well as decreasing self-esteem, these initial discrepant behaviours, in this case a sexual experience out of marriage, can also lead to confusions about the self-concept. David said the following in an interview:

These different effects of having sex in a relationship before marriage combined to change how I identified myself (although importantly I didn't realise this at the time), and ultimately threatened my ability to recognise my identity as a child of God.

This confusion, and the discomfort that usually comes with it, can sometimes be relieved by disregarding the old self-concept and identifying with a different one. I therefore suggest that participants continue in cycles of behaviour according to these temporary and unformed self-concept. Although this sometimes worked for participants as a temporary defence mechanism to avoid the pain of behaving contrary to the self-concept. They then crashed back to reality as discussed in Chapter 2. During these periods, James' guilt was non-existent for "weeks" until it suddenly hit him and sent him into a spiral of guilt and frustration, going back to behaviours like "counting the days that [he]'d managed to stop sinning".

In the case of sex outside of marriage, it would have been interesting to have explored whether changes to cognitions about the ethics of it were made consciously with the awareness that sexual opportunities might take place regularly. For example, David was aware that his decision making may have been swayed by the fact that he was in a relationship with a girl who believed sex outside of marriage was fine – he therefore had a motivating factor to contend with whilst he made his decision about the ethics of it. Unfortunately, none of the participants who had "one night stand[s]" or only "went further than planned" once or twice offered to take part in the interviews. These narratives were also much shorter and gave no hint of justifying or altering their beliefs after their behaviour. For example, Joe talked very briefly about two occasions where he went home with girls after nights out, and said he had "a real surge of conviction that what [he] was doing was wrong and very quickly left". He said he was grateful for "the holy spirit convicting [him]" and expressed no hint of doubting his cognitions about sex outside of marriage. The fact that these narratives were so short and conclusive could be interpreted as evidence for the fact that people in relationships, who were more likely to have sexual opportunities arise regularly, were more likely to spend time deliberating over the morality of these actions.

Given that participants were discussing instances where they crossed their sexual boundaries with others, the impact of being observed by others becomes important when discussing counter attitudinal behaviours. Studies found that internalisation was much more likely to take place if the dissonance inducing behaviour had been witnessed by another person (Baumaster and Tice, 1984). I therefore suggest that participants in relationships may have been more likely to internalise their concept of the self into agreement with one's recent behaviour (Festinger and Carlsmith, 1959) in order to save face in front of the sexual partner. Further, because we can assume that participants placed high value on the opinion of the person they had sexual encounters with, it is worth considering that they may also have been motivated by the desire to maintain perceptions of integrity and consistency of the self. For example, Naomi and Jessica both found that once they had been sexually active with their non-Christian partners, they struggled to explain why they believed that sex outside of marriage was wrong. Hannah's boyfriend appeared to have had a similar experience – once they had concluded that "anything but sex" was okay outside of marriage,

and then proceeded to be sexually intimate with one another often, he did not feel able to tell her that he did not believe that they should continue with the sexual intimacy until they get married. Though none of my participants elaborated on these experiences, it is obvious that it became very difficult for them to hold views that conflicted with their recent behaviours, particularly if they were witnessed by another person.

#### **Relational turmoil**

My findings also suggest that some couples who had decided on boundaries together and then broke them together experienced damaged trust in the other's ability to care for them and therefore placed some blame on them. The narratives suggest that that sexual experiences within Christian relationships often caused disorientation in the relationship itself and led to doubts about the suitability of their partners. Louise wrote that she "was also bitter about the fact that [her partner] often initiated it despite knowing how much the consequences would hurt [them] both". Similarly, Hannah wrote:

I was angry at Matt. Although he hadn't put pressure on me and I hadn't taken much convincing, he was ultimately the one who convinced me that to engage in certain sexual behaviours was ok. If I had been setting the boundaries at the beginning, we would probably have just kissed, but I had a nice Christian guy telling me that other things were ok. I only did those things because he suggested it, but then I felt like he was making me feel guilty for it. At the time I was like Why should I feel guilty? This was your idea!'

These narratives capture the added hurt that female participants felt when their partners' shared their Christian beliefs about abstinence until marriage but continued to encourage sexual intimacy. There is a sense of frustration at the other member of the couple and the fact that they did not play their part in helping them avoid sex outside of marriage. Whilst secular culture suggests that sex, regardless of marital status, is a natural and healthy way of deepening romantic relationships, Christian couples tend to respond to sexual intimacy in ways that distance them from one another due to feelings of blame, frustration, and confusion.

Christian narratives about male headship have subtly become part of some young adults' concerns about sex outside of marriage, influencing the way they respond to their partners' after having sexual intimacy outside of marriage. Only female participants acknowledged that another person was responsible for their sexual acts, whilst the male participants took full responsibility for the sexual "sin". For example, though David wrote that his non-Christian girlfriend wanted to have sex with him and actively encouraged it, he placed the blame for the sexual acts very strongly on himself. James also wrote that in conversations about sex at his conservative church, he was told that "men must control themselves for their girlfriends' sake", which he found frustrating because it implied that men need to be told how to "look after" their girlfriends as if they were not doing this already. Similarly, Louise wrote that one of her partners felt solely responsible, saying "he felt that he should have stopped us because he was supposed to be protecting me from harm". It is therefore interesting to consider whether participants (consciously or unconsciously) held the historically ingrained notions of male leadership which have existed in society and particularly the Church for many years (Aune, 2006). Most participants did not attend churches which taught conservative perspectives about male headship, but it is likely that some of them would still have some implicit expectations about the role of men providing protection for their partners as a result of numerous cultural scripts as well as remnants of conservative teaching (Onorio, 2015). Female participants such as Hannah and Louise implied that they had expected their partners to help them and protect them from harm and were frustrated when their partners did not do this successfully in regard to their sexual activities.

Interestingly these dynamics of relational turmoil and anger seemed to be very different for the participants whose partners were not Christians. Jessica wrote that *she* was the one who felt guilty when her non-Christian boyfriend got offended that she wouldn't sleep in the same bed as him.

She did acknowledge that her boyfriend complained, saying that she "didn't trust him to respect [her]", but she implied that this was not the case despite the fact that he persisted to encourage her to be more sexually intimate than she wanted to on numerous occasions. Similarly, Judith wrote the following about her relationship with a non-Christian:

Time and time again he would push my boundaries and I would feel guilty afterwards and tell myself it wouldn't happen again. But temptation got the better of me and I gradually gave in to his advances and we slept together.

Rather than these women feeling that their partners' "advances" and petitions were unfair because they had already explained that they did not want to cross certain boundaries before marriage, they put the blame on themselves and the fact that they didn't stop both of them from giving into temptation. In these ways, participants seemed to make excuses for their non-Christian partners in a way that Christian couples did not. In an interview, Jessica said that it was to be expected for non-Christian men to want to have sex with their girlfriends, and she felt that he was being kind and understanding enough by staying in the relationship despite the fact that she did not want to. I suggest that these Christian girls actually ended up feeling ashamed for two reasons: for stopping their partners from having sex due to beliefs they didn't personally hold, *and* for breaking their own sexual boundaries when their non-Christian boyfriends "couldn't handle the temptation".

#### Consensual sex, rape, and the aftermath in Christian circles

It is of vital importance to consider the risks involved in situations where people were torn between wanting and not wanting sexual intimacy. In terms of consent, the line becomes blurry and wavering when one individual (or both) simultaneously does and does not want to have sex. I have already noted numerous occasions where participants have implied that they were pressured into certain acts by their partners or vice versa, and I now highlight the complications involved. The first concern about consent that is evident in the narratives is that participants often talked about times when one of the partners would encourage the other to cross their boundaries. Although they did not literally force them to do sexual acts, they admitted that they did manipulate situations wherein their partner would succumb to temptation. For example, Louise mentioned that she and her partner would often tease each other by trying to "turn each other on" until the other eventually succumbed to temptation and initiated oral or penetrative sex. Hannah described these kinds of situations, highlighting the obscurities caused by continuous indecisiveness and confusion in relationships, with boundaries constantly being negotiated:

Looking back, I was very much guilty of not respecting his boundaries once he raised concerns. I thought it was fine and didn't want to stop, so whenever he got tempted to do things I would encourage it rather than stop it for his benefit.

Judith wrote about an occasion when her non-Christian partner encouraged her to have sex for the first time. She demonstrated the effort required to abstain in these situations where individuals both wanted and did not want to have sex. She said "it was easier to let it happen than resist, and honestly, I enjoyed it". In these ways, participants evidenced some of the ambiguities involved in these relationships; because of the effort required to avoid sexual temptation, it seems that participants often found themselves just letting their partners do what they wanted rather than actively deciding to remove themselves from the temptation. Alternatively, participants were the ones doing the tempting, and made it difficult for their partners to say no. This shows how some unmarried Christians, or their partners, demonstrate manipulative behaviours in order to engage in sexual intimacy outside of marriage with their partners.

The second concern is that these ambiguities appeared to be exacerbated when couples regularly shifted their sexual boundaries and often changed their opinions in the "heat of the moment". It seems that when a couple are regularly indecisive about their sexual boundaries, they are more likely to dilute, ignore, or even incorporate the ambiguity as part of the excitement. Participants appeared to have developed concerning relationship dynamics as a result of their joint experiences of cognitive dissonance. Interestingly, James expressed optimism in an interview, suggesting that men would realise if their partner was uncomfortable about having sex:

Yeah I guess there's the idea in society that guys will sleep with anything that moves and have no perception of what the other person's feeling, they don't care. But I think, if she wasn't having a good time, the guys would pick up on that... so I wonder whether, I a girl started panicking about whether it was right, whether the guy would respond. I don't know.

Unfortunately, this assumption that Christians would "pick up on" whether their partners were willing to do certain acts was incorrect for some participants. Louise wrote about occasions where a Christian boyfriend "started to assume that [she] wanted to push the boundaries whenever he did" because they had mutually "gone too far" on many occasions. She explained that towards the end of the relationship, he started to initiate sexual acts without getting any kind of consent from her at all. This continued for a while until one "serious occasion" when he actually began having penetrative sex with her without seeking any kind of consent. She wrote:

When I made him stop, he did, and when he realised how upset I was (I cried and told him that I hadn't wanted to have sex), he apologised like he did often, and said he thought I wanted it too. I accepted this and apologised for making him think that.

Tragically, Louise apologised for this incident and "only realised after the relationship [ended] that [her] boyfriend had raped her". I suggest that this is a result of some of the issues I have discussed in this dissertation. She appears to have initially justified his behaviour because of highly charged sexual encounters in the past, where both members often made the decision to "break [their] own rules". This story points towards the identity changes that are explored in this dissertation; Louise appears to have shifted her identity in a way that makes her assume that she was the one in the wrong. Similarly, Naomi demonstrated a lot of strength by consistently saying no despite "fancying" a persistent boy on a night out and also feeling quite tempted:

It took ages again for him to let me close the living room door after he was now asking to come and stay in my room... Again after a long flirty argument he ended up staying on my bedroom floor. I went to the toilet and when I came back he was on his hands and knees and kept trying to hold me. I went to bed and then he kept putting his hands under the covers to touch me. I kept telling him not to. I admitted that I actually liked him and that was the reason I wanted him to sleep next door because I knew I would do something I didn't want to do as a Christian...

Unfortunately, Naomi's insistent "no" did not stop the man she liked from encouraging her to go a lot further than her boundaries allowed. Again, Naomi blamed herself for "not being strong enough to stop him". I suggest that these tendencies towards characterological self-blame led participants to blame themselves automatically. In Louise's case, she blamed herself without considering whether the other person involved was in the wrong, despite the fact that he had not gained consent before penetration. Louise therefore dismissed an incident of rape and even "felt bad" about the fact that her partner had not been able to control himself during heated moments of intimacy. In Naomi's case, she blamed herself for not stopping her partner from sexually harassing and eventually assaulting her. To add to these issues, due to their concerns about judgement, they did not talk to anyone about these incidents. It is therefore highly possible that these participants are still blaming themselves for these incidents.

These participants' stories point to further concerns. They make clear that most of them have never been advised about the realities of sexual intimacy, other than the very limited sex education most of them received in school. This left little room for discussions about how to communicate consent, how to make the experience pleasurable for both partners, and even how to have safe sex. They are a sobering example of the dangerous mindsets that Christians often end up having as a result of the limited guidance on how to control sexual desires, the taboos and restricted conversations about sexual intimacy, and the importance of giving and receiving consent before acting on sexual desires. Further to this, given the high rates of pornography usage amongst young people (Stanley et al, 2018; Valkenburg and Peter, 2009 and 2011), Christians who have no healthy sex education are at risk of developing perverse views and expectations of sex. Pornography is notorious for its historically degrading portrayal of women, with limited emphasis on consent and protection, and sometimes including graphic sexual violence (Braithwaite, 2014). Combining the unlimited access that young people have to pornography, then, with a limited discourse in Christian settings about safe and healthy sexual intimacy, can easily provide young Christians with dangerous and unhealthy sexual scripts. This repression of the topic has led to occasions of assault and even rape for participants like Louise due to the obvious challenges of communicating desires when individuals both do and do not want to have sex.

In this chapter, I have explored some of the consequences of sex outside of marriage for believers. I used participants' experiences to highlight the dangers of poor teaching and unhealthy relationships to sexuality, specifically pointing to dangerous impacts on mental health, behavioural patterns, and sexual impulsivity. I have argued that when Christians do eventually find themselves with sexual opportunities outside of marriage, they tend to take place in highly erotically charged and often very impulsive and frustrating encounters. I used participants' honest accounts of traumatic experiences to demonstrate ways in which these occasions resulted in shock and confusion, leading to damaging feelings of shame which left some participants (or their partners) feeling powerless to control their sexual desires. I also used Janoff-Bulman's (1979) discussions of self-blame to suggest that participants tended towards characterological self-blame, which may explain participants' depressive episodes and negative beliefs about the self or the body after sex outside of marriage. I added to the literature by arguing that dissonance-inducing sex and the silence that surrounds it increases the dangers for unmarried Christians. I used participants' stories to argue that they are less likely to learn how to cope with overwhelming sexual desires and therefore more at risk of non-consensual sex. As well as this, I demonstrated the fact that Christian victims of sexual assault and rape are at risk of being silenced due to fears of judgement, or worse, tendencies such as characterological self-blame that can cloud judgements about consent and blame.

## **Conclusion**

This dissertation explored the impacts of cognitive dissonance on the religious self, looking specifically at the sexual experiences of unmarried Christian adults. The research involved the analysis of 25 anonymous narratives, one autoethnographic narrative, and extensive semi-structured interviews with five participants. In this way, it gives voice to many participants who had not felt able to share their questions, experiences, or opinions with others due to stifled discourses around sex outside of marriage in the UK Church. These methods allowed me to explore the practical realities for those who hold religious beliefs, highlighting ways in which religious identities are formed by the *actions* of believers as much as they are formed by the cognitive beliefs. It also offers rare insights into the private lives of believers and the ways they often differ from both public Christian teaching and private Christian belief.

One of the most common findings in this research was the fact that many of my participants did not have fully formed beliefs about sex outside of marriage prior to their first sexual experiences. Young Christian adults often found themselves with sexual opportunities whilst they were still in the process of forming their religious beliefs, which meant that these were easily influenced by sexual activity. Some participants actively acknowledged that this was the case, and that their temptations often led the formation of their beliefs about sex outside of marriage. Some participants did not understand why sex was "such a big issue", and others were frustrated or confused by the way their church had handled discussions. This led some to "avoid church" and to come up with alternative discourses, particularly if they felt that conversations about sex had been stifled rather than "being open to discussion". In these ways, I argued that young adults followed generational trends by refusing to accept the guidance of authority figures and tradition, instead choosing to establish their own sets beliefs from various different sources. Throughout the dissertation I acknowledged that participants experienced their sexuality according to numerous factors including gender, relationship status and length of belief. Social and religious norms influenced the ways in which participants interpreted their sexual experiences, meaning that discomfort was experienced at different times and in different ways. These factors had implications for the participants' experiences of sexual desire and satisfaction. Participants maintained dualistic understandings of the bodily self and the religious self which caused unconscious distinctions. Many interpreted their spiritual desires on the one hand as "good" and sexual desires on the other being "sinful". This can explain why participants were dragged into identity crises when they acted on their sexual desires. My participants appeared to find it difficult to relate to their bodies and sexual desires; they did not see them as created by God to be enjoyed, but rather as an enemy to be defeated for the sake of their "purity". It is interesting to consider whether my participants may have been less likely to have such tumultuous struggles in their faith following sexual experiences if Church teaching was more careful to avoid this duality. For example, if sexuality was taught in a more positive light, seeing it as a good part of God's creation in human beings, I suggest that participants would have been less likely to see their desires as "something to be afraid of".

I also suggest that Christians who grew up going to church were likely to inherit this dualistic view of the bodily self and the spiritual self, which prevented them from feeling empowered to control their sexual desires. Instead, as mentioned throughout, participants often felt "completely defeated" by their physical temptations, as if their sexuality was a force outside of themselves that constantly needed to be "fought". This mindset led many of my participants to fear their own sexuality, subconsciously removing it from themselves and expecting it to "overwhelm" them. In this way, they grew up with the implicit expectation that their body would fail them, usually before they had ever experienced sexual desire. The evidence provided suggests that these dualistic notions can become dangerous when mixed with the confusion caused when Christians both do and do not want to have sex, providing them with reasons to excuse their behaviour. For example, some participants described sexual experiences where the boundaries of consent were pushed in "the heat of the moment", including one instance of rape, two instances of sexual harassment, and another of sexual assault. The ability for perpetrators to blame something external to the self, i.e., sexual desire according to this dualistic view, led some participants to excuse occasions of rape or assault. Again, my participants point to the fact that ideas stemming from Gnosticism continue to influence their everyday experience of Christian life; they seem to view their bodies and therefore their sexuality as "dirty", whilst viewing the mind and spirit, which abstains from "sexual immorality" as honourable (Cornwall, 2013). This stark divide between the sexual and the spiritual self led to perceptions that their sexual actions strengthened their sexual identity in ways that entirely negated growth in their religious identity. This and other examples show some of the lenses through which participants interpreted their sexuality. Some of these lenses had been provided by the Church unintentionally through poor teaching or stifled conversations.

This dissertation highlighted serious limitations in the provision of guidance that participants received, which was partly to blame for some of the damage caused by their sexual experiences. Advice about how to control sexual desire was lacking, with some participants stating that they had never heard any practical guidance on how to go about abstaining from sex. Furthermore, it shows that churches need to have conversations about how to ensure that sex is consensual and also how to have safe sex in order to avoid pregnancy or sexually transmitted diseases. As mentioned, these topics were rarely talked about in church due to the assumptions that unmarried Christians would not be having sex and therefore should not need to know about it until they were engaged and preparing for marriage. This led participants into some risky situations, and I gave the example of one couple who used the "pull-out method" because they had chosen not to buy condoms in order to prevent them from having sex.

The lack of teaching and guidance in Christian circles about consent meant that Christians who are trying to abstain are often at greater risk of blurring the lines of consent. Participants demonstrated that unmarried Christians tended to have highly intense and impulsive sexual encounters. Their accounts highlighted the need for practical advice about consent and the need to encourage Christians to say "no" and listen for "no" in these scenarios. Some of the most concerning findings from this research involved the stories of 3 female participants who crossed boundaries because of persistent men. Naomi and Jessica were heavily pressured by their partners, and Louise was raped by her boyfriend who assumed that she "wanted it too". The dissertation highlighted that the lack of open discussion about sex led Louise to ignore the fact that her partner had raped her until a year after they broke up, as he was the only other person who she had talked to about the incident. Christians who had been assaulted were likely to fear judgement for admitting that they had put themselves in positions of sexual intimacy in the first place, and therefore might find it hard to explain the contexts in which these sexual assaults took place. In these ways, I used their traumatic stories to argue the importance of making educational conversations about sex accessible for Christians, specifically including matters of consent.

The dissertation also suggests that there ought to be a particular emphasis on the need to respect one another's boundaries and abstain from sex for the sake of the other person. For example, prior consideration or teaching may have empowered participants to "say no" in order to help their partner abstain. Instead, many participants admitted to "pushing [their partners] into temptation" despite knowing their wishes to avoid having sex outside of marriage. The risks of avoiding these conversations are evident in my findings; some participants, or their partners, had developed dangerous and damaging habits due to a combination of factors. The consequences of this lack of knowledge was evident in these women's narratives, causing them serious emotional and spiritual damage by failing to realise the seriousness of what had happened to them. To prevent situations like this, young Christian adults must be given opportunities to talk openly about their sexual experiences, to learn about matters of consent, and to establish habits of restraint where consent is not given willingly. I also highlighted pressing pastoral issues related to sexual experiences, specifically exploring some of the implications on mental health, including eating disorders and self-harming tendencies. The limited discourse and the secrecy that surrounds unmarried Christians' sex lives meant that my participants felt unable to talk about their experiences due to fears of judgement. In many instances, this reluctance to talk about sexual encounters in the Christian community left participants suffering in silence, which led to the withholding of much-needed support. I used the examples of participants who began self-harming due to their feelings of shame and anger which they had not felt able to voice or seek help about. I also pointed to spirals of destructive behaviour which was common throughout the narratives. The Church's restrictive conversations about sex often gives limited opportunities for honesty and therefore forces unmarried Christians to go through the subsequent emotional turmoil alone. This made it less likely for people to find healing and move on from their experience, and more likely to continue in self-destructive patterns of behaviour.

This silence in the Church about sex contrasted starkly with the loud voices of shame and guilt that my participants experienced, making it hard for them to engage fully with their church community. Some young adults, or others they knew, walked away from their faith entirely whilst they were pursuing sexual relationships due to feelings of shame or alienation. In these ways, poor or limited conversations about sexual discipline can also lead young adults to leave the Church. This highlights the need for the topic to be addressed sensitively and for Church leaders to encourage believers to ask questions about the moral guidelines they were following. I suggest that if churches facilitate open spaces for young people to be honest about their opinions and experiences, in the safety of a loving and non-judgemental environment, young adults would be more likely to have formed healthy beliefs about sex. The earlier these conversations take place, the more likely these conclusions will be reached before having sexual opportunities, thus avoiding the hurt and confusion evidenced in this dissertation.
The dissertation provided lived examples of the realities of Festinger's (1957) theories of cognitive dissonance and demonstrated some of the ways in which devout believers dealt with their experiences of it. It also gave evidence and insight into the significant challenges that this cognitive dissonance brought to participants' identities, relationships, and mental health. I used my participants' narratives and interviews to explore the physiological, spiritual, emotional, and behavioural realities of sex outside of marriage for conservative Christians. The project also explored the ways in which participants sought to reduce the discomfort of dissonance.

The most common option participants took was to separate the religious and the sexual lives so that the painful clashes of dissonance were reduced. Whilst having sex, they attempted to "push God out" of their minds so they could enjoy the act, and whilst engaging with God in church, with Christian friends, or alone, they pushed their sexual selves out. They did not change any beliefs or religious commitments to avoid dissonance, they simply blocked them out of their minds temporarily. For example, participants mentioned hearing teaching about sex in church or "literally" hearing "God telling [them] to stop" whilst in the middle of a sexual act. In these moments, they were struck by the fact that "what [they] were doing wasn't okay" and therefore endured extreme conflict with their own bodies. For these reasons, those who regularly engaged with this tactic experienced many painful moments of guilt and shame when the religious self was reminded once again of the dissonance caused by the sexual self. I found that this led to inner conflict and painful negotiation; the desires of the religious self often clashed harshly with those of the sexual self. This led to frustration and confusion for both them and their sexual partners.

The dissertation also explores other tactics of avoiding dissonance. Sexual experiences outside of marriage led some participants to change the self in order to reduce the discomfort, with some altering their beliefs about sex outside of marriage so that the dissonance was removed altogether. Some participants went through phases of limiting the importance of their beliefs and even the significance of their Christian faith to their lives, with some leaving church for long periods of

time. Interestingly, I found that those people who did this, or others they knew who had, eventually ended up returning to their religious beliefs later, usually after stopping their sexual activity. This was usually a painful experience due to the discomfort that remerged after the acknowledgement of their dissonance-inducing behaviours. Often, the dissonance was actually exacerbated because they had only come to "understand the reasons behind the teaching" in hindsight. For these reasons, some of my participants returned to the religious self with more conservative views about sex only after they had stopped being sexually active. These instances caused much regret and they required redemptive moments to enable them to restore their sense of identity.

Participants experienced spirals of "sin" due to characterological self-blaming tendencies; each time they engaged in sexual behaviour, they labelled themselves as sinful. Participants' bodily actions led to a deterioration of their religious self, embodying secular norms of sex outside of marriage rather than perceived Christian norms of "holiness" and abstinence. Bodily actions taken by religious believers therefore had a large role in shaping the identity of the believer, regardless of whether they were religious actions or not. These constantly shifting senses of identity, which came as a result of their actions, added to McGuire's work by providing evidence of the complex interplay between belief, behaviour, and identity. My participants' experiences demonstrated that when they acted against their religious beliefs about sex, they caused damage to their religious selves by highlighting the similarities that their behaviours shared with secular society.

Throughout this research I found that my participants placed a lot of emphasis on the fact that penetrative sex is different to other forms of sex. Young adults approached the idea of virginity differently and some used the justification of "at least we're not having penis-in-vagina sex" to loosen their boundaries without feeling guilty. Some participants seemed particularly defensive about their virginity – both in making sure they kept it, but also in making sure that it could continue to be used as justification for all other sexual acts whenever they felt they needed one. On the other hand, some participants gave up their virginity in an act of self-destruction or final

defeat. In all instances though, those who did "lose [their] virginity" saw it as a significant event and effected their sense of identity in a different way to other sexual acts.

As well as struggling to engage with their usual church lives whilst they were still sexually active outside of marriage, participants did also seem to struggle if they had not dealt with their previous dissonant lifestyles effectively. Because of the implications of bodily acts on religious identities, participants were painfully aware of the ways their bodies had "failed them" in the past, leaving them feeling "dirty" and "inadequate" when attending church. I therefore suggested that until participants engaged in some restorative act to bring them back into their community, they found it hard to "reconcile" their previous behaviour with their religious identity.

Finally, participants' experiences highlight the importance of effective pastoral support, from friends in their church community as well as those in positions of mentoring and leadership. Although most of the narratives and interviews demonstrated the more negative elements of the Church's dealings with the topic, participants did also point towards some positive and redemptive experiences. There were also significant moments for participants which allowed this sense of self to be re-established, which were important to allow participants to move forward from their discomfort, which I suggested was likely to prevent further damage to their mental health, relationships, and future sexual experiences.

My research found that participants who had been able to speak to trusted Christian friends, leaders, or family after their sexual experiences were likely to have opportunities to develop a well thought through mindset about sex and marriage. This implied that "sinning" and then going through the processes described in this project appeared to give people opportunities to thoughtfully evaluate their beliefs about sex, and to come to settled conclusions about their sexual ethics. Despite the resistance and feelings of judgement from his church leadership (discussed in Chapter 1), James continued to engage with podcasts, family members, and friends from his home church. He found this helpful and felt he rarely received judgement despite disagreements. In some

ways, he found this experience empowering; "it's actually made me stronger in the sense that my faith has got a lot deeper... I'm more willing to question things". In these ways, as well as helping him to develop his view about sex and marriage, James also gained a more holistic and thorough belief system through these open and honest conversations about matters such as sexuality. Having firm convictions therefore enabled them to have more effective management over their behaviour and therefore their identities. For these reasons I amplify the voices of participants who noted the immense benefit of having space to be vulnerable and to talk about their sexualities free from judgement.

As well my findings pointing to the discomfort caused by dissonance, they added an element to theories of cognitive dissonance and the self-concept. Some participants used the threat of cognitive dissonance to prevent themselves from acting on desires which they believed would lead them to "sin". Many of them had an awareness of the discomfort they would experience if they did have sex, and they allowed this to direct their actions. As a result of this, their religious senses of self were affirmed. They were left with a more robust set of cognitions, which in turn led to further abstinence as a result, thereby strengthening the self-concept and limiting further dissonance-inducing behaviours. So, whilst cognitive dissonance does cause emotional and spiritual distress for some, it also has the potential to guide participants and motivate them to behave according to their beliefs. This response was the opposite to cognitive dissonance, where the religious self was diminished and resulted in subsequent dissonance inducing actions. When participants abstained from sex due to their beliefs, the congruence between cognition and behaviour provided them with stronger cognitions about abstaining from sex. Studies found that people tend to alter their cognitions after acting in order to maintain congruence between the action and belief (Jones 1981; Tice 1992). I suggest that people also altered their cognitions when they did act according to their beliefs, often becoming more fervent in the cognition they acted according to. My participants' experiences therefore demonstrated that much like dissonance*inducing* behaviour is internalised and repeated, successful dissonance-*avoiding* behaviour is internalised in the same way.

To conclude, the processes of identity formation discussed in this dissertation demonstrated McGuire's (1996) claims that religiously motivated behaviour results in the 'interpenetration' of the 'body, mind, self and society' (p107) and contributes to the formation of the religious self in a continuous process of adjustment. Participants were forced to contend with the influences of secular culture, religious authority, and their sexual partners during this formation of the self. They noted times where they abstained successfully from sex in order "to honour God", and these actions led to strengthened religious selves. Similarly, when participants engaged in acts of worship or attended church, their religious selves were strengthened. I therefore suggested that corporate acts of worship such as taking communion and singing together were vital in times of confusion and doubt caused by sexual activity.

In these ways, this dissertation sheds light on the benefits of the Church ensuring that it deals with sexuality effectively. I suggest that there is scope to encourage unmarried Christians to enjoy an empowering relationship with their sexuality, since abstinence from sexual activity outside of marriage was a positive experience for my participants when they succeeded. When young adults chose to abstain, it instilled feelings of belonging to the Christian community as they made sacrifices for their faith in ways that they believed the people around them were also making. I reference participants descriptions of sexual temptation as choosing to act "in allegiance" to God and suggest that language reminiscent of war and loyalty highlights the feelings of camaraderie that can arise when individuals make sacrifices to abide by common moral guidelines. This increased sense of belonging provided further motivation to abstain and gave participants more certainty about their decisions to avoid sex outside of marriage. Furthermore, I suggest that participants who chose to abstain despite the difficulties and temptations experienced a strengthened sense of self and found the confidence to regain control over their bodies and their sexual selves.

## Suggestions for future research

Due to the limitations of this research described in the introduction, there were certain topics that I would have liked to discuss further. This was predominantly due to the fact that participants who had touched on these themes or topics in their anonymous narratives did not offer to do interviews. I therefore could not follow up on things they had said or implied. I will outline these things briefly.

I discussed in Chapter 1 that participants often internalised their dissonance-inducing behaviours, changing their cognitions and reducing the discomfort. It would have been interesting to find out how conscious or aware people actually were of the fact that they were changing their cognitions about sex, and whether these changes were consciously motivated by possible future sexual opportunities. Further research could explore whether, if people were in long-term relationships which were likely to involve sexual opportunities, they would be more likely to consciously internalise the acceptance of sexual behaviour outside of marriage. As mentioned, some participants in relationships certainly expressed concerns that this was the case, with James asking himself: "how do I know my experiences aren't just taking me down a path of thought that I want to be true?". In this way, some participants appeared to have been aware of the possible influences that these motivations may have had on their decision making, but further research could explore the link between acknowledgements of potential dissonance-inducing situations and any subsequent changes to cognitions about sex outside of marriage. It was unclear from the narratives whether changing beliefs was more of an unconscious process where new cognitions were internalised during the act without much deliberate thought.

I suggest that further research should explore the gender differences in tendencies to express discomfort or doubt in the middle of sexual acts, and the likelihood that this would stop the act. I discussed moments of erectile dysfunction when men were undecided about the sexual encounters, demonstrating the physiological responses to emotional turmoil when having sex outside of marriage. However, these responses are less obvious for women, and I suggest research should explore whether women felt able to express their confusion in the middle of sexual acts.

According to some of my female participants, particularly the 3 who were pushed into sexual acts, women often struggled to get men to listen when they said no. Other female participants spoke of some instances where this was the case, but I suggest that further research could look at this more in depth, to see whether many women were actually less willing to have sexual experiences than they expressed to their partners.

Though limited, my research suggests the importance of providing opportunities for unmarried people to resolve the discomfort and guilt that many are likely to feel instinctively about sexual desire and pleasure. Further research could explore the impacts on Christian marriages if this healing process is not complete beforehand. Courtney Ann Irby (2019) talked about going 'from battlefield to playground' (p649), which was a concept my participants picked up on. For example, Pheobe said with frustration: "I didn't get what changes when you have a ring on your finger", expressing the confusion about this transition from single to married. I suggest that future study could explore the very short period of liminality between being unmarried and being married. Studies should focus on how effectively Christians adapt to the sudden change from sex being discouraged in "loving", "committed" relationships outside of marriage, "to being encouraged to have loads of sex" on the night of the wedding. I suggest that further research should explore whether there are detrimental impacts of sexual guilt in Christian marriages in the UK for those who had been sexually active prior to getting married. As well as this, it would be interesting to explore more widely the differences in physical and spiritual responses to sexual activity within marriage, compared to the experiences I have outlined in this dissertation.

## **Bibliography**

- ADAMS, T, JONES, S & ELLIS, C (2015). *Autoethnography: Understanding Qualitative* Research. New York: Oxford University Press.
- AMMERMAN, N (2006). Everyday Religion: Observing Modern Religious Lives. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- ARONSON, E (1968). Dissonance theory: Progress and problems in R. P. Abelson, E. Aronson, W. J. McGuire, T. M. Newcomb, M. J. Rosenberg, & R. H. Tannenbaum, Theories of cognitive consistency: A sourcebook, 5–27. Chicago: Rand McNally.
- ALLEY, K. M (2018). The Roles We Played: Exploring Intimacy in Research. The Qualitative Report, 23(6), 1470-1482.
- ATTWOOD, F (2011). Sex and the citizens: Erotic play and the new leisure culture. In Bramham,P and Wagg, S. The new politics of leisure and pleasure London: Palgrave Macmillan,pp. 82–96.
- AUNE, K (2006). Marriage in a British Evangelical Congregation: Practising Postfeminist Partnership? The Sociological Review, 54(4), 638-657.
- AVISHAI, O (2008). "Doing religion" in a secular world: Women in Conservative Religions and the Question of Agency. Gender & Society, 22(4), 409–433.
- BAE, B (2016). Believing Selves and Cognitive Dissonance: Connecting Individual and Society via Belief'. Religions, 85(7), 2-14.
- BAIN, A. & LOGAN, H. F. C (1859). The emotions and the will. London: Parker and Sons.
- BALSWICK, J. K. & BALSWICK, J. O (2008). *Authentic human sexuality: an integrated Christian approach*. Downers Grove, IL: IVP Academic.
- BARBER, G (2003). "To tell or not to tell?" Ethics and secrecy in anthropology and childbearing in rural Malawi. in: Caplan, P. The ethics of anthropology: debates and dilemmas. New York: Routledge.
- BARKAN, S (2006). Religiosity and Premarital Sex in Adulthood. Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion, 45(3), 407-417.

- BARNETT, M. D. ET AL (2017). Sexual semantics: The meanings of sex, virginity, and abstinence for university students. Personality and individual differences, 10(6), 203–208.
- BATESON, M (1994). *The Human Career: The Self in the Symbolic World*. American Ethnologist, 21(3), 628-629.
- BAUMEISTER, R AND TICE, M (1984). Role of Self-Presentation and Choice in Cognitive
  Dissonance Under Forced Compliance: Necessary or Sufficient Causes? Journal of personality
  and social psychology, 46(1), 5–13.
- BEARMAN, PS. AND BRÜCKNER, H (2001). Promising the future: virginity pledges and first intercourse. American Journal of Sociology, 106(4), 859–912.
- BERDYCHEVSKY, L. & CARR, N (2020). Innovation and Impact of Sex as Leisure in Research and Practice: Introduction to the Special Issue. Leisure sciences, 42(3-4), 255–274.
- BERNARD, R (2002). Research Methods in Anthropology. Walnut Creek: Altamira Press.
- BOCHNER, A (1997). It's About Time: Narrative and the Divided Self. Qualitative inquiry, 3(4), 418–438.
- BOCHNER, A AND ELLIS, C (2006). *Communication as Autoethnography,* in Perspectives on Theory. Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications, p13-21.
- ---- (2016). Evocative Autoethnography: Writing Lives and Telling Stories. New York: Routledge.
- BOND, R. AND SMITH, P (1996). Culture and conformity: A meta-analysis of studies using Asch's (1952, 1956) line judgment task. Psychological Bulletin, 119(1), 111-137.
- BOURDIEU, P (1977). Outline of a theory of practice. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- ---- (1990). The Logic of Practice. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- ---- (2000). Pascalian Meditations. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- BRAITHWAITE, S (2014). The Influence of Pornography on Sexual Scripts and Hooking Up Among Emerging Adults in College. Archives of Sexual Behaviour, 44(1), 111 – 123.
- BRIGGS, L ET AL (2015). To God Be the Glory: Discussing Sex in Evangelical Communities in Southern Nigeria. African journal of reproductive health, 19(4), 41-49.

152

- BRUNER, E. M (1963). *Encounters: Two Studies in the Sociology of Interaction, Erving Goffman.* American Anthropologist, 65(6), 1416–1417.
- BURKE, K (2016). Christians Under Covers. California: California University Press.
- CALHOUN, C ET AL (1993). 'Bourdieu: critical perspectives'. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- CARPENTER, L (2002). Gender and the Meaning and Experience of Virginity Loss in the Contemporary United States. Gender & Society, 16(3), 345-365.
- CHAPPARO, D (2015). Flip the Script: Identifying Sex Scripts Among Young Adult Males at Christian Cultural Centre. PhD thesis from Alliance Theological Seminary.
- CHERRY, K (1996). *Ain't no grave deep enough*. Journal of contemporary ethnography, 25(1), 22–57.
- COOLEY, C (1922). Human Nature and the Social Order. New York: Scribner's.
- COOPER, J (2020). Unwanted Consequences and the Self: In Search of the Motivation for Dissonance Reduction. In: E. Harmon-Jones and J. Mills, ed., Cognitive Dissonance: Progress on a Pivotal Theory in Social Psychology, American Psychological Association.
- CORNWALL, SUSANNAH (2013). Theology and Sexuality. London: SCM Print.
- CORTAZZI, M (2001). Narrative Analysis in Ethnography. In: P. Atkinson, ed., Handbook of Ethnography, 1st ed. SAGE Publications.
- CSORDAS, T. J (1994). *The sacred self a cultural phenomenology of charismatic healing*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- DANILUK, JUDITH C (2003). Women's Sexuality Across the Life Span: Challenging Myths, Creating Meanings. New York: Guilford Press.
- DENZIN, N (1997). Interpretive Ethnography: Ethnographic Practices for the 21st Century. Thousand Oaks California: Sage.
- DICKSON-SWIFT, V. ET AL (2008). Undertaking Sensitive Research in the Health and Social Sciences: Managing Boundaries, Emotions and Risks. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- DREYFUS, H. AND P. RABINOW (1993). "Can there be a Science of Existential Structure and Social Meaning?" In Bourdieu: Critical Perspectives, edited by Calhoun, E et al. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- DUNCAN, M (2004). *Autoethnography: Critical Appreciation of an Emerging Art.* International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 3(4), 28-39.
- EERDEWIJK, A (2009). Silence, pleasure and agency: sexuality of unmarried girls in Dakar, Senegal. Contemporary Islam, 3(1), 7–24.
- ELLIS, C (2004). The Ethnographic I: A Methodological Novel about Autoethnography. Walnut Creek: AltaMira Press.
- ---- (2007). Telling Secrets, Revealing Lives: Relational Ethics in Research With Intimate Others. Qualitative inquiry, 13 (1), 3–29.
- EMERY, L. F. ET AL (2018). You Can't See the Real Me: Attachment Avoidance, Self-Verification,and Self-Concept Clarity. Personality & social psychology bulletin, 44 (8),1133–1146.
- EVANS, A. ET AL (2010). *Postfeminist Heterotopias*. European Journal of Women's Studies, 17(3), 211-229.
- EVANS, T. D. ET AL. (1995). Religion and crime re-examined: the impact of religion, secular controls, and social ecology on adult criminality. Criminology, 33(2), 195–224.
- FESTINGER, L (1957). A Theory of Cognitive Dissonance. California: Stanford University Press.
- FINE, M (1988). Sexuality, Schooling, and Adolescent Females: The Missing Discourse of Desire. Harvard educational review, 58 (1), 29–54.
- FONTANA, B (1994). Plastic sex and the sociologist: a comment on The Transformation of Intimacy by Anthony Giddens. Economy and society, 23 (3), 374–383.

FOSSUM, M AND MASON (1989). Facing Shame: Families in Recovery. London: W. Norton.

FREADMAN, R (2004). Decent and indecent: Writing my father's life. In J. P. Eakin, The ethics of life writing. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press, 121-146.

- GADDINI, K (2020). Practising Purity: How Single Evangelical Women Negotiate Sexuality in S.J.
  Page and A. K. T. Yip, Intersecting Religion and Sexuality: Sociological Perspectives.
  Leiden: Brill.
- GAGNON, J. H. & SIMON, W (1973). Sexual conduct: the social sources of human sexuality. Chicago: Aldine Publishing Company.
- GIDDENS, A (1993). The Transformation of Intimacy: Love, Sexuality and Eroticism in Modern Societies. Cambridge: Polity.
- GILLIGAN, C (2003). In a different voice: psychological theory and women's development. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.
- GOLDSCHMIDT, W (1951). Ethics and the Structure of Society: An Ethnological Contribution to the Sociology of Knowledge. American Anthropologist, 53(4), 506-524.
- ---- (1973). Guilt and Pollution in Sebei Mortuary Rituals. Ethos, 1(1), 75–105.
- ---- (1990). The Human Career: Self in the Symbolic World. Cambridge USA: Blackwell Publishers
- ---- (2000). A Perspective on Anthropology. American Anthropologist, 102(4), 789-807.

GREENBERG, Y (2018). The body in religion. New York: Bloomsbury.

- GREENWOOD, J. AND GUNER, N (2010). Social Change: the sexual revolution. International Economic Review, 51(4), 893-923.
- GRELLO, C. M. ET AL (2006). No strings attached: The nature of casual sex in college students. The Journal of sex research, 43(3), 255–267.
- GUEST, M ET AL (2012). Christianity: Loss of Monopoly. In Religion and Change in Modern Britain. Woodhead, Linda & Catto, Rebecca London: Routledge. 57-78.
- ---- (2016). Congregational studies in the UK: Christianity in a post-Christian context. Abingdon: Routledge.
- HAWTHORNE, N (1998). The Scarlett Letter. Minnesota: Paradigm Publishing.
- HOLLANDER, J (2004). *The Social Contexts of Focus Groups*. Journal of Contemporary Ethnography, 33(5), 602-637.

- HUMPHREYS, T (2013). Cognitive Frameworks of Virginity and First Intercourse. Journal of Sex Research, 50(7), 664-675.
- IRBY, C. A (2019). Instructions for God's Gift: Emotional Management in the Cultural Transmission of Evangelical Sexuality. Journal of contemporary ethnography, 48(5), 645–673.
- JANOFF-BULMAN, R (1979). Characterological versus behavioral self-blame: Inquiries into depression and rape. Journal of personality and social psychology. 37(10), 1798–1809.
- KITZINGER, J (1994). The methodology of Focus Groups: the importance of interaction between research participants. Sociology of Health and Illness, 16(1), 103-121.
- LEWIS, M (1995). Shame the exposed self. New York, New York: The Free Press.
- LYND, H. M (1958). On shame and the search for identity. New York: Harcourt, Brace and World.
- MAHAFFY, K (1996). Cognitive Dissonance and Its Resolution: A Study of Lesbian Christians. Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion, 35(4), 392-403.
- MAIR, J (2013). Cultures of belief. UK Anthropological Theory, 12(4), 448-466.
- MARTELLOZZO, E. ET AL (2020). Researching the Affects That Online Pornography Has on U.K. Adolescents Aged 11 to 16. SAGE open, 10(1), 1-11.
- MASON, J. & FATTORE, T (2017) Shame, Social Orders and the Governing of Women and Girls through Institutions in New South Wales. Emotions, 1(2), 131–154.
- MATSUBA, M. K. & PRATT, M. W (2018). The Life Story, Domains of Identity, and Personality Development in Emerging Adulthood: Integrating Narrative and Traditional Approaches. New York: Oxford University Press.
- MCGUIRE, M (1990). Religion and the Body: Rematerializing the Human Body in the Social Sciences of Religion. Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion, 29(3), p.283-293.
- ---- (1996). Religion and Healing the Mind/Body/Self. Social Compass. 43(1):101-116.
- ---- (2008). Lived religion: faith and practice in everyday life. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- ---- (2016). Individual sensory experiences, socialized senses, and everyday lived religion in practice. Social Compass, 63(2), 152–162.

- MERCER, C. ET AL (2013). Changes in sexual attitudes and lifestyles in Britain through the life course and over time: findings from the National Surveys of Sexual Attitudes and Lifestyles.
  The Lancet, 382(9907), 1781-1794.
- MORAWIAK, A. ET AL (2018). Self-Esteem Mediates Relationships between Self-Concept Clarity and Perceptions of the Future. Journal of education, culture and society, 9(1), 99– 108.
- OAKLEY, A (1981). Interviewing women: a contradiction in terms. In: H. Roberts, ed., Doing Feminist Research, London: Routledge, 30-58.
- ONORIO, C (2015). Flip the script: Identifying sex scripts among young adult males at Christian cultural center. PhD thesis at Nyack College, Alliance Theological Seminary.
- ONS.GOV.UK (2021). Marriages in England and Wales Office for National Statistics. [Accessed 1 August 2021]. Available at: <https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/ marriagecohabitationandcivilpartnerships/bulletins/marriagesinenglandandwalesprovisio nal/2017>
- OSWALT, S., CAMERON, K. AND KOOB, J (2005). Sexual Regret in College Students. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 34(6), 663-669.
- PAGE, S AND SHIPLEY, H (2020). Religion and Sexualities : Theories, Themes, and Methodologies. New York: Taylor & Francis Group.
- PARKER, R (2010). Reinventing Sexual Scripts: Sexuality and Social Change in the Twenty-First Century. Sexuality Research and Social Policy, 7(1), 58-66.
- PATTISON, S (2011). Shame. Johanneshov: TPB.
- PERRIN, R (2020). Changing shape: the faith lives of millennials. London: SCM Press.
- PETER, J., & VALKENBURG, P. M (2006). Adolescents' exposure to sexually explicit online material and recreational attitudes toward sex. Journal of Communication, 56(4), 639– 660.
- PETERSEN, L AND DONNENWERTH, G (1997). Secularization and the Influence of Religion on Beliefs about Premarital Sex. Social Forces, 75(3), 1071–88.

- PLUMMER, K (2001). The Call of Life Stories in Ethnographic Research. In: Atkinson, P., Coffey, A. and Delamont, S. Handbook of ethnography. Los Angeles: SAGE.
- POLE, C (2010). How could you possibly know anything about that? Methodological congruence in the conduct of life history research. In: S. Hillyard, ed., New Frontiers in Ethnography.
  Bingley: Emerald Group Publishing Limited, 161-177.
- Powell, A (2010). Sex, power and consent: youth culture and the unwritten rules. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- RAO, A. H (2015). Gender and Cultivating the Moral Self in Islam: Muslim Converts in an American Mosque. Sociology of religion, 76 (4), 413–435.
- REY, T (2014). Bourdieu on religion: imposing faith and legitimacy. London: Routledge.
- ROSENBAUM, J (2006). Reborn a Virgin: Adolescents' Retracting of Virginity Pledges and Sexual Histories. Public Health, 96(6), 1098–1103.
- SANTOS, H., VARNUM, M. AND GROSSMANN, I (2017). Global Increases in Individualism. Psychological Science, 28(9), 1228-1239.
- SEWELL, W. H (1992). A Theory of Structure: Duality, Agency, and Transformation. The American journal of sociology, 98(1), 1–29.
- SHARMA, S (2012). Good girls, good sex. Winnipeg: Fernwood Publishing Company.
- SHEEHY, K. ET AL (2019). An examination of the relationship between shame, guilt and selfharm: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Clinical psychology review, 73101779– 101779.
- SIMON, W., GAGNON, J.H (1986). Sexual scripts: permanence and change. Sexual Behaviour, 15(2), 97–120.
- SLOTTER, E. AND GARDNER, W (2014). Remind Me Who I Am. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 40(9), 1148-1161.
- STACEY, J (1998). Brave New Families: Stories of Domestic Upheaval in Late-Twentieth- Century America. Berkeley and London: University of California Press.

- STANLEY, N ET AL (2018). Pornography, sexual coercion and abuse and sexting in young people's intimate relationships: A European study. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 33(19), 2919–2944.
- STONE, J. & COOPER, J (2001). A Self-Standards Model of Cognitive Dissonance. Journal of experimental social psychology, 37(3), 228–243.
- SWANN, W (1987). *Identity negotiation: Where two roads meet.* Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 53(6), 1038-1051.
- SWANN, W., PELHAM, B. AND KRULL, D (1989). Agreeable fancy or disagreeable truth? Reconciling self-enhancement and self-verification. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 57(5), pp.782-791.
- THOMPSON, S (1990). Putting a big thing into a little hole: Teenage girls' accounts of sexual initiation. Journal of Sex Research, 27(3), 341-361.
- TICE, D. M (1992). Self-concept change and self-presentation: The looking glass self is also a magnifying glass. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 63(3), 435–451.

TILLMANN-HEALY, L. M (2003). Friendship as Method. Qualitative inquiry, 9(5), 729-749.

TOLMAN, D AND DIAMOND L (2001). Desegregating sexuality research: Cultural and biological perspectives on gender and desire. Annual Review of Sex Research, 12(1), 33-74.

Tolman, D. L (2005). *Dilemmas of desire teenage girls talk about sexuality*. Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press.

- TSUI, L. & NICOLADIS, E (2004). Losing it: similarities and differences in first intercourse experiences of men and women. The Canadian journal of human sexuality. 13(2), 95–106.
- UECKER, J., REGNERUS, M. AND VAALER, M (2007). Losing My Religion: The Social Sources of Religious Decline in Early Adulthood. Social Forces, 85(4), 1667-1692.
- VALKENBURG, P. M., & PETER, J (2009). Social consequences of the internet for adolescents: A decade of research. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 18(1), 1– 5.
- ---- (2011). Online communication among adolescents: An integrated model of its attraction, opportunities, and risks. Journal of Adolescent Health, 48(2), 121–127.

- VASILENKO, S. AND LEFKOWITZ, E (2014). *Changes in religiosity after first intercourse in the transition to adulthood.* Psychology of Religion and Spirituality, 6(4), 310-315.
- WARNER, R. S (2008). 2007 Presidential Address: Singing and Solidarity. Journal for the scientific study of religion, 47(2), 175–190.
- WINCHESTER, D (2008). Embodying the Faith: Religious Practice and the Making of a Muslim Moral Habitus. Social forces, 86(4), 1753–1780.
- WOODHEAD, L. AND CATTO, R (2012). Religion and Change in Modern Britain. London: Routledge.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION (2019). *Health topics: Sexual health*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.who.int/topics/sexual\_health/en/</u>.
- WURMSER, L (1981). The mask of shame. Baltimore: John Hopkins University Press.
- YANG, Y (2014). Bourdieu, Practice and Change: Beyond the criticism of determinism. Educational Philosophy and Theory, 46(14), 1522-1540.
- YIP, A.K.T (2003). The Self as the Basis of Religious Faith: Spirituality of Gay, Lesbian and Bisexual Christians. In: G. Davie, P. Heelas and L. Woodhead (Eds.), Predicting Religion: Christian, Secular and Alternative Futures. Aldershot: Ashgate, 135-46.
- ZARE, B (2001). 'Sentimentalized Adultery': The Film Industry's Next Step in Consumerism? Journal of popular culture, 35(3), 29–41.